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ABSTRACT

The historical and ideological context of Indian-white relations provides the
analytical framework for examining St. Michael's Indian Residential School in
Duck Lake, Saskatchewan during the period 1894-1926. Using primary and
secondary sources, this study examines the doctrines of racial superiority implicit
within the ideology of "Christianizing” and "civilizing" Indian people through
education. From the perspective of "an Aboriginal way of knowing". this study
examines the history of Indian-white relations on the Prairies. Indian education.
and Indian residential school life to give voice to the struggle by Indian people
against European dominatior.. "An Aboriginal way of knowing” means bringing
the mind and heart together to find the Indian experiences hidden within much of
the documentation on Indian-white relations. This study examines the concepts of
assimilation. Indian education, and Indian residential schools to expose the
domination, coercion, and the Indian resistance obscured within these euphemized

descriptions of Indian-white relations.
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DEDICATION

This paper is dedicated to the often forgotten Indian children who lost their
lives in the name of "Christianity” and “civilization". a doctrine of racial superiority
still euphemistically called Indian education even today. In particular, this paper is
dedicated to the memory of one little girl who died of consumption on 12 January
1896 at St. Michael's Indian Residential School in Duck Lake, Saskatchewan. We
must never forget the real costs of Indian education. This little Indian girl was not
just another statistic. She was someone’s awdsis (child). aitanis (daughter). and
nostsim (grandchild) who never returned from residential school, not even to be

buried among her people.
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Chapter 1 - Introduction and Background

Indians look to the past with sorrow and anger, yet with pride; sorrow
because their ancestors endured too much; with pride because, when they
look at Indian accomplishments and regard the galaxy of great men, and
regard the merit of the race, they can look at the present with
understanding and to the future with confidence and hope (Johnson
1974: 141).

1.0  Prologue

On one hand, this research paper examines St. Michael’s Indian Residential
School in Duck Lake, Saskatchewan within the broader historical and ideological
context of Indian-white relations. On the other, using James Scott’s (1990)
analy ‘s of domination and resistance, [ have tried to find my people within this
history, not as victims, but as people of courage and worth who struggled against
the interference of church and state in their lives. This research is based on "an
Aboriginal way of knowing"” which simply means bringing not only the mind, but
the heart to the study of Indian-white relations. Given the personal and often
painful nature of this history. Aboriginal healing and learning circles formed the
spiritual and emotional foundation for this research process.! Moreover, to
centre this research firmly within the concept of "an Aboriginal way of knowing", |
relied heavily on Indian writers, such as Basil Johnson above, to help me to

understand Indian-white relations through their lived experiences.

! I thank Jim Albert for the concept of "an Aboriginal way of knowing" and Gordon
Bruyere, Gale Cvr, and Jim for the Aboriginal circles which formed the foundation for this study.
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[39)

In one short paragraph. Basil Johnson (1974: 141) has captured the
interconnectedness of the past, present, and future which represents the circle of
life for many Indian people. When Indian residential schools are analyzed within
this context, it soon becomes apparent that these institutions cannot be examined
solely as a misguided phenomenon of a distant past. Yet. this is exactiy what
continues to happen. To this day. most of the research on Indian residential
schools narrowly addresses only those experiences retated to the students who
actually attended these institutions. Often, the inter-generational impact of
residential schools on Indian families and communities diminishes in significance
when we are reminded once again. as Lascelles (1992: 8) recenth did. that

Historically, most native students never went to residential

schools....All told. roughiy 100,000, perhaps less than one in six. were

educated in residential schools. either exclusively or for a speaitic

period.

Numbers alone can be misleading. Indian residential schools represent the
one issue that has touched the lives of virtually everv Indian person in Canada
today. Without question. the impact of these institutions on its survivors should
never be torgotten, nor underestimated. While some survivors can recall positive
experiences. many more are still struggling to put their lives and their familv
relationships back together again. Even now. two to three generations later, some
Indian residenual school survivors cannot share their experiences because the pain
is still too much to bear. Others. like Johnson (1988). have somehow managed to

wring laughter out of these less than humorous situations. Phil Fontaine (1993:

53) explained the apparent contradiction in this Indian humour when he stated:



My mother can laugh about many of the things that happened to

them, even the sad things. What that tells me and should tell others

is not that these incidents were funny but that it is often a way of

saving face and making light of something that is really sad.

Humour, like the absolute number of Indian children who attended
residential schools, does not begin to capture the complex nature of this issue.
We must never forget the hundreds, perhaps thousands, of Indian people who
died as a result of this "civilizing" experiment. When it comes to residential
schools, most Indian people know without question what Basil Johnson (1974:
141) meant when he wrote "Indians look to the past with sorrow and anger".
Today, does anyone know how many Indian children died at these schools in the
name of "Christianity"? Has anyone bothered to count just how many graves lie
tucked away behind these monuments to "civilization" called Indian residential
schools? At Battleford alone, there are approximately 70-80 graves behind the
Indian industrial school founded in the early 1880s (Barnett and Dyer 1983: 144).

Dr. Peter Bryce (1907: 18), Chief Medical Officer for the Department of
Indian Affairs, exposed the devastating correlation between Indian residential
schools and premature deaths due primarily to tuberculosis, when he reported:

... it appears that of 1,537 pupils [whose reports were] returned from

15 schools which have been in operation on an average of fourteen

years, 7 per cent are sick or in poor health and 24 per cent are

reported dead. But a close analysis of some of the returns reveals

an intimate relationship between the health of the pupils while in

the school and that of their early death subsequent to discharge.

The death rate reported by Dr. Bryce (1907: 19) at the File Hills ex-pupil

colony, founded in 1901, was even more astounding at sixty-nine percent. D.C.
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Scott (1914b: 615), Deputy Superintendent-General of Indian Affairs from 1913 to

1932, later tried to dissipate the blame and managed to evade the real issue of the
scandalous death rates due to Indian residential schools when he wrote:

... Insufficient care was exercised in the admission of children to the
schools. The well-known predisposition of Indians to tuberculosis
resulted in a very large percentage of deaths among the pupils. They
were housed in buildings not carefully designed for the school
purposes. and these buildings became infected and dangerous to the
inmates. It is quite within the mark to say that fifty per cent of the
children who passed through these schools did not live to benefit
from the education which they had received therein.

Regardless of who was to blame. Indian people suffered untold losses due
to residential schools. Many of their children either died while at school, or were
released from school just to come home and die. For example in 1897, Father
Melasippe Paquette, the first Principal at St. Michael’s School. reported five
deaths and explained that "not having an infirmary or a spare room where the sick
could be kept apart from the rest. these children died at home...."> Three vears
after Dr. Bryce’s report. the Duck Lake Indian Agent cautioned his superiors:

The Department should realize that under the present circumstances

about one-half of the children who are sent to the Duck Lake

Boarding school [St. Michael’s] die before the age of 18. or very

shortly afterwards. and that. because they are kept in a building

whose every seam and crevice is. doubtless. burdened with the
Tubercolosis Baccilli [sic).?

2 Dominion of Canada. (1898) "North-West Territories St Michael's Boarding School".

Annual Report of the Department of Indian Affairs for the Year Ended 1897. Ouawa: S.E. Dawson,
(pp- 252). (Hereafter Department of Indian Affairs cited as DIA))

3 Memo, J. Macarthur to the Secretary. DIA. 27 December 1910. National Archives
of Canada. Indian Affairs School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305,
File 652-1. (Hereafter National Archives of Canada cited as NAC.)




Unfortunately this analysis, while rightfully concerning the shocking death
rates at Indian residential schools and the problems confronting its survivors, still
relegates the problem to a fraction of the Indian people involved. Another group
of Indian people were also affected by Indian residential schools. These include
people like myself, who although spared the first-hand experiences of our family
members, still feel the crushing impact of these so called Indian "educational”
institutions on our lives. We are the by-products of an Indian educational system
which tried to eradicate our "Indianness", iust as surely as it tore our families from
their homes and tried to obliterate their cultural ties. Who today believes our
sense of loss, our feelings of infinite sadness, or even acknowledges our anger as
we struggle to reclaim our languages, culture, and to rebuild damaged family ties?
Often, it is only after we have searched the past for answers to Indian residential
schools that we are able to "look at the present with [real] understanding”
(Johnson 1974: 141).* By the same token, if Indian people ever expect "to look
to the future with confidence and hope" (Johnson 1974: 141), Indian residential
schools cannot be examined solely as a misguided historical phenomenon.

Indian people must question the "ideology", defined by Larrain (1679: 17)
as "the inte, >ctual legitimation of social domination" which turned indian
residential schools into "an experiment in social engineering” (Miller 1991b: 196).

Unless the "ideology" of white-Indian relations is challenged and changed

4 See Ing’s (1991) article entitled, "The Effects of Residential Schools on Native Child-
Rearing Practices” for further information on the long term impact of Indian residential schools.
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substantially, Indian residential schools are destined to live forever. It is not only
naive, but foolhardy to believe that the ideology of racial superiority changed
when "the last of the federal residential schools closed in 1988" (Dickason 1992:
337). Obviously, Olive Dickason (1992: 33) recognized the inherent limitations in
this new policy direction when she added:

As to be expected, the influence of the old regime carries over, even

as the new regime copes with such problems as the reluctance of

Indian Affairs to allow a level of funding for band-operated schools

comparable to that of provincially operated schools. Another

problem is the transfer of authority: that of Indians is still limited

except in the case of special agreements, as in Manitoba. In other

words, old attitudes have not been eliminated....

Consequently. if "old attitudes have not been eliminated” (Dickason 1992:
33), the buildings called Indian residential schools were not the societal structures
which held the concept of Indian "education” together. It was the ideology of
racial superiority. the infrastructure of Indian-white relations. which gave life and
longevity to the “resocialization” (Teevan 1992: 582) system known as Indian
“education” which was at one time implemented through Indian residential schools.
The sad reality is that this ideology of racial superiority has yet to change. Until it
does, Indian residential schools will not just fade into oblivion along with the
buildings of yestervear. The ideology of racial superiority will continue to rear its
ugly head in the more politically correct and obscure disguises often called Indian

self-determination by the government of Canada today.

Due to the wide impact of Indian residential schools. Indian people past.

present. and future formed the focus for this study of Indian education within the




broader context of Indian-white relations. Using "an Aboriginal way of knowing"
as the basis for analysis, this study examines the historical and ideological
foundation of Indian education and Indian residential schools. This paper looks
beyond "Christianity” and "civilization" in explaining Indian residential schools, and
examines the racial doctrines hidden beneath these concepts. More specifically,
this study examines what was done to Indian people in the name of "Christianity"
and "civilization", and how Indian people responded to this situation. This paper
dispels the common perception that Indian people were just passive victims of this
history, and documents their views on education and their struggle against Indian
residential schools. The struggle by Indian people against domination forms the
focus of this paper. This research is meant to put Indians back into this history.
1.1  General Approaches to Indian-White Relations

In 1990, the Grand Chief of the Assembly of Manitoba Chiefs drew
national attention to the history of physical, sexual, and emotional abuse at Indian
residential schools when he appeared on television and disclosed his own story.
Despite the media attention, little is still known about Indian residential schools.
To the general public, this issue is still shrouded in the mystery of an Indian
bureaucracy which they know little of, and care even less about. Others prefer to
cling to the dogged belef that "western education” was the necessary panacea for
an antiquated Indian culture doomed to obsolescence along with buffalo, buckskin,
and beads. Still others today, under contract with the Department of Indian

Affairs, have tried to prove that Indian residential schools were really no worse




than similar non-Indian educational institutions of its day (Daniels 1992).

A number of attitudes and myths quickly come to the forefront in the
examination of the history of Indian-white relations, Indian education, and Indian
residential schools. First, the myth persists that Canadian Indians should be
eternally grateful that they were only "assimilated” and not "exterminated” like
some of their American kin. Secondly, it was "Christianity” and "civilization", and
not any hidden racist beliefs, which provided the impetus for Indian residential
schools. Thirdly, Indian people should be grateful that church and state saw fit to
save their children by removing them from their pagan and savage surroundings in
order to educate them in the "European” concepts of thrift and industryv. In line
with this we are told "... had native people not been educated in the ways of the
white majority, their chances of survival would have been quite tenuous” (Lascelles
1992: 7). Fourthly, Indian residential schools were designed to ensure that Indian
children were taught the "3Rs". religion. plus some useful skills in farming and the
trades. Lastly, as Indian people were just passive victims of history. they must
have been equally acquiescent when it came to Indian residential schools.

This paper will dispel each of these myths and will dig beneath the
"euphemized" descriptions of whire-Indian relations called "assimilation’”. Indian
"education”, and Indian residential "schools” to find the Indian experiences

within.® As James Scott (1990: 54) stated, "so long as this euphemistic description

5 The term "euphemized"” is borrowed from Bourdieu's (1977) Quuline of a Theory of
Practice and Scott’s (1990) Domination and the Arts of Resistance: Hidden Transcripts.
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is left to stand, it remains the public description". Therefore, if alternate views are
to be considered, these dominant euphemistic descriptions of white-Indian
relations must be challenged. Robert Mullaly (1993: 153) nxakes this point when
he argues about the need for a "structural approach” to social work, and
acknowledges the relevance of ideology in public descriptions as follows:

The ultimate goal of structural social work is to contribute to the

transformation of society. To accomplish this goal social work must

operationalize an ideology within a society where another ideology
dominates.

This study argues that Indian residential schools developed within the
context of an ideology of European racial superiority. This ideology must be
challenged before society as a whole can be transformed. Moreover, as long as
these dominant descriptions of Indian-white relations remain unchallenged,
Canadians will continue to question why Indian people are still so ungrateful for
the western education they received in Indian residential schools.

Numerous Indian people have already challenged the euphemism called
Indian "education". Some Indian people have laid their souls bare in the hope
that others would come to understand the fallacy of Indian residential school
education through their lived experiences. Conversely, some Indian people have
defended the outcome called "Indian education" as necessary for survival in
today’s world. The latter testimonials tend to be the ones that Canadians cling to
whenever the harsh realities of Indian residential schools threatens to obscure the

benevolent picture of white-Indian relations. Certainly, while not all residential

schools were uniformly bad, maybe some of these accolades are nothing more
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than the echoes of the indoctrination system called Indian education.

Manuel and Posluns (1974: 67) captured the other side of Indian residential
schooling when they wrote, "After a year spent learning to see and hear only what
the priests and brothers wanted you to see and hear, even the people we loved
came to look ugly." In reality, while Indian residential schools professed to
educate Indian children. they provided a far greater service in inculcating them in
the norms and mores of the European culture. In this respect, Manuel and
Posluns (1974: 63) were absolutely correct when they stated that "residential
schools were the laboratory and the production line of the colonial system".
Manuel and Posluns (1974: 59) also argued that Indian residential schools
represented an indispensable tool in the colonial process because:

For colonialism to be tully effective it is necessary that the leaders

who propagate the myths about those whom they have conquered

must not only convince themselves of what they say - it need hardly

be said that they must convince their followers down to the humblest

peasant and foot solider - they must also convince the conquered.

[my emphasis]

When the colonizers used residential schools tor assimilationist purposes
they took the cowardly route by targeting the most vulnerable members of Indian
society. While the missionaries first attempted to assimilate entire Indian
communities, they soon realized the difficulties in altering adult patterns of
behaviour. Consequently. Indian children became the prime target of change as
residential school settings offered better prospects for success. The cowardice.

therefore. lies not in what littie education the children may have received in these

schools, but in the despicable processes used to inculcate them in the concepts of
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their own inferiority, and which severed their ties to culture and kin. The tragedy
of residential schools is that the losses to Indian people far outweigh the paltry
gains made in real academic learning. In reality, Indian culture and family ties did
not have to be sacrificed to Indian education. The former had the unique ability
to strengthen the Indian child’s concept of self-worth which could have only aided
the learning process. But this understanding has not always been present in some
of the research on Indian education.

Over the years a variety of research has been conducted on Indians, Indian
education, and Indian residential schools. Some of this research rightfully deals
with the pain Indian people suffered, and have continued to endure, because of
Indian residential schools. While this acknowledgement, however belated, is an
integral part of the healing process, the tendency has been to portray Indians as
victims in all facets of Indian-white relations. With a few notable exceptions such
as Haig-Brown, (1987), Titley (1992), and Gresko (1979) this trend seems to have
become the accepted norm, particularly with respect to Indian residential schools.
While there can be little doubt that some Indian people suffered incredibly within
these institutions, and that their pain has inadvertently flowed down through the
generations like tainted blood. there is ample evidence that Indian people also
struggled against this situation.

To move beyond this stifling analysis of Indian-white relations we must start
by unravelling the historical and ideological framework which turned the concept

of Indian residential schools into a reality. As a starting point, we must examine
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this history from the perspective of those Indian people who were on the receiving
end of Indian education and Indian residential schools. We must question the
racial connotations inherent within the concepts of "Christianity" and "civilization"
which are often used to defend the requirement for Indian residential schools.
We must also question the role that the church played in Indian residential
schools, and the part played by an all too miserly state in ensuring that these
schools changed from institutions of learning to places of child labour. We must
acknowledge that there were three players in any historical interaction around
Indian education and Indian residential schools: the missionaries who operated
these schools, the Oblates of Mary Immaculate in the case of St. Michael’s School:
the state as represented by the Department of Indian Affairs:® and Indian people
whose lives were altered either directly, or indirectly, by Indian residential schools.
Finally, and most importantly, we must uncover the historical evidence which
demonstrates that Indian people had their own views on education. and that they
struggled collectively and individually against the residential school system.

This research is therefore guided by three principles: the history of Indian-
white relations must be re-examined, this examination must include both an
historical and ideological analysis, and Indian people have the right not only to an

accurate, but an affirming record of their own history.

¢ The Department of Indian Affairs was set up as a separate department in 1880, but

the Minister of the Interior continued to assume the role of the Superintendent-General of Indian
Affairs. Responsibility for Indian affairs was transferred to the Department of Mines and Resources
in 1936, and then onto the Department of Citizenship and Immigration in 1949. The Department of
Indian Affairs and Northern Development, now known as Indian and Northern Affairs Canada, only
came into existence in 1966.
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1.2 Current Analytical Approaches t¢ Indian-White Relations

According to Frideres (1993: 466) "an historical perspective is essential
when examining intergroup behaviour so that the changing relationships between
the structural components of society can be understood". While an historical
analysis represents the first key to understanding Indian-white relations, the
second lies in examining the underlying ideology which provided the attitudinal
framework for change.

Traditionally, the analysis of Indian-white relations has swung between two
polar opposites: the analysis of its inrent, or of the eventual outcome of this
relationship on Indian people. Those historians who have attempted to ascribe an
intent, hidden or otherwise, behind the course of Indian-white relations have often
fallen between two extremes. While some writers like Frideres (1993), Miller
(1991b), and Chamberlin (1975) describe the underpinnings as decidedly racist in
its origins, others like Grant (1984) and Gresko (1992; 1986) tend more often to
point to the benevolent intentions of church and state towards its less fortunate
red brethren. Often meaningful analysis into how Indians might have fallen into
this unfortunate state is bypassed in the rush to define the long term benevolent
outcomes called "Christianity” or "Indian education".

The notion that Canadian Indian-white relations may have been racist in
their origins is not a popular one even today. While a number of writers have
acknowledged racism as a factor in this relationship many of these are also quick

to move onto other safer issues. This kind of hit and run approach tends to
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confine racism in Indian-white relations to a misguided past. Those Indian writers,
such as Manuel and Cardinal, who have dared to push this issue so far as to
question the fundamental concept of Indian education are often singled out for
failing to research, or to fully comprehend their own situations. Quotes from two
articles from Indian Education in Canada, Volume 1: The I egacy (Barman et al.
1986a), a commonly referenced document on Indian education, are worth noting
in this regard. Jacqueline Gresko (1986: 88) opened her comparative analysis of
two Indian residential schools in western Canada by stating;

According to the interpretation of Indian educational history

sketched by Harold Cardinal and George Manuel, the residential
schools established by the nineteenth-century missionaries in

Western Canada uniformly oppressed young Indians and attempted

to wipe out their languages and cultures. From these schools they
barely escaped with their lives....Yet a study of two Catholic Indian
Schools active during the late nineteenth and early twentieth

centuries ... show[s] that neither the missionary educational efforts

nor the Native responses were this simplistic.

While Manuel and Cardinal may be accused of making generalizations.

alternatively, there is a danger of making the exception the rule. Certainly. some

students had positive experiences, and there were decent school administrators.

The fact remains that Indian residential schools took far more away from Indian

people than they gave in return. While Father Hugonnard can be applauded for
teaching Sioux and Cree at the Qu'Appelle Indian Industrial School. his "Native

language catechism classes” (Gresko 1986: 94) also cut deeply into a beliet system
that many Indian people held dear. The issue has less to do with whether Indian

people were uniformly oppressed, but in questioning how the concepts of enforced
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outings, arranged marriages, colonies, cultural repression, and the destruction of
family ties came to be accepted as "Indian education". Often Indian people’s
sweeping anger is directed not at education per se, but in how the underlying
objective of Indian residential schools was "the extinction of the Indians as
Indians" (Harper 1945: 127). Much along the same vein as Gresko’s opening
statement, J. Donald Wilson (1986: 64) also launched his anclysis of a much
earlier period of Indian education in eastern Canada by stating:

Popular studies by Howard Adams and Harold Cardinal condemn

the deleterious effects of White man’s education on Indian people

over a century and a half but make no effort to document the true

nature of that education. However dismal the record of church-run

Indian schools in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries, it remains

a fact that most of today’s Indian-rights leaders are pioducts of
those very schools.

While the latter may be true, perhaps these Aboriginal people’s success has
less to do with the education they received in residential schools, and more to do
with the tenacity of the Indian spir’t in the face of almost insurmountable odds.
Moreover, while Wilson’s statement not only leaves the impression that "the end
somehow justifies the means" both of these quotes also effectively place objective
academic research over the lived experiences of Indian people. Similar
approaches are exposed by black feminist writers such as Bell Hooks (1988: 35-41)
who states that "racism" and "elitism" are often reinforced whenever academic
theory is given greater credence than the lived experiences and writings of
oppressed peoples. When these academic divisions are drawn in reference to

residential schools they serve only to reinforce the underlying principle that Indian

L




16
people needed western education, and that this remains the lofty goal.

Perhaps, unintentionally, Wilson’s statement also diminishes the role played
in history by the older generation of Indian leaders, who fought just as tenaciously
as today’s western educated Indians to ensure the survival of their people.
Ironically, it was the so called "uneducated” Indian leaders of yesterday who laid
the groundwork for the Indian rights fight which was taken over by today’s
graduates of Indian residential schools. Lack of a formal education did not
prevent the Indian leaders who negotiated Treaty 6 from securing the best deal
that they could for the future generations. David Mills. the Minister of the
Interior, made it quite clear that the Plains Indians had somehow managed to
convince the Treaty Commissioners to include sateguards in Treaty 6 which had
not been authorized by the government. In his Annual Report tor 1876, he
reported that Treaty 6 was similar to Treaty 5 with the exception that:

... there is inserted in this treaty a provision in reference to aid

promised to Indians in case of famine or pestilence. which is wholly

new, and which I greatly regret should have been agreed to by the

Commissioners. as it may cause the Indians to rely upon the

Government instead of upon their own exertions for sustenance.

especially as their natural means of subsistence are likely to diminish

with the settlement of the country: the conditions also in reference

to agricultural implements. tools and cattle. and other minor matters,

are somewhat more onerous than those of previous treaties.”

It appears. therefore, that it was not government benevolence but the

successful negotiations on the part of Indian people which resulted in the inclusion

? Department of the Interior. (1877) "Report of the Minister of the Interior". Annual

Report of the Department of the Interior for the Year Ended 30 June 1876. Ottawa: Maclean. Roger
and Company. (pp. xi).
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of these extra provisions, and the often-controversial medicine chest clause in
Treaty 6, 1876. The concept of benevolent intentions has also not been left far
behind in describing the church’s role in Indian-white relations. This is undeniably
evident in the synopsis to Grant’s (1984) book, Moon of Wintertime, which states:

... Indians, almost all of whom became at least nominally Christian,

were touched by Christianity during their moon of wintertime, when

ancestral spirits had ceased to perform their expected functions

satisfactorily and angel choirs promised to fill a spiritual vacuum.

Certainly, if one believes in the fallibility of Indian ancestral spirits, there
can be no greater definition of benevolence than "Christianity" itself. Often in the
rush to capture the vision of angel choirs we neglect to consider how this "spiritual
vacuum" might have occurred in the first place, if indeed it ever existed, and what
part the missionaries may have played in this. Perhaps the real issue has less to
do with disappearing ancestral spirits, and more to do with what was done here on
earth, by act or omission, to bring the Indians to their knees. Unquestionably, the
missionaries took decided action in suppressing competition from ancestral spirits
when they pressured the government to outlaw the potlatch and the sun dance.

Grant also acknowledged that the missionaries did little to protect the
buffalo because the hunting lifestyle of the Plains Indians threatened their
evangelical efforts. Jean-Baptiste Thibault, a Roman Catholic Priest, was not
unique in stating, "When the last buffalo is dead, it will be possible to attempt
something on the Prairies” (cited in Grant 1984: 157). Sir John A. Macdonald

later echoed similar sentiments in the House of Commons. George McDougall, a

Methodist missionary, also revealed the link between Indian self-sufficiency and
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Christianity when he stated, "... they are fast passing away. Nor are they ignorant
of it. Many of them are now ripe for the Gospel" (cited in Grant 1984: 245).

It is unfair, however, to single out Grant’s (1984) book since the role of the
missionaries is often tied to benevolent intentions, particularly by those who were
not on the receiving end of their single-minded dedication. Under the banner of
benevolence, the missionaries are often given the credit for intervening on behalf
of Indian people with an uncaring state, and with instilling the wonders of western
education in the hearts and minds of Indian children. Similarly, the missionaries
are often applauded for instilling the concepts of thrift and industry in Indian
children, something which European society deemed to be sadly lacking in their
pagan and savage parents.

Missionaries and their bepevolent intentions towards Indian people have
therefore become intricately linked with the concept of Christianity. According to
Grant (1984: 9), Christianity "offered salvation to evervone regardless of accidents
of birth and culture”. Thus, it was not only benevolence. but Christian duty which
compelled the missionaries to save the Indians from the clutches of their inferior
pagan beliefs and lifestyles. The state. on the other hand. has not benefitted from
this same perception of benevolence. except perhaps by its own account.

With some exceptions, such as Taylor (1991), Dempsey (1984). and Tobias
(1983) the state’s benevolent intentions towards Indian people have almost always
been linked to the treaty-making process. Through the treaties we are led to

believe that the state generously took possession of vast tracts of Indian lands so it
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could move destitute Indians onto reserves to protect them from the less desirable
elements of colonial society. According to Upton (1973: 54), the early Europeans
appeased their guilt over the deteriorating conditions among Indian people by
blaming others, namely the "riff-raff white settlers on the frontier". Therefore,
"protection” presented as the state’s benevolent intentions towards its Indian
wards, is often placed as the forerunner to the policy of "civilizing" and
"assimilating" Indian people.

As with the analysis of intent, there appears to be a divergence of views on
whether the outcome of Indian-white relations was ultimately good for Indian
people. For some writers the outcome of Indian education, while certainly not
justifying the suffering, has often been portrayed as somehow making up for it.
This case is often made in reference to today’s Indian leadership. Given the
conditions on Indian reserves today many people, Indian and non-Indian alike,
feel the outcome of Indian-white relations can only be described as destructive.
Writers, such as Ponting and Gibbons (1980: 18) and Satzewich and Wotherspoon
(1993: 28) have also cautiously identified "cultural genocide" as one of the possible
outcomes of Indian-white relations. Others, such as Lascelles (1992: 11) feel this
term does not give credit to the Catholics for the work they did in preserving the
Indian languages. Obviously, cultural genocide sharply contradicts the "greater
good theory" commonly perpetuated by those who niay be willing to acknowledge
the darker side of the benevolent intentions of church and state, but still cling to

the notion that Indians had to change.
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In the end, neither "outright racism" nor "benevolence" may fully describe
the intent of Indian-white relations nor may it be possible to draw straight lines
between these and the outcomes of "cultural genocide" and "Indian education".
Nonetheless, these four concepts are all part of the same puzzle. While Indian
education may have been benevolent in its intent the outcome, if not cultural
genocide, was at the very least extremely destructive to Indian families and
cultural cohesion. While Indian-white relations cannot be analyzed solely on the
basis of its racist intent, it is obvious that concepts of racial superiority permeated
the benevolence of Indian education and residential schools.

In summary, this paper examines the history of Indian-white relations which
lead to the concept of Indian education and to the establishment of St. Michael’s
School in Duck Lake, Saskatchewan in 1894. Chapter two outlines the research
objectives and the methodology used in this paper, while Chapter three traces the
historical and ideological context of Indian-white relations. Chapter four examines
Indian education and the implications of Indian residential schools. while the
concept of resistance and struggle by Indian people against European domination
are dealt with in Chapter five. Chapter six then examines St. Michael’s School
within the context of the framework developed in the previous chapters. Finally,

Chapter seven closes with conclusions and a few suggestions for future research.
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Chapter 2 - Research Ohrjectives and Approach

At the very least, an assessment of power relations read directly off the
public transcript between the powerful and the weak may portray a
deference and consent that are only possibly a tactic. Second, to the
degree that the dominant suspect that the public transcript may be "only"
a performance, they will discount its authenticity. It is but a short step
Jrom such scepticism to the view, common among many dominant
groups, that those beneath them are deceitful, shamming, and lying by
nature (Scott 1990: 3).

20 Overall Purpose, Research Parameters, and Methodology

The purpose of this research is to examine the historical and ideological
context of Indian-white relations which led to the concept of Indian education in
Canada, and to the establishment of St. Michael’s School in Saskatchewan. Based
on the premise that Indians were not just passive victims of history, this study
examines what Indian people struggled for and against, and how they struggled
within the broader context of Indian-white relations. Using Scott’s (1990) ana'ysis
of domination and resistance, this paper probes both the "public transcripts" and
the "hidden transcripts” of church, state, and Indian people. James Scott (1990: 2)
defined "public transcript[s] as a short hand way of describing the open interaction
between subordinates and those who dominate". Within the triangular concept of
Indian-white relations, the public transcripts of church and state can be found
within their correspondence which reveals how they ultimately defended their role.

This correspondence also reveals how church and state defined Indian resistance

not as the outcome of domination, but as evidence "that those beneath them are
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deceitful, shamming, and lying by nature" (Scott 1990: 3). Given the nature of this
documentary evidence, the struggle by Indian people can be discerned, not so
much in what they actually said or did, but in how church and state responded, or
labelled their resistance. According to Scott (1990: xii) "public transcripts"
represents only one part of any analysis of domination and resistance because:

Every subordinate group creates, out of its ordeal, a "hidden

transcript” that represents a critique of power spoken behind the

back of the dominant. The powerful, for their part, also develop a

hidden transcript representing the practices and claims of their rule

that cannot be openly avowed.

Many examples of the hidden transcripts of Indian people and the struggle
by Indian children against domination in residential schools can be found in
Johnson’s (1988) Indian School Days and in Haig Brown’s (1987) Resistance and
Renewal: Surviving Indian Residential Schools. The primary documentation at the
National Archives provides many examples of the hidden transcripts of church and
state. These hidden transcripts generally expose how the European’s claim tc
racial superiority was used to justify the right of church and state to interfere so
blatantly in the lives of Indian people. Consequently. both the hidden and the
public transcripts of Indian-white relations must be examined in order to find the
voices of Indian people within this history.

This research has been structured on two complimentary levels of inquiry
using primary and secondary sources. The first level involved a broad review of

secondary literature to establish the historical and ideological context of Indian-

white relations. The time frame for this research ranged from the early 1800s to
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the 1920s, plus a brief look at the earlier history of Indian-white relations. This
first step included a review of literature on Indian-white relations, the history of
the Prairies, Treaty 6 negotiations, racism, Indian education, residential schools,
and concepts of resistance ar.’ struggle. This first phase established the overall
historical context of Indian education and Indian residential schools.

A second stage examined the ideological context of Indian-white relations
which ultimately dictated the superiority of European culture and religion over
traditional Indian lifestyles and beliefs. James Teevan (1992: 578) defined
ideology as "a statement of beliefs and objectives that can be used to justify
patterns of conduct”. More precisely he added that "an ideology often identifies
‘wrongs’ in a society and offers a remedy for correcting them." In the nineteenth
century, the ideology of European racial superiority labelled Indians as inferior
and set out to remedy this situation by "Christianizing" and "civilizing" Indian
children through education. This concept of racial superiority found "scientific"
(Rose 1973; Stepan 1982) credibility in the mid nineteenth century with the
emerging evolutionary theories. The Indian Act was later used as the primary
instrument for imposing these racial beliefs on reluctant Indian people. This
second level cf inquiry also included an examination of St. Michael’s School within
the broader historical and ideological context of Indian-white relations. In
particular, this study examined how Indian people responded to the assimilationist
policies thrust upon them at St. Michael’s Indian Residential School.

The majority of the primary documentation on St. Michael’s School can be
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found at the National Archives under the Indian Affairs "School Files" and "Black
[Western) Series” records. This documentation consists of the correspondence
between Indian Affairs and the Oblates of Mary Immaculate who operated St.
Michael’s School. Indian Affairs in Ottawa also holds over twenty volumes of
documentation on this school. This information was not used in this study as it
did not pertain to the period under review.* The Deschatelets Archives in
Ottawa also holds some primary documentation on St. Michael’s School.® A small
booklet prepared by Jules Le Chevallier (1944) to commemorate this school's
golden jubilee is also available through the latter source. More pertinent to this
study, Father Le Chevallier used at least some of the primary documentation now
located at the Natior .” Archives to prepare his fiftieth anniversary booklet
because the Oblates did not have any records for this period. In 1928, the
Principal of St. Michael’s School asked Indian Affairs for permission to use their
files stating "Old diary for that period is missing (or perhaps was never kept)".!®
The Saskatoon District Tribal Council who now own St. Michael’s School will
publish a second booklet on this school in 1995. More documentation on St.

Michael’s School can also be found at the Glenbow Museum Archives and at the

: Indian Affairs files on St. Michael's School start in 1952. A request under the Access

to Information Act must be sent to Indian Affairs o access these files. Under the Privacy Act all
personal information will be removed unless disclosure 1s permitted under section 8.

® See page 171 for the "Finding Aid” Deschatelets Archives, Ottawa.

10 Personal memo, H. Delmas to D.C. Scott, 25 January 1928. NAC, Indian Affairs

School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1. Access to DIA files granted, D.C. Scott
to H. Delmas, 31 January 1928, ibid.




Provincial Archives in Alberta.!! Regrettably, the latter two sources were
inaccessible dve to distance. The majority of the Oblate records located at the
Provincial Archives in Alberta are also in French.
2.1  Research Limitations and Considerations

Father Le Chevallier’s booklet proved to be a useful reference tool in
examining the history of St. Michael’s School. This booklet, however, was not
without its limitations because it was written to extol this school’s "unparalleled
success” in civilizing Indian children (Le Chevallier 1944: 61). Consequently,
Indians are quite unabashedly referred to as pagans, savages, and heathens. The
voices of Indian people are brought forward only when they serve to confirm the
Oblate’s good work at this school. Yet, this is hardly surprising. According to
Carr (1987: 11), "The facts speak only when the historian calls on them: it is he
who decides to which facts to give the floor, and in what order or context".

Whatever its shortcomings, Father Le Chevallier’s booklet was at least
legible. The same could not always be said of the primary documentation which is
still available on St. Michael’s School. These documents were often incomplete, of
poor quality, unreadable in places if they were handwritten, had missing dates, and
sometimes the positions if not the names of the correspondents were absent.
Indian Affairs translated these letters as often the French and English versions are
available at the National Archives. This raises the question of the quality of these

translations not only for their use historically, but in terms of their accuracy

n See page 171 for the "Finding Aid" Oblates of Mary Immaculate, Edmonton.
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because the English duplicates were used for this research. This documentation
also represents the written history of only two of the three parties involved in St.
Michael’s School. This does not mean that the voices of Indian people cannot be
heard within this exchange of correspondence between church and state.

A combination of anthropology and history called "ethnohistory" offers one
way of finding the voices of Indian people within this history. Ethnohistory refers
to a group of methods which combines anthropological theory and fieldwork
procedures with historical documentary research techniques. This approach
“requires looking through the explicit words of European records for the implicit
native experience embedded in them" (Miller 1990: 7). This technique is not
unique to ethnohistory. Historians also use this approach when examining records
pertaining to any non-dominant group such as women and non-literate peoples.

Jim Albert of Carleton University calls this approach "an Aboriginal way of
knowing" which moves us, through Indian ceremonies, beyond intellectualizing to
making the long journey between head and heart to find the Indian experiences.
This is not an easy process. This approach not only "involves our beginning to

think in a new way" (Wacquant 1992: preface).!? but requires sifting through a

12 Because this quote captures the difficulty in developing a new way of thinking it is

quoted here in its entirety. "Getting hold of the difficulty deep down is what is hard. Because it is
grasped aear the surface it simply remains the difficulty it was. It has 10 be pulled out by the roots;
and that involves our beginning to think in a new way. The change is as decisive as, for example, that
from the aichemical 10 the chemical way of thinking. The new way is what is so hard to establish.
Once the new way of thinking has been established, the old problems vanish; indeed, they become
hard to recapture. For they go with our way of expressing ourselves and, if we clothe ourselves in a
new form of expression, the old problems are discarded along with the old garment.” Ludwig
Wittgenstein, Vermischte Bemerkungen, as cited by Wacquant (1992: preface).
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multitude of racial slurs to find the Indian voices within the remaining written
remnants of history. While the latter can be extremely disheartening, the former
is perhaps hardest to acquire because we have been schooled to think within the
context of "white-Indian" relations, and to view Indian people as the powerless and
voiceless victims of this relationship.

Therefore, given the reality of how Indian people are often portrayed in
the primary documentation, a note about the race and gender biases inherent in
this kind of research is in order. First, there can be little doubt that "Christianity"
and "civilization" are grounded in the concept of European racial superiority. In
much of the primary documentation on Indian-white relations, Indians are often
reduced to the lowest possible comraon denominator described only as pagans.
savages, heathens, ignorant, child-like, dirty and lazy. Consequently, as Indians did
not rate as people equal to the Europeans, they were concomitantly reduced to a
sexless homogeneous race defined only by their "ascribed status" (Teevan 1992:
573). Gender only came into play where Indian children, particularly girls, were
taught to perform the proper Victorian tasks suitable to their sex. In other words,
in the history of white-Indian relations, race nullified gender as a consideration.
2.2  Statement of the Problem

Until quite recently, it has often been assumed that the voices of Indian
people could not possibly be heard from within the remaining written remnants of
the history of Indian-white relations. As Kennedy (1970: 4-5) rightfully pointed

out in her study on the Qu’Appelle Indian Industrial School in Saskatchewan:




28

... [the] letters, reports, petitions, etc., {were] written by those who

were trying to direct change among the Indian peoples....There is

little documentary evidence as to how the latter, the objects of

change, viewed the process.

It is now becoming increasingly apparent that our perception of what this
primary documentation can tell us has changed significantly since Jacqueline
Kennedy (1970) completed her research. Despite the fact that church and state
were primarily responsible for leaving behind this documentary evidence, from
Tobias (1983) and Taylor’s (1991) research, for example, it is still possible to hear
the voices of Indian people and to see how they resisted European domination.
Perhaps the belief that Indian history must be oral has kept us from seeing the
Indian experiences within these sources. Unfortunately, what this primary
documentation can tell researchers represents only one part of the problem. A
related question must be asked. Are the conclusions drawn from these primary
sources little more than the outcome of personal and cultural biases. whether
intentional or not? Stanley (1983: 1) captured this dilemma as follows:

Anyone embarking on a discussion of Indian-white relations in

Canada is faced, from the outset, with a virtually insoluble dilemma.

Since every man is the product of the culture into which he is born

and in which he is nurtured and educated. of necessity his thinking

will follow certain well-defined lines.... When 1 undertake to comment

on the interaction of two cultures. Indian and European. I must.

inevitably, adopt a viewpoint within my own tradition.

The problem, therefore. is twotold. The first lies in finding the Indian
voices hidden within this primary documentation and the other in questioning the

secondary interpretations drawn from these sources. In this there are no easy

solutions, neither for the Aboriginal nor the non-Aboriginal researcher examining
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the complexities of Indian-white relations. For both, no matter how professional,
still hopes to find a small piece of themselves in the written history of their
ancestors. The difference is as decisive as Le Chevallier’s (1944) history of St.
Michael’s School where Indians are pagans and savages, and this present attempt
to find my people within this history. The Oblates rightfully hold centre court in
Le Chevallier’s history. Indian people will become the focus in mine.

The potential for cultural bias is just one of the many problems confronting
researchers of Indian-white relations. Another difficulty concerns the reliability of
the sources used, both oral and written. In response to the question of who can
lay claim to historical truth, George Stanley (1983: 2) also had this to add:

I am not prepared to argue whether written or oral history, law or

tradition, is more reliable. Certainly, men’s memories are frequently

faulty; but documents may be incomplete or ambiguous, or, at the

worst, forgeries or outright lies. Who, then, has the whole truth and

nothing but the truth? The Indian with his memory, or the white

man with his documents? Perhaps both are struggling in the

darkness of the past.

Perhaps the only answer lies in the responsible use of both written and oral
sources. Unfortunately, it is not always responsible research to pursue both
avenues, particularly on sensitive issues like Indian residential schools. While
greater understanding of residential schools may be gained through interviews with
key informants, this approach has invariably represented a double edged sword for
Indian people. First, when it comes to residential schools, painful memories often

far outweigh happy ones. Secondly, sometimes these painful memories are cruelly

diminished by an uninformed public. One example is the Ottawa Citizen's
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response to Breaking the Silence (1994), the report prepared by the Assembly of

First Nations on residential schools.!* Moreover, any research which lays open
the possibility of infiicting pain on its subjects, however unintentional, must make
provisions for adequate culturally appropriate follow-up. In fact, direct interactive
research on Indian residential schools requires a level of skill and experience
which I do not as yet possess. While this paper will be missing the first-hand
accounts of Indian people, 1 cannot pursue a research process which runs the risk
of inflicting more pain on people who have obviously suffered enough.

23 Research Approach, Objectives, and Questions

In his article entitled, "Researching the History of Indian Residential
Schools" Miller (1990: 7) asked, "If one 1s demented enough to want to study
residential schools, how does one go about it?" Not knowing what direction to
take on such a vast issue. this research started out with only an audience. an
approach. and an overall purpose. First. Indian people formed the audience for
this study due to the wide impact of Indian residential schools. and because
sometimes this research was just too painful to carry alone. While this research is
based on "an Aboriginal way of knowing", academically this approach is probably
closest to Miller’s (1990: 7) description ot "ethnohistory”.

More precisely, "an Aboriginal way of knowing” means honouring our

emotional. spiritual, mental. and physical selves. It also means bringing the heart

13 Johnson, William. (1944) "ldeological overkill fueling myth of Indian residential

schools". Ouawa Citizen. 20 August 1994.
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and mind closer together by learning and practising the Sacred Ways. The irony
of this approach will not escape those who are willing to acknowledge that one of
the primary objectives of Indian residential schools was to obliterate these
practices and beliefs. Yet, without this grounding in who I am as an Indian
person, where I came from and why this kind of research is important, I would not
have survived the painful reality of this subject matter.

The purpose of this paper is to find the place of Indian people within this
history, not as victims, but as people of courage who struggled against "centuries
of systematic imperialism" (Missionary Oblates of Mary Immaculate 1992: 260),
and in particular against the assimilationist policies imposed on them by St.
Michael’s School. The primary objectives of this study are:

® to examine the historical and ideological context of

Indian-white relations which led to the instigation of
Indian education on the Prairies and to the
estabiishment of St. Michael’s School in 1894;

° to examine the ideological underpinnings of "Christianity” and
"civilization", and to examine why and how these concepts led
to the economic relationship between ch.rch and state;

° to examine the history of St. Michael’s School within

the broader historical and ideological context of
Indian-white relations; and

° to examine the role that Indian people played in the
history of Indian education on the Prairies, and their
activities in response to St. Michael’s School during the
period of 1894-1926.

This paper focuses on the examination of Indian-white relations within the

broader context of the social structures of Canadian society. While good and bad
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deeper seated societal attitudes which altered the structural relationship of Indian-

white relations. The Missionary Oblates of Mary Immaculate (1992: 259-260)

recognized the relevance of this underlying belief structure in the long history of

white-Indian relations, when they stated:

We apologize for the part we played in the cultural, ethnic,
linguistic, and religious imperialism that was part of the mentality
with which the peoples of Europe first met the Aboriginal peoples
and which consistently has lurked behind the way the Native peoples
of Canada have been treated by civil governments and the churches.

In summary, this study examines the historical and ideological context of

Indian-white relations which led to the concept of Indian education and Indian

residential schools in Canada. As a final step, this study also examines St.

Michael’s School within the context of this overall framework to determine:

to what extent the racial doctrines of the late nineteenth
century provided the ethical justification for the application of
the concepts of "civilization” and "Christianity" in relation to
this school. and to what extent these concepts advanced the
economic relationship between Indian Affairs and the Oblates
of Mary Immaculate at St. Michael’s School during the period
1894-1926: and

to what extent the historical records support the belief that
Indian people were active participants in Indian education
1ssues, and to determine what evidence exists that Indian
people and their children struggled against the assimilation
policies imposed on them by St. Michael’s School.



Chapter 3 - Historical and Ideological Framework

Whenever one encounters euphemism in language it is a nearl, infallible
sign that one has stumbled on a delicate subject....The impositicn of
euphemisms on the public transcript ... mask(s] the many nasty jucts of
domination and give[s] them a harmless or sanitized aspect. In
particular, they are designed to obscure the use af coercion (Scott
1990: 53).
3.0 That Which Lurks Beneath the Surface
Chapter one examined some of the current analytical approaches to Indian-
white relations. The analysis of this relationship must exter 1 far beyond whether

the intent was racist or benevolent, or if the outcome was ultimately good or bad

for Indian people. To parallel Scott’s (1990: 53) analysis, we must challenge the

"euphemisms" called assimilation, Indian educarion, and residential schools which
often "mask the many nasty facts of domination and give [these terms] a harmless
or sanitized aspect”, and which also tend to "obscure the use of coercion". We
must ask ourselves how assimilation was different from extermination, if Indian
education was merely schooling, and whether residential schools were just places
where Indian children lived while they learned some useful skills. Unless we dig
beneath these "public transcripts” to find the Indian reality, we will never
understand why Indian people remain so angry. We will never see what they see.
In the analysis of Indian-white relations we are often presented with two
historical alternatives: the extermination of Indians or their assimilation into

European society. Within this diametrically opposed framework, assimilation is
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often raised to the level of Canadian Christian philanthropy, as extermination is
unilaterally dismissed as a sad testament to the harsh reality of white-Indian
relations south of the border. Yet, there can be no mistake. Canadians did enter
into a policy of extermination — the extermination of Indianness.'* This policy
still euphemistically called "assimilation"” was in fact just as insidious as the outright
extermination of Indians because through its education strategy, it attacked the
most vulnerable members of Indian society — its children. Therefore, given the
choice between "extermination" and "assimilation" Canadians are expected to feel
magnanimous, and Indians somehow grateful, that "assimilation” meant only the
extermination of Indianness and not the Indians themselves! Sheehan quoted by
Chamberlin (1975: 162) captured the contradictory reality of assimilation when he
stated, "For ultimately, ... the white man’s sympathy was more deadly than his
animosity. Philanthropy had in mind. the disappearance of the entire race’.
While Indian education and Indian residential schools also appear to be
straightforward concepts. hidden beneath these are the more coercive measures
called "aggressive civilization” (Davin 1879: 1) by the Americans and "benevulent
aggression” (Furniss 1992: 53 n.4) by the Canadians.'® Le Thevallier (1944: 8)
inadvertently captured the benevolent aggression behind Indian residential schools

when he thanked the nuns for their contribution at St. Michael’s School as follows:

14 For the purpose of this paper "Indianness” is defined as language, culture, beliefs,

ceremonies, and family ties - the very same things which Indian residential schools set out to destroy.
15 Smart, James. "Report of the Deputy Superint=ndent of Indian Affairs" in Annual

Report of the Department of Indian Affairs for the year ending June 30, 1898, (Ottawa: Queen’s
Printer, 1898), xxvi, as cited by Furniss (1992: 53 n.4).
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To the Faithful Companions of Jesus who during nine years after
foundation devoted all their energies to the arduous task of transforming
the pagan soul of the child to a thing of light and beauty, by tearing away
the rough wrapper as it [sic] were the .hrysalis, to them we express our
profound thanks, our sincerest admiration.

Random House (1992: 243) defines chrysalis as "the hard-shelled pupa of a
moth or butterfly”. To this day, the wounds of many of these Indian children
continue to bleed. Others simply failed to survive this procedure still
euphemistically called assimilation. The alternative definition for chrysalis which is
"a protected stage of development" obviously did not apply in this case.

In fact, residential schooling extended far beyond an "experiment in social
engineering" (Miller 1991b: 196) to what can only be described as the systematic
extermination of Indianness because this experiment did not end with graduation.
The systematic extermination of Indianness extended to state sanctioned "outings"
to further civilize the older Indian students, arranged marriages, and the
establishment of at least one colony at File Hills where all ties to kin and culture
were finally severed. A report prepared for Indian Affairs euphemistically
labelled these outings the "beginning of [a] policy of ‘placement service’ for ex-
pupils" (Abt 1993: A-2). In describing this continuum in another way, Uresko
(1979: 91) stated that the Principal at the Qu'Appelle Industrial School saw an
Indian child’s "baptism, confirmation, communion, and marriage as stages in a
novitiate, paralleling their apprenticeship in civilization". What we often fail to

question is where "outings" and "arranged marriages" fit into Indian education

which is still commonly defined as the 3Rs, religion, and some vocational training.
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From Bishop Prud’homme’s obvious pleasure in the match-making capabilities of
St. Michael’s fourth principal, arranging marriages had obviously become an
accepted part of Indian "education”. In 1923, he advised Indian Affairs:

When I questioned Father Delmas on the moral result of the pupils

this was his answer: ‘Since 1912, forty marriages were performed,

thirty-two at the school and eight on the surrounding reserves....Is

there another school of the kind with a better record?"¢

The travesty of Indian education is that many of us still fail to comprehend
the lengths that church and state went to in order to systematically eradicate all
traces of Indianness. The greatest tragedy is that we have forgotten that these
"experiments" in civilization were perpetuated on the most vulnerable members of
Indian society. Indian people rightfully have much to be angry about when it
comes to Indian education. Not only were their lives in residential schools foreign,
unyielding, and often harsh. There was no reprieve. When Indian education was
extended to arranged marriages and colonies. Social Darwinism was pushed to the
extreme of eugenics. By arranging marriages. church and state tried to propagate
a new human species from whom they hoped they had finally eradicatr ¢! all traces
of Indianness. D.C. Scott (1914b: 622-623) corroburated this when he stated:

The happiest future for the Indian race is absorption into the

general popul=:ion, and this is the object of the policy of our

government....i - great forces of intermarriage and education will

finally overcome the lingering traces of native custom and tradition.

Scott also added that Indians in the West should not be denied "the same destiny".

16 Memo, Bishop Prud’homme to D.C. Scott. 8 November 1923. Deschatelets Archives,

Ottawa, HR 6671.C73R 30.
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31 The Inseparability of the Historical from the Ideological

It is obvious that the historical course of Indian-white relations cannot be
easily separated from its ideological foundations. While the early Europeans may
have questioned their ability to survive in the new land, few of them doubted their
superiority over the "untamed" inhabitants of the New World. Later, these racist
beliefs spilled over into Indian-white relations on the Prairies, and eventually led
to the establishment of Indian residential schools in the West. Although it is
tempting to start any analysis of Indian education with Davin who prepared the
much touted Report on Indian Industrial Schools in 1879, events on the Prairies
were shaped by a much longer history of Indian-white relations in eastern Canada.

In the East, 1830 marked a pivotal point in Indian-white relations as
Indians lost their usefulness as military allies and trading partners, and
responsibility for Indians moved from military to civilian authorities (Upton 1973;
Miller 1991b). Spending on Indians also fell under greater scrutiny as the Indian’s
"annual presents" came to be seen as an unnecessary burden. In the late 1600s,
the British gave annual presents of blankets, tobacco, gunpowder, and shot to the
Indians to maintain their allegiance and to keep them in their traditional lifestyles,
while they were needed for military and trading purposes (Upton 1973: 55). More
ominous to the new civil administrators was the threat that this "gift giving" was
leading to a dependency on the public coffers. The time had come for Indians to
change. Thus the policy of "civilizing" Indians began to take shape as the reserve

system was inaugurated in Upper Canada. This change in administration signalled
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more than a simple realignment of financial priorities. It signalled the advent of
an Indian bureaucracy which took its direction, not from the Indian people it was
meant to serve, but from those who controlled the flow of resources. Unlike their
military predecessors, the lives of these new bureaucrats did not depend upon
cultivating the goodwill of the Indian tribes. Their careers depended upon
demonstrating their ingenuity in solving the "Indian problem" (Elliott and Fleras
1992: 169) while carefully guarding the public purse. This Indian problem also
represented a moral issue to the newcomers. one tinged with guilt over the dire
impact of a superior culture on an inferior one. According to Upton (1973: 54):

Guilt never led to any thought that the whites might leave others

alone to go their own way. There was never any thought of stopping

the flow of emigration, which could only increase as the century

progressed. Guilt had to be atoned for by accepting responsibility

for the protection and civilization of inferior and perverse people,

for if the natives were debauched by white contact it was partly their

own fault. Hence they must be made over into white men.

Therefore. assimilation was born out of the racist ideals that the newcomers
had a moral obhgation to save the Indians by remoulding them in their image.
Indeed, Indian-white relations cannot be examined as a mere consequence of a
changing economic situation. In the nineteenth century. the emerging scientific
answers regarding the origins of the species. biological ditfeiences. and inherited
characteristics provided all tie proof that the earlv Europeans needed to explain
their own superiority. "Scientific racism" had come of age. While this may appear

a contradiction in terms. Larrain (1979: 211) stated that "the difference between

ideology and science does not preclude the fact, ... that ideology may dress itself
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up as a science”. Later, these racist notions moved one step further into Social
Darwinism "a 19th-century doctrine that the social order is a product of natural
selection of those persons best suited to existing living conditions" (Random House
1992: 1270)." The proof of "the survival of the fittest" lay in the New World
where Europeans thrived, while Indians societies fell into disarray.'

Whatever guilt may have existed over these deteriorating conditions did
little to stop the continuing deluge of European settlement. The answer to the
"Indian problem" lay in instilling the superior concepts of "Christianity" and
“civilization" within the inferior Indian mind. In cther words, Indians had to be
made over into brown Europeans. Education the great cure-all for most social
problems in the nineteenth century provided the necessary means to this end.

While the task of "Christianity”, "civilization", and Indian education of sorts
had always fallen to the missionaries who trudged along behind the explorers and
traders, the new civil administrators had also found a new meaning in life. They
had become public servants. Their job now included saving the Indians through
education. Through education they would drag the Indians, forcibly if need be, up
the evolutionary ladder to civilize and train them to perform those societal

functions befitting their inferior station in life. According to Barman (1986: 115),

17 Miller (1991b: 97), Frideres (1993: 466), Keliough (1980: 360), Stanley (1983: 13) and
Grant (1984: 188) identified "Social Darwinism" as one of the possible factors in Indian-white relations.

1 The concept of Social Darwinism is not as antiquated as it seems. According to the
Treaties and Historical Research Centre (1978:105), in 1906 Frank Pedley, the Deputy-Superintendent
General of Indian Affairs questioned, " ‘whether or not the time has arrived for leaving...(the Indians)
to the operation of the natural law which tends toward the survival of the fittest".




assimilation never implied eventual equality with the Europeans because:
A second critical assumption of the nineteenth century held that
status at birth was decisive in determining status in adulthood. A
principal function of education lay in preparing each individual for

his place in the socio-economic order as foretold by his conditions of
birth.

In fact, the government took decided action whenever Indians exceeded
expectations and breached the socio-economic order. Sarah Carter (1991)
describes the introduction of the "peasant farming policy" and the "permit system”
in the West, when Indians began to successfully compete for profits with local
farmers. The concept of Indian industrial schools also fell under greater scrutiny
as Indians used their skills and began to vie for jobs with the Europeans. Despite
this measure of success. Clifford Sifton, the Superintendent-General of Indian
Affairs, doubted that Indians were capable of taking advantage of the education
they were receiving. According to Hall (1983: 126). in 1904 Sifton confessed:

I have no hesitation in saying — we may as well be frank — that the

Indian cannot go out from school. making his own way and compete

with the white man....He has not the physical. mental or moral get-

up to enable him to compete. He cannot do it.!*

In the eyes of the Europeans, there was obviously no way that Indians
could win. Indians were damned if they used their education to compete for jobs,
and damned once again when they failed to meet the European’s expectations.

Additionally, then as now, Indian Aftairs was not prepared to work itself

out of a job. As Upton (1973: 57) correctly stated. "The Department knew that if

19 Debates, 1904, cols. 6946-56. 18 July 1904: see also 1903, cols. 7260-61, 23 July 1903,
as cited by Hall (1983: 126).
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‘civilization’ ever succeeded they would be the first victims of its success". The
"Indian problem" also represented a career in itself. When Sifton assumed his
new duties in 1896, he found "there were nearly as many officials as Indians
[because] Indian Affairs had for years been a splendid source of patronage and
sinecures for the Conservative party faithful" (Hall 1983: 120,122). While Sifton
made some swift cuts, over time his reforms amounted to little more than just
replacing the old guard with Liberals. More often, Indian services bore the brunt
of his cost cutting measures. This bureaucratic tradition of cost effectiveness at
someone else’s expense also marked the churches, who already worked among
Indians, as the most economical option for Indian education. The missionaries
were not unwilling partners. Like the state, they also believed that Indians had to
change. The missionaries also recognized that Indian residential schools offered
the most effective means of "civilizing" and "Christianizing" Indian people.
3.2 Eastern Indian-White Relations Pave the Way

From their early experiences the missionaries knew that the prospect of
"civilizing" and "Christianizing" Indians were greatly increased where Indians were
either sedentary by nature, or were convinced to be by other circumstances. As a
result, the missionaries either concentrated their efforts on settled tribes, or tried
to convince the nomadic Indians to settle. Virtually from the beginning, they also
saw education tied to agriculture as the necessary means for preparing Indians for
what was to come.

The Indians in the East also recognized the implications of their changing
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circumstances. Some of the eastern Indians asked the missionaries to teach their

children and some bands even agreed to pay for this service out of their annuities.
Consequently, both day and residential schools sprang up where Indians were
amenable to the idea. This did not mean that all eastern Indians happily sent
their children off to residential schools. As early as the 1870s, Reverend Wilson
"advocated compulsory attendance” (Wilson 1986: 78) when Indian children failed
to return to the Shingwauk Industrial Home near Saulte Ste. Marie, Ontario.

The early missionarics also learned that despite their best efforts
conversion could be a fleeting thing. It was essential, therefore, to keep their
fledgling converts isolated from the retrogressive influences of their pagan
lifestyles. As a result the concept of "reductions”. pioneered by the Jesuits in
Paraguay, found its application in the New World to the North. These model
communities, where missionaries controlled the lives of their converts, offered
better prospects for success. Reductions also precluded competition from the
local medicine man or woman. While these model communities kept converts
isolated. this method did not guarantee a lasting commitment to conversion. An
Oblate missionary later carried this concept of total control one step further into
the "Durieu system" (Miller 1991b: 148-149). Under this system selected Indian
"watchmen', and not the missionary, guarded against infractions of the rules and
doled out the punishments in order to keep converts moving forward "in the total
inward transformation for which it was designed" (Grant 1984: 126,127). Under

the Durieu system the outward manifestations of change were no longer enough.
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According to Gresko (1986: 94), "In the North West Territories by contrast
reductions were never promoted to any great extent”. While this may be true,
residential schools likely replaced reductions in the West when Indian education
presented the missionaries with greater opportunities for lasting success. In fact,
both the rigid system of discipline, and the concept of total control synonymous
with reductions, were duplicated within Indian residential school settings. For
example, St. Michael’s School was more than a residential school. It was model
community. This school was a showpiece of civilization where the still brown, but
thoroughly "Christianized" and "civilized" Indian children, could be shown off to
Governor Generals, Departmental officials, a Prime Minister, and even a Papal
delegate (Le Chevallier 1944) along with the buildings and the livestock. From
Father Le Chevallier’s (1944: 16-17) description, the Inspector for Indian Affairs
obviously considered St. Michael’s School nothing less than a model community:

What a marvellous change in the space of eighteen months! Every

where buildings have appeared as if by magic. The main building ...

forms a solid structure, capable of housing seventy-five children and

the complete staff....out-houses have been built: a model dairy, clean

and well aired, a laundry, a carpenter’s shop, a shoe-maker’s shop, a

wood-house for the reserve supply...there are stables for the horses

and the cattle ... pent-houses for the swine-herd and the chickens,

also sheds for the wagons and farm implements....All these houses,

great or small are lined up in an orderly manner, carefully attended

to, and uniformly painted in a pleasing shade of red. A high

palisade, closing in around all gives the compound a very pleasing

aspect.

Fitty years of history had yet to unfold before St. Michael’s School became

a reality. In 1842, the Bagot Commission cleared the way for residential schooling

by establishing "a new thrust in ..dian education” (Miller 1991b: 105).
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Among other things, the Bagot Commission recommended that the colonial
government fund the churches to take over the responsibility for Indian education.
Most importantly, the Bagot Commission endorsed a change from day to manual
labour residential schools where Indian children could be more effectively
removed from the negative influences of their homes. In 1847, Egerton Ryerson
the Chief Superintendent of Education in Upper Canada added the weight of his
office when he supported this new direction in Indian education as follows:

There is, therefore, but one course left, which has been pointed

out—to endeavour to raise them to the level of the whites. To this

there appears to be no insurmountable impediment. [t is the

universal testimony, that there is nothing in the character of the

Indian race which is opposed to such a result. They ... are sensible

of the superiority of the whites, and of the disadvantages under

which they themselves labour. from their want of knowledge. and the

converted Indians are generally anxious for the education of their

children (Prentice and Houston 1975: 219-220).

Ryerson also recommended that the colonial government fund as many
Indian industrial schools as their resources would permit. in addition to the day
schools already in operation. Significantly, Ryerson’s recommendations probably
carried a lot more weight than just the influence of his office. Egerton Rverson
had also worked as a missionary among the Credit River Indians. This field
experience, along with his command of an Indian language. probably implied a
greater understanding than most people of what was best tfor Indians. The

"civilizing" experiment among the New Credit Indians was also set up as a model

community. The basic difterence between these model communities and the
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residential school concept for Indian education now lay in the fact that children,
and not entire Indian communities, had become the prime target for change.

The thrust behind Indian education became somewhat clearer in 1857 with
the passag-: <t the Gradual Civilization Act, followed closely by the Gradual
Enfranchisement Act in 1869. Civilizing Indians through a Christian education
now signalled the prospect of solving the "Indian problem" through a process
known as enfranchisement. Enfranchisement stripped Indian people of their legal
status as "Indians". By givirg itself the power to decide who was an Indian person,
the government had come full circle in applying its racist beliefs to Indian people.
No one can explain this quite as eloquently as D.C. Scott finally did in 1920:

I want to get rid of the Indian problem. I do not think as a matter of

fact, that this country ought to continuously protect a class of people

who are able to stand alone....That has been the whole purpose of

Indian education and advancement since the earliest times. One of

the very earliest enactments was to provide for the enfranchisement

of the Indian. So it is written in our law that the Indian was

eventually to become enfranchised....Our object is to continue until

there is not a single Indian in Canada that has not been absorbed

into the body politic and there is no Indian question, and no Indian

Department, that is the whole object of this Bill (Treaties and

Historical Research Centre 1978: 114).?

By the time the British North America Act of 1867 granted the federal
government legislative authority over "Indians and lands reserved for Indians",

Indian people in the East represented only one part of the problem to the land

hungry newcomers. The Plains Indians who roamed the Prairies now took their

% Evidence of 2.C. Scott to the Special Committee of the House of Commons

examining the Indian Act amendments of 1920, pp. 55 (L-3) and 63 (N-3). PAC, RG 10, volume 6810,
file 470-2-3 volume 7, as cited by the Treaties and Historical Research Centre (1978: 114).
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turn as the "Indian problem". These Indians also stood in the way of Sir John A.
Macdonald’s "national dream" to populate the West with white settlers, and to link
the eastern and western shores by rail and telegraph. The answer to this new
"Indian problem" lay in either forcibly moving the Plains Indians out of the path of
progress, or alternatively in assimilating them into the superior European culture.

Once again, the extermination of Indians was ruled out as a viable option.
First, the situation south of the border was aptly demons:rating the high cost of
waging Indian wars. The Canadian government just did not have these kind of
resources at its disposal. Secondly, nineteenth-century North Americans believed
that, "Other races were not inferior to the whites for any immutable physical
cause; their inferiority was cultural and could be remedied by training in civilized
ways" (Upton 1973: 55). Thus. like their eastern kin, the Plains Indians were
destined to be saved through "assimilation”. Judged by the racial yardstick of their
limited contact with the European newcomers, the Prairie Indian tribes. however,
were deemed:

... not sufficiently advanced for the government to impose the

eastern model immediately. [Accordingly]. ... the government began

by concluding a series of land cession treaties, including the now

normal schedule of reserves, and then concentrated on assaulting

tribal customs and traditions (Sur - 1988: 89).

Ironically, while the Plains Indians were deemed too inferior to immediately

benefit from the Indian Act, their conditior was not so problematic as to prevent

the signing of the treaties and the transfer of vast tracts of Indian land. Alexander

Morris, one of the Commissioners who negotiated Treaties 4, 5 and 6 reflected the




47

views of his day when he negotiated with the Plains {ndians, not as men, but as
the Queen’s children. Alexander Morris did not hold out high expectations for
Indian people. He also did not assume that education would prepare Indian
children to eventually take their place as equals alongside the Europeans. In the
final chapter of his book regarding the need for the proper administration of the
trzaties, and with particular reference to schooling and "the future of these
interesting aboriginal races”, Alexander Morris (1880: 285,292) added:

The new generation can be trained in the habits and ways of

civilized life—prepared to encounter the difficulties with which they

will be surrounded, by the influx of settlers, and fitted for

maintaining themselves as tillers of the soil.

While this statement appears to separate the concept of "civilization" from
"Christianity", this certainly was not the case. Alexander Morris saw the churches
as having a definite duty to fulfil with respect to both Christianizing and civilizing
the Indian tribes in the West. Morris (1880: 296) openly acknowledged the role of

the missionaries when he closed his final chapter on the treaties with:

Let us have Christianity and civilization to leaven the mass of
heathenism and paganism among the Indian tribes,..."

Thus, with the signing of the treaties, the government’s assimilation policy
began to take shape in the West. This policy framework included demands for
schools on-reserve, both on the recommendation of the government officials and
at the request of the Christian Indians who negotiated the treaties. It is also
obvious that church and state, and certainly some of the Christian Indians believed

that schooling would include some level of missionary involvement.
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By the time Davin made his recommendations on Indian industrial schools
in 1879, the policy {ramework for Indian education had basically already taken
shape in eastern Canada, and on the Prairies. All Davin really did was to
consolidate this information, ignore the on-reserve schooling provisions included in
the treaties, and add the American experience which he either misinterpreted or
chose to ignore. According to Chamberlin (1975: 72), the Canadian government:

adopted a scheme for educating the Indians in the West in church-

run industrial boarding schools, ... just as the Americans were

recognizing its limitations and going-off at full speed in the opposite

direction.

Davin (1879: 1,2) also placed far greater emphasis on the concept of
"aggressive civilization' than on the ominous statement made by the American
Commissioner of Indian Affairs that he was "not in favour of the contract system,
because the children at schools under contract do not. as a rule. get a sufficient
quantity of food". What Davin undoubtedly recognized was that the Canadian
government was not prepared to splurge on Indian education, and consequently
they needed to off load some of these costs onto someone else. The missionaries,
who already operated mission schools at their own expense. were the most likely
candidates. In his recommendations. Davin (1879: 15) did not hesitate to add,
"The advantage of calling in the aid of religion is, that there is a chance of getting
an enthusiastic person, with, therefore, a motive beyond anything pecuniary
remuneration could supply.”

The advantages did not stop here. Later, the Canadian state and its

bureaucratic officials carefully looked the other way as the missionaries took most
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of the heat regarding the cruel realities of Indian residential schools. In fact, the
Canadian government has yet to fully own up to the part it played in destroying
Indian families and culture. What the bureaucracy still fears most is the financial
implications of any admission of guilt and the costs of restitution.

In the beginning, however, the missionaries were not unwilling partners in
the concept of Indian residential schooling. They needed access to the Indian
Affairs funding as the contributions from their own organizations dwindled and fell
away. The most striking aspect in Davin’s (1879) report is not the role he
recommended for the missionaries in Indian education. Davin’s report is most
reraarkablc in how it exemplifies the racial ideology which turned Indian
residential schools into a reality.

Consistent with the racial ideology of his day, Nicholas Davin held Indians
in extremely low regard. He saw "the race [as] in its childhood" and "the Indian
himself [as] a noble type of man, in a very early stage of development” (Davin
1879: 10). It is also obvious that Davin (1879: 10) considered the "mixed-bloods"
to be far more advanced than Indian people, whom he described as having "the
suspicion, distrust, fault-finding tendency, the insincerity and flattery, produced in
all subject races". Consistent with James Scott’s (1990: 35) analysis of domination
and resistance, Davin obviously chose to:

...attribute such behaviour ... not to the effect of arbitrary power but
rather to the inborn characteristics of the subordinate group itself.

Moreover, while Davin (1879: 9) was impressed by the principal men of the

five civilized nations in the United States who had apparently benefited from
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industrial schools, he could not help but add, "But I am bound to say there was
not one of them of pure Indian blood". The fact that Indian people were even
included in his recommendations probably had more to do with the mandate of
the Canadian government, and less to do with Nicholas Davin’s personal
preferences on the matter.

A careful reading of Davin’s report shows that he was clearly a man of his
time. Nicholas Davin, a journalist by trade, was first and foremost well versed in
the racial ideology of his day. He also knew only too well how far the government
was prepared to go in meeting its financial obligations for Indian education.
Davin supported a role for the missionaries in Indian education because he
believed in the dual concepts of "Christianity”" and "civilization" and the
missionaries were also the cheapest option by far.

These were the circumstances that existed in July 1890 when Bishop Vital-
Justin Grandin received a commitment from the Department of Indian Affairs to
build an industrial school for the Catholic Indians in his diocese. St. Michael’s
Indian Residential School at Duck Lake. Saskatchewan. then part of the North-
West Territories, was about to enter the realm of history in the field of Indian

education.



51

Chapter 4 - Indian Education and Indian Children

Despite its well-recognized weaknesses, Indian education should not be
Jjudged solely on the basis of occasional horror stories. Most
missionaries retained their faith in the method, seeing the desperate state
into which many Indian bands had fallen and finding no ready
alternative....The Indians themselves, despite their discontents, could not
afford to ignore the benefits obtained only from boarding and industrial
schools... Despite its shortcomings, the residential school evidently met a
need (Grant 1984: 183).

4.0  Preparing the Way for Indian Fducation in the West

Grant’s preference to point out the merits of Indian education, as defined
by the missionaries or the newcomers, is not unique. These kind of statements are
classic in taking credit for rescuing Indian people from havoc and despair, while
taking little responsibility for creating these same conditions. This statement also
assumes that residential schools, whether boarding or industrial, were places of
learning instead of institutions designed for the extermination of Indianness. More
importantly, these kinds of statements presuppose that Indian people could not
have managed to get along without the Europeans, and all they had to offer.

Prior to the arrival of the Europeans, Indians had no need for Christianity,
civilization, nor western education. That this did not represent a void in their lives
is undeniable. It was soon defined as such by those incapable of seeing the world
through another’s eyes and destined to change that which did not fit their natural
order. Consequently, the concepts of "Christianity" and “civilization" moved east

to west following in the wake of the explorers, traders, and missionaries.
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Thirty Year’s Missionary Experience (Hines 1915) provides one example of

a missionary’s life, on the Prairies, before the economic union of church and state
around Indian education. If the early missionaries such as Reverend Hines hoped
to avoid martyrdom, they soon learned to tread carefully and to cultivate the
goodwill of the Indian tribes. Basic survival skills included showing no fear, relying
on converts to bridge communication gaps, cultivating the goodwill of the most
influential Chiefs. and learning the Indian languages as quickly as possible. Later.
many of these life skills fell by the wayside as the missionaries came to realize the
economic benefits of kowtowing to the state. Left to their own devices. however.
the early missionaries knew better than to push the Indians too hard.

Not pushing too hard often meant learning the Indian languages. This skill
was needed to convert Indian people. and was also extremely useful in edging out
the competition from rival denominations. For example. on the way down to his
new posting in the Saskatchewan district of the North-West Territories, Reverend
Hines learned to say the Lord’s Prayer in Cree. However accommodating this
simple act may appear. this symbolized nothing more than another missionary
bent on changing traditional Indian beliets. While Reverend Hines (1915: 108)
was prepared to concede that Indians had some sort of religious beliefs. he was
unable to see beyond what he assumed Indian spirituality lacked in comparison
with "true Christian knowledge". Although the Indians in this area may have only
sought his help to school their children, or to learn a different lifestyle themselves,

Reverend Hines's (1915: 108) foremost objective was conversion itself:
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It is true they admitted in their prayers that Ke-che-Mun-ne-td was

also a great Father, and spoke of Him as such, but to them he was

only Father by creation and not by redemption, for what could they

know about redemption, not having heard ‘redemption’s story’?

... therefore the need for enlightenment and the work of the

Christian missionary is obvious, namely, to teach them the story of

redemption: ... and that the heathen should know this, it becomes

the duty of every Christian to take part in proclaiming the good

news to them! And although much of my work at the first may

appear to be of a purely secular character, it was only a means to an

end, and that was to bring the Indians within the sound of the

Gospel ...

In the absence of reserves and any compulsory schooling requirements,
Reverend Hines (1915: 88) was reduced to "present[ing] each family with a field
as an inducement for them to settle". In this way, Reverend Hines eventually
cultivated the favour of two of the most influential Chiefs in the Fort Carleton
area. This missionary’s influence on Big Child and Star Blanket changed the
course of the Treaty 6 negotiations in 1876. This event, which eventually led to
the concept of Indian education in the West, was still many years in the future.
4.1 The Missionaries and Indian People

The primary thrust behind the government’s policy towards Indian people
has always been to change them into brown Europeans, but at the least possible
cost. Davin’s (1879) recommendations clearly demonstrated that Indian education
would not be an exception. The state’s obsession with economy also made the
missionaries the most likely choice to assume the responsibility for Indian
eduction. First, the government could capitalize on the work of the missionaries

who had already established a number of Indian schools at their own expense.

Secondly, a missionary’s calling in life, which included educating Indian people in
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the ways of civilization, held out better prospects for economy than the salaries
which would be required for a similar number of lay teachers. Also, the belief
that "civilization" and "Christianity” could not be separated had not changed since
Egerton Ryerson pointed out in 1847:

... that the North American Indian cannot be civilized or preserved

in a state of civilization (including habits of industry and sobriety)

except in connection with, if not by the influence of, not only

religious instruction and sentiment but of religious feelings.*

Moreover, the missionaries already lived among the Indians and many had
learned their languages. These personal contacts, and the ability to speak the
Indian languages, had already served the missionaries well in convincing reluctant
Indian parents about the merits of sending their children to mission schools.

Some missionaries. such as Reverend Hines. learned the Indian languages
as they opened up missions. Others were trained to do so before leaving the
seminary. The Roman Catholic missionaries had the greatest advantage in this
regard. Not only did they have access to the information gathered by the
Sulpicians at Oka, but while at Oka they also received instruction in the Iroquois
and Algonquian languages. lLearning the Indian languages had little. if anything,
to do with their trying to understand traditional Indian ways. culture, or beliefs.
For the missionaries. learning the Indian languages represented nothing more than

a useful skill in imposing their religious beliefs on Indian people. For example,

the children at St. Michael’s School were taught to sing hymns in Cree. While this

2 Ryerson, E. Indian Welfare and Training Oblate Commission. Toronto: Memo to

George Vardon, Assistant SuperintendentGeneral, Indian Affairs, 26 May 1847, (pp. 1). (Deschételets
Archives. Ottawa, HR 6503.C73R 4)
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may sound like a magnanimous gesture, it translated into little more than the
quickest means to religious indoctrination. The nuns at this school inadvertently
captured how this little privilege probably hurt, as much as relieved, some of the
children’s pain of separation and loneliness, whey they wrote:

The Indians have a natural taste for singing and music. Yet like all
conquered nations there is a mournful tone throughout their airs.?

Father Charlebois, the second principal at St. Michael’s School, also taught
the younger children to say their prayers in Cree. Again, while this may appear
commendable, there is a huge difference between religious indoctrination and
using Cree to facilitate the academic learning process at Indian residential schools.

Furthermore, often way too much importance is placed on how the Roman
Catholics learned the Indian languages (Grant 1984: 111), or in how they prepared
"dictionaries, grammars, legends, stories, Gospels, and prayer books in nearly thirty
different native languages" (Lascelles 1992: 11; Carriere 1979: 14-16). These
academic tools would not have been necessary if missionaries, in general, had not
been part of the leading edge of disaster which served to destroy so many Indian
languages. A language is the key to any culture. It is the bond which ties parents
to children, and their children to the ancestors and the traditions which they all
hold sacred. A language is not only something to be recorded in books for
posterity. This understanding was not beyond the grasp of church and state which

took decided measures to destroy these precious bonds.

n Sisters Faithful Companions of Jesus. (1876) "Duck Lake". Annals. Glenbow
Museum Archives, np, (n. pag). (Number M1395, File 10)
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While the missionaries lived among the Indians primarily to convert them
to Christianity, at first their impact was relatively constrained as they had no real
authority to exert their will over the Indian tribes. This probably had more to do
with the fact that "the missionaries were few in number relative to the Indians,
[therefore] they could not have had much effect on Indian societies in general"
(Miller 1991b: 58). Until their role in Indian education was formalized, the
missionaries also did not have the omnipotent power of state behind them. They
had to rely on their own persuasive powers with Indian people which often
included discrediting the opposition, both pagan and Christian alike. and instilling
the tear of retrogression in their converts. The Catholic missionaries were also
often ready with graphic pictures of hell to keep their converts in line (Grant
1984: 123-124). Louise Moine (1975: n. pag) described how this tactic later found
its application at the Cu’Appelle Indian Industrial School. She wrote:

There was a horrible picture in our playroom which showed a dying

man being pulled into hellfire by the devils while the angels turned

away.

These pictures transcended the need for fluency in any Indian language.
For the early missionaries, however, the time to really push their belicfs on Indian
people came later when the state. in the form of the Department of Indian
Aftairs. chose to stand behind their activities for its own purposes. "Christianity”
and "civilization", the cornerstones of the government's policy to assimilate Indian
people. tied nicely into the missionaries’ belief that they knew exactly what was

best for Indians. It is obvious that notions of racial superiority also lay hidden
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beneath the cloak of Christianity. The missionaries did not hesitate to capitalize
on these notions to gain access to the Indian education funding. In defending his
right for a Catholic Indian industrial school Father Paquette, the first Principal at
St. Michael’s School, did not mince words when it came to defending the social
transformation deemed possible only through residential school settings:

Le Département devrait comprendre qu'’il ne civilisera jamais les

Sauvages a moins qu’il enléve les enfants des parents, et qu’il ferme

toutes les petites écoles des réserves, ces écoles ne sont bonnes rien

qu’au debut. Si le gouvernment ne veut pas que mon école soit

Industrielle, qu’il la laisse Boarding school [sic] mais qu’il me

permeiire de recevoir au moins 100 enfants, il y a trop de petits

Sauvages qui courent les loges et le bois comme des petites bétes,

tandis qu’ils feraient des gens honnetes et intelligents s’ils €taient

élevés dans une école.®

Furthermore, the missionaries did not necessarily see themselves as equals
when it came to Indian people. Many justified their often questionable actions by
unilaterally placing themselves in the position of the protector of Indian peopic.
In doing so, they deemed themselves superior both in recognizing the situation

and in being able to do something about it. This sense of self-righteous

superiority is aptly captured in Father Lacombe’s exasperation, "Poor miserable

creatures! So stupid and ignorant of what is for their good" (Titley 1992: 97), when
he couldn’t even bribe Indian parents tc leave their children in school.? In this

sense, Indian people had become more than the missionary’s flock. They had

L Memo, M. Paquette to H. Macdowall, 5 January 1895. NAC, Indian Affairs School
Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1. (See Appendix A.1 for translation.)

U

Provincial Archives of Alberta, Lettres du Pére A. Lacombe provenant de i'Institut
Glenbow (1884-85). A. Lacombe to the Indian Commissioner, 9 March 1885 and 24 March 1885, as
cited by Titley (1992: 97).
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somehow become their inferior children. In the early 1900s, when the government

approved the church’s role ip Indian education. they also gave the missionaries the

authority to engage in "directed cultural change" defined by Miller (1991b: 96) as:
the assertion of the ideas and values of the more dominant party in

the relationship over the dependent one; it involved deliberate and

systematic attempts by the dorminant to change the culture of the

weaker; and it subjected the more vulnerable of the two parties not

just to the rules and sanctions of their own society but also to the

taboos and requirements of the more powerful grou,.

For the missionaries, Indian education provided the means for formally
indoctrinating Indian people into the superior European culture. In no uncertain
terms, education also provided the justification for eradicating Indian languages.
beliefs, and customs in a systematic way. As described by Gresko (1972: &6):

In a controlled milieu set apart from camp life and white

communities, young Indians would be transformed by the skiils and

attitudes appropriate to the white world. At the optimum point of

assimilation, they would be relzased to their reserves as exemplars to
others, or to circulate in white society at a level proper to their

station in life. and perhaps even enter communities which would be

separated but autonomous units within Canadian society.

Indian education aiso held out the prospect for grooming Indian
missionaries who could spread the woird more effectively among their own people.
This was perhaps more true of the Protestant churches, who nad worked along
side Indian missionaries for years. than for the Catholics who preferred to have
"white priests” (Grant 1984: 174) at the helm. The Catholics. however, worked
doubly hard to ensure that a sufficient number of Indian girls entered their

auxiliaries. By the time St. Michael's School celebrated its golden jubilee., "The

Sacred Heart [had] royally rewarded their [student’s] generosity by choosing
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among them the first religious vocation of the school" (Le Chevallier 1944: 63).
Indian nuns r:presented the rewards the missionaries drew from Indian education.

With the approval of the church’s role in Indian education, Christianity also
took on a greater urgency tecause baptizing the "pagan” preceded educating the
savage. For the various religious denominations, baptism offered the means of
staking out a claim to a certain group of Indians in order to justify their fair share
of the Indian education funding. Thus, under the banner of Indian education "a
symbiotic relationship emerged between [the] various churches and the state"
(Frideres 1993: 4). As the administrative arm of the state, the role of the
Department of Indian Affairs was to impartially distribute the Indian education
funding among the various churches, while carefully guarding the public purse.
4.2  The Financial and Human Costs of Indian Education

In the late 180C. the funding of day schools on-reserves represented the
cheapest option by far. While Indians preferred to have their children schooled
on-reserves, neither church nor state approved of day schools as they did not fit
the "civihz 1ig" task by removing childrer from their homes. Furthermore, other
than the missionaries, few teachers wanted to work in the unfamiliar setting of a
reserve, particularly for the pittance Indian Affairs was willing to pay. Even those
willing to work for $300 a year soon found their wages reduced to a quarterly per
capita rate of $3 if student attendance fell below twenty-five (Bryce 1907: 9).

On the Prairies. it hecame increasingly difficult to maintain mission schools

as the focal point of "civilization" and "Christianity”" when the Plains Indians
p
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refused to give up their traditional pursuits and took their children on the hunt. It
is obvious that Indians did not see schools as replacing their role as parents, nor
as altering their responsibilities to educate their children in the ways of their
ancestors. As Indian parents often sent their children to school only to learn a
skill, attendance rose and fell depending on other community activities. With no
other recourse, teachers did the best they could to keep their schools filled, or
they simply quit. Missionaries for the most part hung on. In 1884, they were
rewarded for their efforts when the federal government finally acted on Davin’s
(1879) recommendations to build Indian industrial schools in the West.

Indian industrial schools which provided specialized training in the trades
represented a swing from one extreme to another. Where day schools floundered
because of state parsimony, by comparison industrial schools basked in the glory
of a relatively open-ended funding policy until 1892. Indian Affairs generally
bought the land, built the schools, and funded the entire operation of the school.
As a result, four industrial schooss appeared on the Prairies at Qu'Appelle, High
River, Battleford. and later at Regina. At first, the government willingly footed
the bill for Indian industrial schools which represented the supreme "civilizing"
instrument. At industrial schools. Indian children were stripped of their identities,
inculcated in the concepts of thrift and industry, and readied for enfranchisement
as "civilized" and "Christianized" Indians. Consequently, Indian industrial schools
were built in ~entres of civilization as far away as possible from the reserves.

Before the advent of compulsory education missionaries were often at the
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mercy of those Indians who refused to cooperate in this "civilizing" expe -iment. If
given the choice, Indian parents preferred to keep their children in day schools, or
to send them to boarding schools located much closer to the reserves. For the
churches, however, boarding schools lacked many of the qualities which drew them
to industrial schools. Although also residential in nature, boarding schools
provided only a general education. Consequently, they did not receive the same
level of funding as industrial schools. Moreover, economies of scale were harder
to realize at boarding schools where enrolments were kept smaller and the per-
capita rate only increased to $72 per annum in 1892 (Titley 1992: 102). In his
fight to gain industrial school status for St. Michael’s School, Father Paquette
explained the cold realities cf the boarding school per-capita rates as follows:

To sum up, I beg to tell you that $72 for each child will not pay half

the expense. If I had from 100 to 200 children I might, perhaps on

that number get back what I pay out, but thirty children only are the

cause of considerable expense to me, as they require the same

attention as 200 would.?

Father Paquette had written to the Postmaster-General to ask for his
support when his member of Parliament raised the question of industrial school
status for St. Michael’s School in the House of Commons. Secondly, boarding
schools lacked the prestige of industrial schools which as the classic showpieces of

"social engineering” (Miller 1991b: 196) drew welcome visits from Prime Ministers

and Governor Generals. This political patronage became increasingly important

2 Memo, M. Paquette to Adolphe Caron, 12 December 1894. NAC, Indian Affairs
School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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as expeuditures often exceeded the level of funding provided by Indians Affairs.
Moreover, while the per-capita rates for boarding schools were held constant, the
rates for industrial schools fluctuated. In July 1893, when industrial schools came
under the per-capita system Qu’Appelle received $115, Regina $120, High River
$130, and Battleford the highest per-capita rate of $140 (Bryce 1907: 12). While
these higner per-capita rates were extremely important to church and state, Indian
parents had more pressing concerns regarding their children’s "education".

The children they sent to school were not the same ones who came back.
Quite apart from the external changes, such as different clothes and shorter hair,
their children were no longer the same deep down inside where it counts.
Goodwill and Sluman (1984: 93) sharply contradicted Davin’s (1879: 5) prediction
of "happy results” due to Indian residential schools, when they wrote:

Two groups of Cree children had by now been processed through

the schools at Duck Lake [St. Michael’s] and Delmas....But the

experiment had, so far, been a disaster and there was little to say

that was good about the treatment given to the homesick and

bewildered children. The first two groups had returned home so

traumatized by their years away that the other Crees called them

‘the crazy schoolers’. They had forgotten how to function, behave or

even speak like Crees. Although they had acquired some

rudimentary educational skills they had received far more religious

indoctrination. It had been firmly impressed upon them that

everything Indian was backward, useless and evil.

But, these were the lucky ones! They had survived the child labour called
"industrial school training” which increased in proportion with the decreases in

Indian Affairs funding. An inordinate number of Indian children never came

home at all. For many children the "civilizing" experiment did not end with
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school. Their education continued for many years afterward on "outings", a form

of cheap labour where Indian boys worked as farm hands and girls as servants
within the "white" community. With the approval of Indian Affairs, the principals
of residential schools became match makers and arranged the marriages of their
students. Some Indian residential school graduates were also sent off to a colony
experiment at File Hills, where they remained under close supervision of state and
church. Some students ran away from school only to die in the process, while
others took their lives at school (Furniss 1992). Countless numbers of Indian
children died while at school and never returned home. This is the other side of
Indian education. The side which does not even touch on the sexual impropriety
which is only hinted at in the following, when according to Titley (1992: 107):

In April 1914, Henri Grandin, OMI, the Oblate Provincial in

Alberta, accused Nordmann of extravagance and carelessness in his

management and for finding lots of time "pour jouer avec des petites

filles dans votre chambre, ou pour lire les magazines". [sic]*

The disturbing reality of physical, sexual, and emotional abuse cannot be as
easily overlooked in Todd Phillip’s (1993) article entitled "Confronting the Pain”,
and by similar revelations in Breaking the Silence (AFN 1994). While Indian
parents had every right to expect their children to learn the 3Rs, religion, farming,
or even some trades at school, this pain was often all they had to show for their

children’s eduction. There is no way that any of this can be regarded as just those

"occasional horror stories" (Grant 1984: 183) of Indian residential schools.

% Provincial Archives of Alberta, OMI, Dunbow, Boite 1, Correspondance 1914, H.
Grandin to Pere Nordmann, 4 April 1914, as cited by Titley (1992: 107). (Translation..."to play with
lirtle girls in your bedroom, or to read magazines".)
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Furthermore, at Indian residential schools, principals also often renamed
Indian children because they either had pagan names, or they had already been
baptized and named by a rival denomination. While this may sound trivial,
according to the Assembly of First Nations (1994: 35):

Naming--something that is done in words--announces that a child is

someone, that he or she belongs to a particular family as well as to a

particular world. A priest naming a child with a Christian name

announces that the child belongs to that world.

Often this renaming was done not so much to replace unpronounceable
"pagan” names, but quite purposely to strip Indian children of their identity.?’
This new name was given only to be taken away and replaced by a number. Like
all "inmates" in similar institutions, numbers and not names defined the totality of
an Indian child’s life at residential school. Jack Funk (1993: 72) described this
dehumanizing process at the Delmas Boarding School in Saskatchewan as follows:

Each student was given a number which they retained during their

years at Delm.as. Their number determined the order in which they

lined up for anything, and they lined up for everything: classes,

prayers, food, dismissal, bedtime, toilets, and washing in the

mornings, noon and night. Often the students were called by

number rather than by name.

To this day, even the oldest survivors of Indian residential schools can tell
you their numbers without hesitation. Moreover. this renaming of Indian children

also carried long lasting implications. Years later. residential school survivors

often had to use the legal system to prove their identity to qualify for old age

z Note the change in names over time where Mistihai'muskwa was merely translated

into Big Bear and the biblical names which later became the norm with baptism and residential
schooling. For example, Wikaskokiseyin [Sweet Grass] apparently used the name Abraham after he
was converted by Father Lacombe in 1865 (Dickason 1992: 493 n.21).
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pension because they were registered under two different Christian names.

This stripping of Indian identity did not stop with renaming and the
assigning of numbers. It extended to Indian children being forbidden to speak
their native languages, except under special circumstances, and to the often
misunderstood process of cutting the Indian children’s hair. Short hair, like school
uniforms, are often seen as just part and parcel of Indian residential school life.
However, the cutting of hair signified a lot more than just conformity to school
requirements, or emulating the look of the Europeans. It meant cutting into an
Indian belief system where hair worn in a particular fashion held great meaning.

In the 1880s, when Father Lacombe was desperately trying to prevent his
students from leaving Dunbow, he did not cut the Indian boys’ hair because he
was afraid they would leave (Titley 1992: 98). Without the power of state behind
him, Father Lacombe had to bend a little to get Dunbow off the ground. The
missionaries demanded this concession whenever they could because they knew
what long hair meant to Indian people. The first order of nuns at St. Michael’s
School described the significance behind this practice of cutting hair as follows:

By the side of the Holy oils was laid a pair of scissors, as the Fathers

made it obligatory for Pagan men to have their long hair cut off

before Baptism. It is one of their superstitions that the Spirits they

worship dwell in these locks, which they never cut off but wear

plaited with copper wire and dyed red and yellow. This is one of

the greatest sacrifices they have to make and on their refusal
depends whether they will be Christians or not.®

» Sisters Faithful Companions of Jesus. (1876) "Duck Lake". Annals. Glenbow
Museum Archives, np, (n. pag). (Number M1395, File 10)




Later, as Indian residential schools swung into full operation, only the
"pagans” on the reserves had any choice about cutting their hair. Indian children
had no choice, as they were pushed and prodded into conformity through a
process which started with a vigorous scrubbing with disinfectant, followed by a
shearing, and ended with a uniform and a number. One Indian boy described his
reaction to this mandatory shearing in Gresko’s (1992: 79) article entitled,
"Everyday Life at Qu’Appelle Industrial School" as follows:

In keeping with the promise to civilize the little pagan, they went to

work and cut off my braids, which, incidentally, according to the

Assiniboine traditional custom, was a token of mourning--the closer

the relative, the closer the cut. After my haircut, I wondered in

silence if my mother had died, as they had cut my hair close to the

scalp.

Quite obviously, the cutting of hair was not as painless as is often assumed.
These procedures were all part of the indoctrination process which ensured that
"the residential school was geared for a total impact on the child" (Grant 1984:
178). This harsh introduction to Indian residential school life also represented the
often overlooked "symbolic violence" of Indian residential schools, a practice which
Pierre Bourdieu (1977: 196) defined as "the gentle. hidden form which violence
takes when overt violence is napossible”. Other than the vigorous scrubbing with
disinfectant which offended as well as burned. none of the other procedures such

as the cutting of hair, assigning clothes and numbers, separating family members,

and learning a new language can be defined as necessarily violent unto themselves.

Yet, according to Smith (1993: 44) who examined a similar kind of dehumanizing

practice called the Eskimo Disk List System in the North:




67

They are violent, because of their role in the creation and

maintenance of social inequality, sometimes of an intense form,;

symbolic because they are embedded in overtly just, acceptable,

well-intentioned, and benign (euphemized) practices.

Unless we are prepared to dig beneath the euphemism called Indian
"education" and to critically examine all the supposedly "benign practices" this
indoctrination system entailed, we will always question why Indian people remain
so angry about residential schools. James Scott (1990: 188) rightfully stated,
"Virtually every instance of personal domination is intimately connected with a
process of appropriation”. To this, Scott (1990: x) added:

In the cases of slavery, serfdom, and caste subordination ... [e]ach

represents an institutionalized arrangement for appropriating labour,

goods, and services from a subordinate population.

Indian residential schools were no different in this respect. Indian
education represented an institutionalized arrangement which appropriated Indian
children’s labour, family ties, culture, language, respect, and their sense of self-
worth. In trying to understand Indian residential schools from "an Aboriginal way
of knowing", I finally found the heart of this issue when Scott {i990: xi) stated:

Given the choice of structures explored..., it is apparent that I

privilege the issues of dignity and autonomy, which have typically

been seen as secondary to material exploitation.

"Dignity" and "autonomy" are the bottom line issues often called basic
human rights. Unless Indian residential schools are examined within this context,
we will fail to comprehend the travesty still called Indian education. Moreover, to

fully understand the reality of Indian residential schools, the legalized coercive

measures of church and state tied into Indian education must also be examined.
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43 The Indian Act and Indian Education

Of all historical documents, the Indian Act is perhaps the best example of
colonialism and coercion at work. Each time Indians successfully resisted the
newcomer’s efforts to “civilize" or "Christianize" them, a new provision appeared in
the Indian Act to counteract their inexplicable desire not to assimilate. The first
reference to education under the Indian Act appears in 1880 (Venne 1981: 75).
Section 74(1) stipulated that subject to the approval of the Governor in Council,
Chiefs could make regulations regarding the religious denomination of their
teacher.” In reality, Chiefs had no real say because their teacher had to belong
to the religious denomination of the majority of the Band members. Significantly.
this section also referred to "on-reserve" schooling. Obviously, there was also no
room for the education of pagan children under the Indian Act, as these
schooling provisions were tied to membership in the Christian denominations.

In 1884, the Indian Act specified "the attendance at school of children
between six and fifteen" (Venne 1981: 97).® This revision also coincides with the
approval of Davin’s (1879) recommendations on Indian industrial schools. Two
years later, three new sections appeared in the Indian Act (Venne 1981: 164-

165)* which removed whatever little authority Bands may have had regarding

» Statutes of Canada, 1880, chapter 28, section 74(1), as cited by Venne (1981: 75).

% S

tatutes of Canada, 1884, chapter 27, section 10, amending section 74(7), as cited by
Venne (1981: 97).

3 Revised Statutes of Canada, 1886, chapter 43, new sections 137-139, as cited by Venne
(1981: 164-165). (See Appendix A.2 for complete text of these three new sections.)
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schooling on-reserve. The Governor in Council, and not Chiefs and Councils,
now had the authority to make regulations having the full force of law regarding:
the designation or establishment of industrial or boarding schools, compulsory
attendance until the age of eighteen, the arrest and detention by an Indian Agent
of truant children under sixteen, penalties for parents and guardians who wilfully
withheld their children from school, and the application of children’s annuities
towards their care at school, or to the costs of maintaining the school.

In 1894, these three sections were incorporated under section eleven of the
Indian Act (Venne 1981: 164-165).2 According to the Treaties and Historical
Research Centre (1978: 98), this new amendment:

... implemented Hayter Reed’s efforts since 1892 for compulsory

school attendance [sic] of Indian children....Voluntary attendance at

school, particularly in the North-West, had been minimal and the

new legislation enabled the Department to educate Indian children

without either their consent or their parents. The Governor-General

did not hesitate to implement these new provisions. An Order-in-

Council of November 1894 proclaimed regulations concerning

industrial schools, compulsory attendance and support of Indian

children.®

More important to this paper, this means that St. Michael’s Schcol opened

just a few months prior to the enactment of the compulsory attendance regulations

in 1894. Concurrently, Indian Affairs also established an independent School

32
165

Statutes of Canada, chapter thirty-two, section eleven, as cited by Venne (1981: 164-

B CT, Statutes of Canada (57-58 Vic, cap. 32), ss. 137-139 under the 11th clause, pp.
232-33 and Ibid. (58-59 Vic, 1895), Orders-in-council, Canada, pp. liv-lvii: O.C. of 10 Nov. 1894, vide
Canada Gazette, vol. xxvii, p. 832, as cited by the Treaties and Historical Research Centre (1978: 98).




Branch to support their educational activities. In 1897, the School Branch was

dropped when the Department was reorganized into three branches.

In 1920, the compulsory attendance regulations were finally incorporated
under chapter 50 of the Indian Act (Treaties and Historical Research Centre
1978: 115). Despite these measures, Indians continued to undermine church and
state’s concept of Ipdian "education" by withholding their children from school. In
response to D.C. Scott’s request for guidance on implementing these new
regulations, the Oblates advised Indian Affairs of the need for better enforcement
mechanisms. The Oblates also took the opportunity to express their "sentiments"”
regarding parental interference in Indian education. Father Guy wrote:

I would be highly interested to know if the Department has the
intention to enforce the law of compulsory education for the Indians.
What a relief it would be for me to learn one day of the
appointment of a special officer with full authority. It is really
provoking to see people of so inferior a condition as the Indians,
who, for the most part are ignorant of the first word about
education, dictate laws to us and raise all possible difficulties when
they have to place their children at school....I am of the opinion that
a Police Officer or Constable would be the only proper man to
uphold the authority of the law and have it respected. By such a
nomination the success of educational and religious efforts would be
secured and it would be for us a real pleasure to send the Indians
with their foolish and unreasonable complaints to an independent
tribunal.*

Father Guy added that this letter "voices the sentiments of all the Principals

which [sic] whom [ have treated educational problems”.?

M Memo, Joseph Guy to D.C. Scott. 14 March 1921. NAC, Indian Affairs School Files,

RG-10, Reel C-8153, Volume 6041, File 160-5.

3 Memo, Joseph Guy to D.C. Scott, 14 March 1921. Ibid.
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With the 1920 amendments to the Indian Act, day schools took their place

as approved Indian educational institutions along side the residential boarding and
industrial schools. Indian Affairs also undertook to pay for the Indian children’s
transportation to and from residential schools, including their travel costs for
annual vacations. Given these new financial implications, Indian Affairs also
stipulated that Indian children must be placed in the nearest available school of
their religious denomination. The old isolationist policy of removing Indian
children as far away as possible from home went out the door when the
Department had to pay for their transportation costs. With the 1920 amendment
to the Indian Act, the ages for compulsory attendance at school also dropped to
between seven and fifteen years.

As the missionaries and Indian Affairs continued to solidify their position
around the concept of Indian education, it is obvious that Indian people bore the
brunt of the united power of church and state. As Jaine (1993: viii) aptly stated:

Resisting the ‘Christianizing and civilizing’ influences of the church

and state was an onerous task. The government had the force of

law behind it; the church had God.

Despite these odds, Indian people continued to fight for day schools on
their reserves and for more control over their children’s education. But it was an
uphill battle every step of the way. Indian people fought against a deeply
entrenched ideology which decreed that their status as Indians stripped them of
the right 10 make decisions regarding their children’s schooling. The :lief that

the missic 1aries knew exactly what was best for Indian people is exemplified in
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Titley’s (1992) article entitled, "Dunbow Indian Industrial School: An Oblate

Experiment in Education". Titley (1992: 113) concluded his analysis of this Indian
industrial school by stating:

Almost until the very cnd the Oblates persisted in their belief in
Dunbow. Again and again they touted its advantages over day and
boarding schools: complete isolation from undesirable parental
influence. Although they made heroic effcrts, they never overcame
Native opposition nor growing government scepticism. Even when
they finally admitted defeat it was not because they had lost faith in
the experiment. There was no soul-searching, no fundamental
questioning of the premise that education should drive a wedge between
young and old, and that it should alienate chiidren from their parents
and everything they stood for. [my emphasis]

This kind of soul searching about the real and tragic costs of Indian

education has quite often been absent in the analysis of Indian residential school

issues.
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Chapter 5 - A History of Resistance and Struggle on the Prairies

1 sit
ona
man’s back
choking him
and making
him carry
me and yet assure myself and
others that I am sorry for him
and wish to light_n his load by
all possible means — except by
getting off his back (Tolstoy 1886).%
5.0  Broadening the Scope of Submission and Resistance
Leo Tolstoy’s poem appropriately entitled, "What Then Must We Do?"
symbolizes the history of Indian-white relations and the on-going struggle by
Indian people against European domination. This poem encapsulates the ideology
of racial superiority, which purports to want to help Indian people, yet strangles
their initiative instead. Tolstoy’s (1886) poem also captures the reality of an
institutionalized system which dictates that if Indians can no longer live ~s noble
savages of yesterday, then they must be taught to live in the "white man’s world".
Therefore, while Indian socicties are portrayed as strong and ~ibrant in their own

time. their demise is often marked by the arrival of the Europeans. This view of

Indian people as experiencing the brunt of an "advanced technology" (Grant 1984:

% The Mayo Indian Band from the Yukon quuted Tolstoy's poem in a submission to

a Special Commitiee of Parliament examining Indian seli-gove nment (House of Commons 1983: 2).
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46) overlooks the human factor, while condemning Indians to the status of victims
in desperate nced of European intervention. Historians have now proven that
Indians were neither submissive, nor simply victims. Using primary sources,
historians such as Miller (1991b: ix-x) have demonstrated that Indian people:

... had in fact been active agents of commercial, diplomatic, and

military relations with the European newcomers and their Euro-

Canadian descendants....Even after Indians became numerically

inferior to, and economically dependent upon, Euro-Canadians, they

continued to assert themselves in their relations with governments,

churches, and the ordinary population.

These refreshing new interpretations clearly demonstrate how Indians
resisted the European’s efforts to impose their will on them. Examples of their
resistance can be found on the Prairies where Indians signed Treaty 6. but pressed
for contiguous reserves to amass their strength. Leading Chiefs such as Big Bear
also refused to sign Treaty 6 and tried to negotiate better terms. These decisions
were not taken lightly. In 1879, after the buffalo disappeared. Edgar Dewdney the
Indian Commissioner for the North-West Territories "announced that rations were
to be provided only to Indians + - had taken treaty” (Tobias 1983: 526). Despite
the measures taken by Indian Affairs and the North-West Mounted Police. the
Plains Indians also continued to hold thirst dances to discuss their treaty
grievances. Later, the Plains Indians also defied the assimilationist polices of
church and state by withholding their children from school. History has proven

that their resistance was met with increasingly coercive measures by the state.

These measures were later enshrined in Canadian legislation as the pass system.

the ban on traditional Indian dances. and compulsory schooling regulations.
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In Loic Wacquant’s (1992) discussion of Bourdieu’s sociology, there is more
to the analysis of dominated cultures than the simple distinction between
submission and these more conspicuous and recognizable examples of outright
resistance. Bourdieu argues that the concepts of "submission" and "resistance"
may not be as clear cut, nor as oppositional as they seem. Often what is defined
as submission may upon closer examination be resistance, or vice versa. In trying
to make this distinction clearer Wacquant (1992: 23-24) posed two questions:

If, to resist, I have no means other than to make mine and to claim

aloud the very properties that mark me as dominated (according to

the paradigm "black is beautiful"), ... is that resistance? If on the

other hand, I work to efface everything that is likely to reveal my

origins, or to trap me in my socia: position (an accent, physical

composure, family relations), should we then speak of submission?

These questions of what constitutes submission or resistance are critical in

trying to uncover the hidden dynamics of Indian residential schools. Often, what is

not visible is equally as important as what we do see. In the Breaking the Silence

(AFN 1994), one man who shared his story about Indian residential school life
simply stated, "I survived by being quiet and submissive" (AFN 1994: 54). Was
this submission, or had James Scott (1990: 193) accurately analyzed the hidden
dynamics of domination when he stated:
... most subordinates conform and obey %ot because they have
internalized the norms of the dominant, but because a structure of
surveillance, reward, and punishment makes it prudent for them to
comply.

Goodwill and Sluman (1984: 99) addressed the need for the appearance of

submission at Indian residential schools when they stated, "There were so many
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rules, regulations and punishable offenses that the children soon learned that
veiled eyes, poker faces and silence were the only effective method of keeping out
of trouble". According to James Scott (1990: 34), these outward signs of
compliance are all part of the "hidden transcripts" of resistance, because:

What may look from above like the extraction of a required

performance can easily look from below like the artful manipulation

of deference and flattery to achieve its own end.

Along the same lines, Basil Johnson (1988: 11) shared his residential school
experiences by choosing to write about "the incidents that brought a little cheer
and relief to a bleak existence" instead of "recalling the dark and dismal". Why is
the former often seen as a subtle form of submission and readily accepted by the

general public, waile the "dark and the dismal” is rejected. but remains the only

proof of resistance? The Ottawa Citizen dismissed the dark and dismal realities

of Breaking tne Silence (AFN 1994) as "ideological rant”, yet applauded Basil
Johnson’s (1988) book Indian School Days as "a full, vivid and mature account ...
because Johnson spares no detail of the hardship he endured. and vet never loses
his sense of perspective. nor even his sense of humour."¥ Bourdieu is right.
Submission and resistance are not always what they seem. Furthermore. their
acceptance, as one or the other. is often tied into what we want to believe about

situations such as Indian residential schools.

In fact, Indian School Days (Johnson 1988) is aill about the various types of

3 Johnson. William. "ldeological overkili fuelling myth of Indian residential schools”.

Ottawa Citizen. 29 August 1994.
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hidden resistance which were commonplace at Indian residential schools. On one
hand, Johnson clearly demonstrates how some Indian children openly resisted
their situation, while others merely learned to cuitivate angelic personas of
compliance. Concealed beneath the humour in Johnson’s book are vivid examples
of the "low-profile forins of resistance" which Scott (1990: 19) called "infrapolitics".
Examples of this passive resistance to authority included: pretending not to hear
the wake up bell when it was loud enough to wake the dead, waiting to be tossed
cut of bed and then getting up slowly enough to raise the ire of the Priest but not
so slow as to risk bodily harm, using the anonymity of a crowded room to
challenge a staff member’s authority, playing into the "dumb Indian" stereotype,
pilfering focd and dawdling being the most common form of passive resistance.

These Indian children learned who to push and exactly how far. They
constantly pushed the edges of authority with actions, not so innocuous as to be
missed as resistance, but not so conspicuous as to risk an open confrontation
either. When the children pushed too hard the Indian residential school
authorities restored "the symbolic status quo" (Scott 1990: 57) by making an
example out of someone, or by punishing everyone. Evidence of this kind of
subtle resistance is virtually invisible within the primary documentation on Indian
residential schools. This is why, according to James Scott (1990: xii):

... that even close readings of historical and archival evidence tends

to favor a hegemonic account of power relations. Short of actual

rebellion, powerless groups have..., a self-interest in conspiring to

reinforce hegemonic appearances.

Conspiring to reinforce "hegemonic appearances” cannot be consiueicd the
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same as submission. Indian people struggled against their situation. Within the
primary documentation, the evidence of their resistance is visible not so much by
what they said or did, although this is also there, but in how the dominant
responded. The evidence of their struggle is often hidden beneath e moralistic
and ethnocentric views of church and state, which defines Indian resistance as
signs of maladjustment or deviance. The latter, of course, serves to justify the
need for more coercive measures. For example, there is no need for compulsory
attendance legislation if Indian people willingly send their children to school.
Therefore, the symbol of Indian people’s resistance is evidenced by the need for a
law to ensure that they comply with the demands of church and state. Grant
(1984: 250) also recognized that some kind of resistance niay have been a factor
in the acceptance of Christianity by some Indian people when he stated:

Sti.i another possibility, although seldom raised directly. is suggested

by frequent hints in missionary records. It is conceivable that for

many and perhaps even for most Indians the profession of

Christianity was a subtle but effective way of rejecting it? Such a

possibility lurks behind Le Caron’s summary of Huron response:

‘They will believe all you please, or, at least, will not contradict you:

and they will let you, too, believe what vou will.’

The history of the Prairies provides many examples of how Indian people
resisted the dual forces of "Christianity” and "civilization". This struggle started as
the newcomers claimed the home of the Plains Indians as their own and reached a
peak with the divide and conquer tactics employed by church and state at the

Treaty 6 negotiations. The struggle culminated in an insidious process which

moved the goal of directed change from community to children. as church and
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state joined forces under the banner of Indian education. Indian education was
preceded by three decades of rapid change for the Plains Indians. This period
also witnessed many forms of resistance by Indian people against church and suate.
5.1  The Prairie Fire Called "Christianity” and "Civilization"

According to Friesen (1987), 1860 to the 1880s heralded drastic changes in
the lives of the Plains Indians as self-sufficiency gave way to starvation, and Indian
residential schools became a reality on the Prairies. As the government eved the
West for its possibilities, the Plains Indians rapidly replaced their eastern kin as
the "Indian problem". The ideas for solving this Indian problem which originated
in the East also filtered westward. Once again the missionaries followed in the
wake of the traders. While some missionaries followed th- Plains Indians who
lived by the hunt and others worked in settlements, their battle cry never wavered.
The missionaries had come to "Christianize" and "civilize"” the unenlightened
Indians of the Plains. Indeed, the Plains Indians were judged far more needy than
their eastern kin. Not only were the Plains Indians nomadic, a great detriment to
missionary work, but their limited contact with the "white man" marked them as
the true savages. This did not free the government to just take their land.

First, the Royal Proclamation prevented such unilateral actior. Secondly,
the Plains Indians represented a powerful military force who ruled the Prairies
numerically. In the 1870s, there were approximately 25-35,000 Indians in the
western interior, but less than 2,000 Europeans (Friesen 1987: 137). The fact that

Sitting Bull had crossed the "medicine line" after taking care of Custer’s bravado
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at Little Big Horn was probably reminder enough that these Indians could not be
underestimated. The government had little choice but to negotiate with the Plains
Indians, a process which had already successfully produced five treaty agreements.
The government was not completely at the mercy of the Plains Indians. The
missionaries who began arriving on the Prairies, by the mid-nineteenth century,
had already started paving the way for change.

The Red Inaians of the Plains (Hines 1915) provides one example of how
the early missionaries set up missions, induced the Indians to settle, taught them
the rudiments of farming, schooled their children, and then watched their hard
work disappear as the Indians set off on the hunt once again taking their children
with them. The missionaries really had no choice in the matter. Without the
power of state behind them, the missionaries had to rely on their persuasive
powers to keep their Indian converts by their side. The nomadic lifestyle of the
Plains Indians was not the only cause for consternation. Another problem was the
constant threat of losing their flock to a rival denomination.

Certainly. the Plains Indians were not adverse to switching Christian
alliances if they did not get what they wanted from the missionaries. In 1874,
Reverend Hines succeeded in setting up his mission because one of the leading
Chiefs in the Fort Carleton area asked for his help. Chief Star Blanket wanted to
prepare for the upcoming changes due to the dwindling buffalo herds. He had
also grown tired of waiting for the Catholic priest who had been promised for over

a decade, but never came. While the missionaries may have resented rivalry from
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the other Christian denominations, competition with "paganism" was another story.

In his book, The Red Indians of the Plains, Reverend Hines (1915: 297)
told the story of an old Indian man who although baptized still "practised all the
rites and ceremonies of the heathen". With the other Christian denominations
barking at the door, Reverend Hines was in no position to push for a quick
resolution. By 1899, he finally succeeded in convincing this old Indian man to
demonstrate his commitment to Christianity by giving up his sacred medicine
bundle. To reinforce the symbolism, Reverend Hines (1915: 300) included a
picture of this old man "burn[ing] his idols outside the mission church" while the
Christian Indians sang Rings the Bells of Heaven in Cree. He (1915: 299) added:

The poor old fellow joined in singing the hymn as best he could, but

his emotions would get the better of him, and he lost control of his

voice. We finished the hymn with the old man leaning upon my

shoulder weeping, and catching at a word or two of the hymn when

he could control his feelings.

In his blind faith in Christianity, Reverend Hines never even stops to
consider the possibility that this old man may have been overwhelmed nor by his
gain, but by his loss. This old Indian man had just opened the door tc losing his
language, culture, and his relationship with the Great Spirit. One day soon he
would also lose his grandchildren to Indian residential schools where the
missionaries would try and turn them into brown replicas of themselves. This
missionary’s unshakable faith in Christianity. and the beliefs we still hold today

about the relevance of traditional Indian beliefs, all combine in preventing us from

seeing this Indian man as anything but happy. What if the picture was reversed
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and a missionary stood before the fire with his "idols" in his hands. Would anyone
have to explain to us why he may be crying? This is the essence of "an Aboriginal
way of knowing". This little scenario is a symbol of the assumptions we often hold
about whiute-Indian relations and the struggle by Indian people to be v.derstood.

In spite of these successes, the missionaries did not necessarily have an easy
time in converting Indians to Christianity. In his book, Moon of Wintertime,
Grant (1984) acknowledged that Indian people were not just empty spiritual
vessels waiting to be fulfilled with Christianity. Grant provided an example of how
one Indian man took drastic measures to thwart the onslaught of Christianity and
to remind his people of their own traditional beliefs. Grant (1984: 117) wrote:

In 1859 a young Chipewyan, identified in the records only as the son

of a chief named Bear Foot, called on the people of lle-a-la-Crosse

to abandon Roman Catholic practices and accept the authenticity of

his visions. He beat up Grandin, the Oblate missionary there. and

threatened violence on a visit to Stanley later that spring.

This must have been a traumatic experience for a young Oblate missionary
bent on "Christianizing" and "civilizing" Indian people. One wonders what impact
thi: incident might have had on this man. who was destined to become a Bishop,
and to influence the lives of so many Indian people. That time arrived soon
enough. In 1890, Bishop Grandin secured approval trom Indian Affairs to buiid
an industrial school for the Catholic Indians in his diocese. Before this could
happen, howe' »r, the missionaries had to ensure that the Plains Indians signed

Treaty 6 and moved onto reserves where they had a better chance of success.

In 1875, Lieutenant-Governor Alexander Morris asked George McDougall,
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a Methodist missionary, to advise the Plains Indians to prepare for the Treaty 6
negotiations to be held at Fort Carleton and Fort Pitt the following summer.
Ironically, this was the same missionary who had removed the "Iron Stone", the
revered protector of the buffalo and Indian people from its sacred resting place,
knowing full well that the Plains Indians prophesied "that sickness, war, and
decrease of buffalo would follow this sacrilege” (Dempsey 1984: 38).

Despite the overwhelming accuracy of this prediction, the Plains Indians
were by no means prepared to just accept whatever the Queen’s representatives
had to offer when it came to Treaty 6. Certainly, the Plains Indians recognized
the gravity of their situation as the buffalo began to disappear from the Prairies.
Through the "moccasin telegraph” they also knew the provisions contained in the
other treaties, and the Plains Indians were determined to do better. James
McKay, one of the Treaty 6 Commissioners, acknowledged their resolve when he
wrote that the Plains Indians "seemed quite indifferent on the matter, unless they
received better terms than has been given to the other Indians" (Dempsey 1984:
66-67).** Furthermore, when Star Blanket and Big Child stopped the laying of
telegraph wires through their territory, they made it quite clear that the Plains
Indians were not prepared to let the government proceed without a treaty.
Church and state were probably quite taken aback by their actions as these two

Chiefs were also Christians Indians who had already taken up a farming.

38 James McKay to A. Morris, 28 March 1877, NAC, RG 10, volume 3636, file 6694-2,
as cited by Dempsey (1984: 66-67).
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The government also recognized what it stood to gain by signing a treaty
with the Plains Indians. The Canadian government knew the Americans had their
eye on the Prairies. Alexander Morris (1880: 168) confirmed this when he wrote
that the treaties were "essential to the peace, if not the actual retention, of the
country". Morris (1880: 288) also recognized that the Canadian sysiem of reserves
had the "tendency to diminish the offensive strength of the Indian tribes". This
was not a minor consideration because the Plains Indians still far outnumbered the
newcomers. Little did Alexander Morris anticipate that the Plains Indians would
try to use the reserve system to amass their strength on contiguous reserves.

Not all the Plains Indians wanted the same guarantees out of the Treaty 6
negotiations. The "settlement Indians" (Goodwill and Sluman 1984: 13) who
leaned towards preparing for the future by learning an alternative lifestyle wanted
farm equipment and instructors. Conversely. the Indians who still lived by the
hunt wanted to ensure their self-sufficiency by negotiating assistance in controlling
the depletion of the buffalo herds. Big Bear. a non-Christian Indian who lived
exclusively by the hunt, was not overly impressed by the government’'s sudden
generosity in sending George McDougall with presents to smooth the way for the
treaty negotiations. Big Bear clearly expressed his misgivings when he declared:

We want nune of the Queen’s presents! When we set a fox trap we

scatter pieces of meat all around but when the tox gets into the trap

we knock him on the head. We want no baits! Let vour Chiefs
come like men and talk to us (Dempsey 1934: 63).%

» George McDougall to Alexander Morris, 23 October 1875, Morris Papers,

MG12/B1/1136, Provincial Archives of Manitoba, as cited by Dempsey (1984: 63).
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In using a fox analogy, Big Bear quite obviously was not prepared to
underestimate "the superior cunning of the white man", a trait which Davin (1879:
11) later bragged about in his recommendations on Indian industrial schools. Big
Bear’s scepticism did not stand him in good stead with George McDougall. The
Treaty 6 negotiations had not yet even started and already Big Bear and his non-
Christian followers had been labelled as "mischief-makers" and mere "conjurers"”
(Morris 1880: 174). Big Bear’s hopes of preserving his hunting lifestyle sharply
contradicted with the government’s plan to move the Plains Indians onto reserves
out of the way of settlement. The government knew that the buffalo, or the lack
thereof, represented the real key to successful settlement on the Prairies. Thus,
the struggle by the buffalo hunters to preserve a lifestyle, which had sustained
them for generations, began in real earnest with the Treaty 6 negotiations. But
the cards were stacked against the buffalo hunters who rejected the government'’s
benevolence in wanting to turn them into good Christian farmers.

5.2  Treaty 6: Benevolence or Divide and Conquer Tactics?

Based on his examination of the manuscripts prepared by Alexander Morris
and Sir John A. Macdonald, Taylor (1991: 208) has questioned the interpretation
that Canada was "deliberate. wise, and benevolent” in its treaty negotiations.
Taylor’s examination shows that it was the Indians who successfully negotiated the
extras such as farming equipment into the treaties. Taylor suggests that the
government’s wisdom is best relegated only to their plan to keep costs down while

still concluding the treaty negotiations. Dempsey’s (1984) and Tobias’s (1983)
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research on Treaty 6 supports the interpretation that Indians were active players
in the treaty negotiations. While the Plains Indians were under great pressure to
negotiate a treaty, they also struggled to secure the best deal they could. In the
Treaty 6 area, not all the Plains Indians he'd similar views on what was needed to
ensure their survival and that of the future generations.

With the exception of Chief Beardy’s people, the Fort Carleton Indians did
not depend on the buffalo for survival. Although Fort Carleton represented the
first stop in the Treaty 6 negotiaticiis, Chief Beardy's people weie not present. A
spiritual vision told Beardy that the treaty negotiations should be held at Duck
Lake, a short distance from Fort Carleton. Alexander Morris refused his request.
Therefore, these negotiations were held primarily with the Plains Indians who had
already taken up farming. or were prepared to move in that direction. Among
these settlement Indians, Star Blanket and Big Child were not only the two leading
Chiefs, but Christians under the influence of Reverend Hines. The missionaries,
like Reverend Hines, who had swarmed to the Treaty 6 negotiations were not
about to let whatever influence they had on the Christiin Indians go to waste.
While Grant (1984: 154) seems to believe that "the presence of Anglican,
Methodist. Presbyterian, and Roman Catholic representatives at the signing of
Treaty Number 6 in 1876 lent dignity to the proceedings”. Dempsey (1984 73) was
probably closer to assessing the true impact of their presence when he staied:

One result of the missionary involvement was of course. the feelings

and concerns of the non-Christian buttalo hunters were not
expressed.
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Moreover, it was probably an undignified process with the missionaries
jealously guarding their flock against encroachment, while trying to ensure that
their hopes for the future of Indian people became part of the treaty negotiations.
While the missionaries no doubt cared about their flock, they needed the Plains
Indians to settle if :neir goals of "Christianity” and "civilization" were ever to take
hold. Their best chance lay in convincing the Plains Indians to sign Treaty 6 and
to move onto reserves. Not all the Fort Carleton Indians, however, were delighted
at the prospect of negotiating for small pieces of the land which had sustained
them for generations. The sheer audacity of the Treaty 6 negotiations irritated
Poundmaker who, according to Dempsey (1984: 69) interjected:

The governor mentions how much land is to be given to us. He says

649 acres. one mile square for each family. he will give us. This is

our land. It isn't a piece of pemmican to be cut off and given in little

pieces back to us. It is ours and we will take what we want.

Poundmaker was not a leading chief. The final decisions regarding Treaty
 were left to Star Blanket and Big Child who shouldered the burden of preparing
their people for the drastic changes to come. Under the threat of impending
doom. the Fort Carleton Indians did the best they could to ensure the future of
their people and signed Treaty 6. By the time Alexander Morris proceeded to
Chief Beardy’s camp. the Treaty 6 die had already been cast. Chiet Beardyv was
only able to comment on the inadequacy of some of the terms. and to extract
some vague promises about protecting the buffalo, before he too signed Treaty 6.

If Alexander Morris had begun the Fort Carleton negotiations with Chief Beardy,

the outcome of Treaty 6 might have been very different. Indeed. the Treaty 6
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Commissioners intentionally gravitated towards the leading Christian Chiefs. The
missionaries also did their best to affect the outcome of these negotiations. While
the Anglicans exerted the most influence on the two leading Chiefs at Fort
Carleton, the Catholics had their eye on the Fort Pitt negotiations.

Bishop Grandin sent Father Scollen to attend the Treaty 6 negotiations.
On his way, Father Scollen found out that Sweet Grass, a leading Chief and a
Catholic convert, was away hunting and would miss the Fort Pitt negotiations.
Father Scollen immediately advised Alexander Morris "that he was of [the]
opinion that his absence would be a great obstruction to a treaty” (Morris 1880:
183). Morris did not hesitate long in sending a messenger to inform Sweet Grass
of the treaty negotiations. The same c( "rtesy was not extended to Big Bear who
was also out hunting. By the time Big Bear found out about the negotiations and
had come in to speak for the Crees and the Stonies. the negotiations had already
bzen concluded with Sweet Grass. With the support of the missionaries. the
Christian Indians had once again dominated the negotiations. According to John
McKay, a Presbyterian missionary who was present at the Treaty 6 negotiations:

It was very gratifying to notice that the influence of the Christian

Indians, although a small iminority with regard to numbers, seemed

to preponderate in the deliberations of the whole body (Dempsey

1984: 72).%

Indeed, the missionaries interfered as best they could to ensure that the

leading Christian Chiefs were present at the Treaty 6 negotiations. Bishop

© James McKay to A. Morris, 28 March 1877, NAC, RG 10, volume 3636, file 6694-2,
as cited by Dempsey (1984: 72).
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Grandin also travelled from Edmonton to Fort Pitt, a considerable distance in
those days, just to reassure the Treaty Commissioners of his "good will" (Morris
1880: 179). For the missionaries, Treaty 6 held out the prospect of no longer
having to chase after the Plains Indians and no more Christianity on the run. The
life of the pioneer missionary and the threat of martyrdom were about to end.

The Commissioners were also not above using divide and conquer tactics at
the Treaty 6 negotiations. They knew. as did the missionaries. that the numbers
of Christian Indians did not really matter as long as the leading Christian Chiefs
were on sfde. Significantly, while the Treaty Commissioners were prepared to give
due respect to the Christian Chiefs. they did not extend the same courtesy to
Chief Be.'rdy who dared to believe that a mere pagan vision would warrant
changing the location of the treaty negotiations. Big Bear a non-Christian Indian
who merely wanted to preserve his way of life was also intentionally left out of the
Fort Pitt negotiations. It is hardly surprising that Big Bear refused to sign Treaty
6 when he finally reached Fort Pitt on 13 September 1876.

Three vear later. when Big Bear still refused to sign this treatv, Edgar
Dewdney who had assumed Alexander Morris’s duties "announced that he would
adopt an old Hudson’s Bay Company practice of recognizing any adult male Cree
as chief of a new band if he could mduce 100 or more persons to recognize him as
leader” (Tobias 1983: 526). In his way. Edgar Dewdney circumnvented Big Bear's
opposition and appointed new Chiefs who took Big Bear's followers into treaty.

Big Bear held out for three more years and finally signed Treaty 6 in 1882.

R



53 When Buffalo and Rations Become Weapons

In trying to fathom what the Plains Indians struggled against. it is all too
easy to simply focus our attention on the underhanded tactics used by church and
state to conclude the Treaty 6 negotiations. While this divisive approach
represented part of the struggle, it is important not to overiook the broader issue
of how the hunting lifestyle of the Plains Indians stood in the way of missionary
activity and settlement in the West.

George McDougall who started preaching among the Plains Indians in the
1860s knew the buffalo stood in the way of the "Christianity” and "civilization” on
the Prairies. Even before the Treaty 6 negotiations. he gave Reverend Hines little
hope for the success of his Indian mission stating that the Plains Indians would not
scttle down "so long as there was a single buffalo to be hunted” (Hines 1915: 130).
Later, as Canadian government laid plans to populate the West with settlers,
almost everyone knew there was little hope of clearing a path for immigration as
long as the buffalo sustained the Indians in their nomadic lifestyle.

The Plains Indians also knew that the buffalo represented the key to their
future. When Sweet Grass signed Treaty 6 he did not forget what the buffalo
mean to thoss Plains Indians, such as Big Bear, who wanted to maintain their
freedom on the Prairies. Before signing Treaty 6. he told Morris (1880: 236):

I have pity on all those who have to live by the buffalo. If I am

spared until this time next year I want this my brother [the Treaty

Commissioners] to commence to act for me, thinking thereby that

the buffalo may be protected. It is for this reason that [ give you my
hand.
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Despite the pleading of Swzet Grass and the promises made to Beardy and
Big Bear, the government had already acted way too slowly and ineffectively to
save the buffalo. By 1879, the buffalo disappeared from the Prairies and many of
the Plains Indians faced starvation. The following speech made in the House of
Commons by Sir John A. Macdonald illustrates just how expendable the buffalo
were to progress called settlement on the Prairies:

Formerly the Indians in the North-West ... subsisted on buffalo.

Buffalo was their bread. wine. and meat. and that supplv utterly and

totally failed. I am not at all sorry. as I have said before. that this

happened. So long as there was a hope that buffalo would come

into the country. there was no means of inducing the Indians to

settle down on their reserves. The total of the buffalo the vear

before last. and last year. caused the Indians to be thrown on the

mercy of the Government in the North-West. We could not. as

Christians and men. allow them to starve. and we were obliged. no

matter what the cost might be. to furnish them with food. It was

better to feed them than to fight them. (Funk and Lobe 1991: 5).4

These conditions of extreme privaton also gave Edgar Dewdneyv the
weapon he needed to force the recalcitrant Plains Indians into signing Treaty 6
and moving onto reserves. Civilized practice. however. demanded that rations and
not guns had become Canada’s weapon of choice. Dewdney's practice of
withholding rations was cheaper too and bound not to ottend the profoundly cost-
conscious Deputy Superintendent-General of Indian Affairs in Ottawa.

In his article entitled. "Canada’s Subjugation of the Plains Cree” Tcbias

(1983) exposes the increasingly coercive tactics used by Edgar Dewdney to force

“ Sir John A. Macdonald. Commons Debates. 9 May 1880, (pp. 108.). as cited by Funk

and Lobe (1991: 5).
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the Plains Indians into signing Treaty 6. Tobias also provides vivid examples of
how the Plains Indians struggled against these coercive measures which carried the
full powers of state behind them. While Dewdney’s heavy-handed policies only
increased the misery of the Plains Indians, it won him the respect of his superiors.
In 1881, the government added Lieutenant-Governor to his title of Indian
Commissioner, a promotion which gave him "complete control over Indian Affairs
in the North-West Territories” (Tobias 1983: 537). In 1888, Dewdney finally
reached the top and became the Superintendent-General of Indian Affairs.

As Dewdney ascended the bureaucratic ladder. the Plains Indians continued
to slide into a deeper state cf misery. The winters of 1883-84 were particularly
hard, and the Indians were literally starving to death on the Prairies. When the
Indians started taking desperate measures. the government officials responded by
carefully guarding its warehouses against theft. These conditions also alarmed
Superintendent Crozier of the North-West Mounted Police. In 1884, he wrote to
Ottawa with his own rendition of the "feed or fight them" scenario trumpeted in
the House of Commons by Sir John A. Macdonald just a few years earlier:

Considering all that is at stake. it is poor, yes, false economy to cut

down the expenditure so closely in connection with the feeding of

the Indians that it would seem as if there was a wish to see upon

how little a man can work or exist....My firm conviction is if some

such policy as I have outlined is not carried out, then there is only

one other and that is to fight them (Goodwill and Sluman 1984:
34).¢

“ Crozier 1o Comptroller White, 1884. NWMP, volume 2, (pp. 67). as cited by Goodwill
and Sluman (1984: 34).




As the situation continued to deteriorate and the exnense of providing

rations rose accordingly. Sir John A. M=cdonald’s Chris*ian charity of a few vears
earlier also began to wear thin. When questioned in the House of Commons on
the quality of the food the Plains Indians were receiving he countered:

The honourable gentleman says there is a fraud on the Indians
because the food is impeiiect. It cannot be considered a fraud on
the Indians because they have no right to that food. They are
simply living on the benevolence and charity of the Canadian
Parliament, and, as the old adage savs. beggars should not be
choosers....Even in Ontario, the honourable gentleman has seen and
heard of contractors sending in inferior articles. which were
afterwards condemned. Up there. they are sent to a distant post.
they cannot be condemned. they have to be used. [ do not think
there has been any unwholesome food given. although it has not.
perhaps come up to standard (Chamberiin 1975: 175).4

Perhaps this endless struggle just to get enough to eat explains why Indian
people may have been more willing. at least initially. to entrust their children to
the missioraries or to send them to residential schools. On the Poundmaker
Reserve in Saskatchewan. Father Cochin recognized only too well the link
between hunger and Indian children’s desire for schooling when he wrote:

I saw the gaunt children dving of hunger come to my place tc be
instructed. Although it was minus 30 to 40 degrees their bodies
were scarcely covered with torn rags. These poor children came to
catechism and to school. It was a pity to see them. The hope of
having a little morsel of good drv cake was the incentive which drove
them to this cruel exposure each day more no doubt than the desire
of educating themselves. This privation made many die (Goodwill
and Sluman 1984: 33).¢

o Sir John A. Macdonald. Commons Debates. 15 Apn‘l 18%6. (pp. 738). as cited by

Chamberlin (1975: 175).
o“

Father Lous Cochin. C.N.W.H. Society. volume 1. as cited by Goodwill and Sluman
(1984: 33).

e
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Not even a decade had passed since Treaty 6 was signed and already self-
sufficiency eluded many of the Plains Indians. Hadn’t Alexander Morris told Red
Pheasant who dared to demand more out of the Treaty 6 negotiations "that what
was offered was a gift as they still had their old mode of lire" (Morris 1880: 186)?
Somewhere along the line, the lives of the Plains Indians had been turned upside
down. Those promises which Morris (1880: 202) had said would "last as long as
that sun shines and yonder river flows" had long since disappeared. The very
thing which Alexander Morris had also tried to prevent had happened, and "but a
few suns [had] pass[ed]” and already the Plains Indians were "melt[ing] away like
snow before the sun in spring-time" (Morris 1880: 223). Moreover, it was a slow
and painful death. Now, all the Plains Indians had to fight with were the words
included in Treaty 6. One of these promises was schooling for their children.

54 Indian Education: Another Broken Promise?

In much of the histarical literature it is easy to come away with the
impression that the government finally responded to its Indian educational
commitments by sending Davin on his fact-finding mission to the United States.
In reality, they could have saved Davin the trip if they had taken the time to read
the following clause in Treaty 6 (Morris 1880: 353) which states:

And further. Her Majesty agrees to maintain schools for instruction

in such reserves hereby made. as to Her Government of the

Dominion of Canada may seem advisable, whenever the Indians of

the reserve shall desire it.

It appears Quite clear that the government had already agreed to prc ide

schools on-reserve, whenever the Indians were ready for them. While on-reserve
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schooling may hLave been promnised, day schools did little in the way of changing
t_e lifestyles of Indian people. At day schools Indian children learned to read and
write, and then went home again to continue with the cultural learning, which was
the responsibility cf their parents and the community. Day schools were not the
“experiment(s] in social engineering" (Miller 1989: 196) which had already been
tried with some success in the East. The latter was what the government was
hoping for when it sent Davin to visit the Americans and to meet with those
"leading men, clerical and lay. who could speak with authority”" (Davin 1879: 9) on
Indians. Davin also did not hesitate to pass on his own superior knowledge about
Indians. Davin (1879: 11) chided the government for allowing the Indians to think
they might even have some say in the education of their children. He wrote:

Guaranteeing schools as one of the considerations for surrendering

the title to land was, in miy opinion. trifling with a great duty and

placing the Government in no dignified attitude....Such a guarantee.

moreover, betrays a want of knowledge of the Indian character. It

might easily have been realized. (it is at least thinkable). that one of

the results would be to make the Chiefs believe they had some right

to a voice regarding the character and management of the schools as

well as regarding the initiatory step in their establishment.

Davin also recognized that. despite their desperate circumstances. not all
Indian parents would willingly send their children to industrial schools far away
from home. To counteract this possibility. Davin (1879: 13) recommended that:

Some distinction should be made between the treatment of parents

who send their children regularly to the day-school. and those who

are either careless whether their children go to school or not. or who

are wholly opposed to their children attending school, as some are.

To the first, an additional ration of tea and sugar might be given.

This is perhaps the most clever recommendation in Davin's report because
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it is framed around the principle of rewards and not punishment. In time of the
Indians’ greatest need, Indian parents were to be given extra rations, tea and

sugar no less, if they willingly sent their children to school. Even the worst cynic

would have trouble labelling this recommendation as anything more than just a bit

of "benevolent aggression”". Davin’s recommendation denies, by omission, that
rations could also be withheld if Indian parents refused to send their children to
school. It is doubtful, however, if any of the Treaty 6 Indians were taken in by
Davin’s benevolent recommendation. Under Edgar Dewdney’s kind tutelage. the

Plains Indians already knew what happened to their rations when they did not

comply with the government’s wishes. It did not have to be spelled out for them.

More recently. Dickason (1992: 334) contradicted the notion that rations were
only used as a system of rewards for school attendance when she wrote:

At first, education was not compulsory; however, agents could and
did apply pressure on parents, usually in the form of withholding
rations, to persuade them to part with their children....school
attendence was not made compulsory until 1894 when Hayter Reed
had the Indian Act amended to that effect.

Titley (1986a: 78) supported Dickason's contention that rations were used
as a weapon against Indian parents for schooling purposes when he also wrote:

Education was not compulsory for Indians when the industrial
schools were first established, and securing a regular supply of pupils
remained a persistent difficulty. Indian Agents played a role in the
selection of prospective candidates, and they were permitted to
employ pressure, such as withholding rations. on recalcitrant parents
to persuade them to part with their children.*

* PAC RGI10, vol.3597, file 1350, J.P. Wright (agen, File Hills) to Commissioner
H. Reed, 23 December 1890, as cited by Titley (198 . 78).
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Once again, this demonstrates the power of state to continuously exert its
will on Indian people. Chamberlin (1975: 8-9) also recognized not only the
omnipotent powers of the governmental state. which he describes as "one of the
most misunderstood of the engines of progress”, but what Indian people have been
struggling against for years. More specifically. Chamberlin (1975: 8-9) stated:

The idea of a usufructuary right ... was obliterated not so much by

treaties, though they were a crucial factor in the process. as by one

of the most misunderstood of the engines of progress — the modern

governmental state, with its righteous conviction and inordinate

power to do anvthing at all, to anvbody. if it is convinced or

convinces itself that this is the common good. Such a sinister

machine was the product of the political thinkers of the late

eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries....It was for the common

good that the western lands were opened up for settlement. even as

the eastern lands had been settled: it was for the common good that

treaties were signed, and often broken ... it was for the common

good that the Indians were herded like cattle. treated like children.

swatted like flies and quarantined like animals suspected of having
rabies.

Although on a different subject matter. this same philosophy was also
captured by Tolstoy (1886) in a few short words at the beginning of this chapter.
The struggle by Indian people has always been to try and throw the well meaning
"other" off their backs. For generations Indians have struggled for the "dignity”
and the basic human right to be allowed to be Indian people. as defined by their
own cultural norms. In fighting for some level of "autonomy’. Indian people have
also struggled against the combined powers; of church and state and the
institutionalized arrangements designed to change them into brown Europeans.
Indian residential schools represented perhaps one of the most powerful

institutionalized instruments of change Indian people struggled against.
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Chapter 6 - St. Michael’s Indian Residential School

On the occasion of this jubilee, ‘we who reap in joy, what others have
sown in tears’ we, I say, feel it our bounden duty to recall a heroic past,
lest it might be too soon forgotten (Le Chevallier 1944: 8).

The Oblate’s Honour Roll

The "heroic past" of St. Michael’s School has already been documented. In

1944, Jules Le Chevallier O.M.1. prepared a fifty year anniversary booklet on St.

Michael’s Schoo! which he "dedicated to my Indian friends". This booklet,

however, is not about Indian people. Nor is this booklet about the "454 boys and

480 girls" (Le Chevallier 1944: 61) from the One Arrow’s, Beardy's and Okemasis,

Mistowasis, Muskeg Lake, Sturgeon Lake, Sandy Lake, and the Fort-a-la-Corne

Indian Reserves who attended this school. Father Le Chevallier prepared this

little history solely to honour the Oblates of Mary Immaculate who took their

place at St. Michael’s School and to commemorate this school’s "unparalleled

success” (Le Chevallier 1944: 61) in civilizing and Chnistianizing Indian children.

The heroes in Father Le Chevallier’s little history book include:

... Mgr. Vital-Justin Grandin, O.M.I. who prepared the way. Mgr.
Albert Pascal, O.M.1. who realized the plans of his predecessor; ...
Father Melasippe-Joseph Paquette the valiant pioneer who placed
the foundation of St. Michael’s on a solid basis, despite the apathy
of a population still steeped in ‘heathen darkness’. ... the saintly
Father Ovide Charlebois, O.M.I. who instilled piety in the hearts,
order in business matters; [and] the kind Father Delmas who
transformed the school into a home, that all love. and that the
absent regret;....
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Later, it will become apparent why Father Le Chevallier failed to heap any
accolades at all on Victorin Gabillon, the third Principal at St. Michael's School.
For now, it is important only to set the record straight on the main characters who
helped to shape the history of St. Michael’s School. Bishop Albert Pascal
replaced Monseigneur Vital-Justin Grandin in 1891 when the Vicariate of
Saskatchewan was created from the diocese of Saint Albert. Consequently. Bishop
Pascal became the driving force behind gertting Indian Affairs to honour its
commitment tc Bishop Grandin to build an Indian industrial school for the Indians
claimed by the Catholic church in the Duck Lake area of Saskatchewan.

The first four principals at St. Michael’s School included Melasippe
Paquette (1894-1903). Ovide Charlebois (1903-1910). the unsung Victorin Gabillon
who served from September 1910 to June 1911. and Henri Delmas (1911-1939).
Father Le Chevallier who wrote the history ot St. Michael's School was appointed
acting principal in 1925 when Father Delmas took 1l To complete the picture.
the Sisters of the Faithtul Companions ot Jesus arrived in 1895 and were replaced
by the Sisters of Presentation of Mary in 1903.

By all accounts. the Sisters of the Faithful Companions of Jesus took an
active role in St. Michael's School. Three of the nuns assumed the kitchen and
laundry duties while the tourth bocame the tirst matron and teacher in the girls’
classroom. These nuns were recalled in 1900 when St. Michael's School "got
nothing but reproaches and mean insinuations from the otficial inspector of the

Department in his annual report” (Le Chevallier 1944: 19). Although Father Le
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Chevallier did not elaborate any further, the Annual Reports of the Department
of Indian Affairs help to clear up the mystery of why these nuns were recalled.

In 1899, the Inspector of Indian Agencies apparently questioned the kind of
education the children were receiving at St. Michael’s School when he wrote in his
Annual Report that "while the pup‘ls throughout the three divisions are receiving
a thorough training in manners and morals, ... the results of the class-work are
disappointing”.4 This concern that children were receiving far more instruction
in personal habits than in the "3Rs" at Indian residential schools was not
uncommon. In 1903, another School Inspector expressed similar reservations
which were also being voiced by Indian parents when he wrote:

The Indians do not appreciate the instruction in religion and

manners their children receive at these schools. What would

impress them would be a practical education that would fit them to

earn their own living and assist them to better their condition. That

they do not receive such an education is generally admitted (Hall

1983: 128).¢

No matter how valid the concern, the School Inspector’s gentle rebuke did
not sit well with the Sisters of the Faithful Companions of Jesus who were "baffled
to see that their efforts, their devotedness, their uncontested success in many

things, were not recognized by the Government (Le Chevallier 1944: 19). Father

Paquette convinced the Reverend Mother to allow her nuns to remain at St.

“ Dominion of Canada. (1900) "North-West Territories, Battleford Inspectorate”.

Annual Report of the Department of Indian Affairs for the Year Ended 30 June 1899. Ottawa: S.E.
Dawson, (pp. 364).

o PAC, RGI10, vol. 3920, file 116751-A, Benson to the deputy superintendent general,

23 June 1903, as cited by Hall (1983: 128).
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Michael’s School until they were finally replaced by the Sisters of Presentation of
Mary in 1903. Father Le Chevallier also did not forget to thank these nuns for
their contribution at St. Michael’s School. In his booklet, he (1944:8) wrote:

Our gratitude extends also to the Sisters of the Presentation of Mary

who during the past forty-one years have labored with such

unrelenting zeal in the Master’s vineyard that we might surmise their

chosen motto to be: ‘Ever onward’.

In line with James Scott’s analysis of domination and resistance. Father Le
Chevallier’s booklet represents one part of the "public trarnscript” of the Oblates
and its auxiliaries at St. Michael’s School. According to Scott (1990: 18):

The public transcript is, to put it crudely, the self-portrait of

dominant elites as they would have themselves seen....It is designed

to be impressive, to affirm and naturalize the power of dominant

elites, and to conceal or euphemize the dirty linen of their rule.

Consistent with Scott’s analysis of "public transcripts’. the "self-portrait” of
the Oblates of Mary Immaculate at St. Michael’s School elevates their work to the
status of a "godly mission" (Le Chevallier 1944: 61). while either obscuring or
discrediting Indian resistance. Furthermore. according to Scott (1990: 18). "If ...
this flattering self-portrait is to have any rh=torical force among subordinates. it
necessarily involves some concessions to their presumed interests.” Obviously.
Father Le Chevallier could not have dedicated this booklet "to my Indian friends".
nor taken credit for almost every Indian accomplishment during St. Michael’s fifty

vear history if the latter presumption did not apply. The purpose of this chapter.

therefore, is to examine the "public transcripts” of church and state to see what

lies hidden beneath.




6.1 The Oblates Secure Approval for an Indian Industrial School

By all accounts, the relationship between the Roman Catholic Church and
the Department of Indian Affairs was a tenuous one, at the best of times. As in
all things, most chasms can be bridged if one knows the right people in the right
places. This was certainly the case in July 1890 when Bishop Grandin:

made a personal visit to Ottawa with the direct objective of pleading

the cause of Indian schools for the Catholics of his vast diocese, and

of claiming his share of the funds allocated by the Government for

school purposes (Le Chevallier 1944: 9).

Bishop Grandin’s idea of his fair share of the Indian education funding
translated into nothing less than the Department’s most expensive industrial school
option. Bishop Grandin met with Edgar Dewdney who by this time had reached
the position of the Superintendent-General of Indian Affairs. Grandin and
Dewdney were both powerful men who had risen through their respective ranks by
helping the Plains Indians to grasp the concepts of "Christianity" and "civilization".
Bishop Grandin arrived on the Prairies in 1854 as part of the first wave of
missionaries to set up Indian missions in the West. Edgar Dewdney, a former
member of Parliament, was appointed the Indian Commissioner for the North-
West Territorie~ in 1879. Bishop Grandin could not have picked a better ally. If
any senior bureaucratic official in Ottawa knew, without asking, what was best for
the Plains Indians, it was Edgar Dewdney! Bishop Grandin did not have to strive

hard to convince this man of the merits of Indian industrials schools.

In his 1884 report as Indian Commissioner, Edgar Dewdney clearly outlined

his support for industrial schools as the "principal feature in the civilization of the
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Indian mind" (Wasylow 1972: 45). Dewdney also believed that industrial schools,
with their primary emphasis on farming and trades would remedy the "inherited
aversion to labour” (Wasylow 1972: 45) which he felt was characteristic of the
nomadic Indians.*® He also endorsed the idea of separating Indian children from
the negative influences of their hoines. Industrial schools more than fit the bill.

In September 1890, Dewdney sent Bishop Grandin a letter confirming that
he would be recommending the establishment of an Indian "industrial" school at
Duck Lake, in the Saskatchewan district of the North-West Territories. The
railroad had recently reached Duck Lake qualifying it as a centre of civilization
suitable for an industrial school. Bishop Grandin had every reason to be elated.
He had secured approval for the most coveted "civilizing" instrument of his day.
Moreover, Indian Affairs still funded Indian industrial schools under a fairly loose
financial arrangement. Bishop Grandin's success was short lived.

During the time that it took the Catholics to create the new Vicariate of
Saskatchewan and to appoint Bishop Pascal. Indian Affairs had began to seriously
question its more costly Indian industrial school option. This set the stage for an
on-going battle between the Catholics and Indian Affairs over the designation and
funding of St. Michael’s School as a "boarding school”. While this battle was
about Indians and Indian education. Indian people themselves were not involved.

Indian education, at least the big-ticket items like residential schools. were the sole

had Report of Edgar Dewdney, Commissioner, Sessional Papers, 1884, (pp. 103-104), as

cited by Wasylow (1972: 45).
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purview of church and state. Thus, the protracted negotiations over St. Michael’s
School coincided with that period in history when "[the] native ‘existed on a plane
of inequality’, his destiny largely shaped by whites" (Friesen 1987: 23).
Consequently, the ideology of racial superionity and the reality of
interdenominational rivalry and bureaucratic cost containment all came together to
form the "hidden transcripts” behind the establishment of St. Michael’s School.
Immediately upon his arrival in 1891, Bishop Pascal bought into this system when
he reminded Indian Afiairs of its commitment to build an industrial school for the
Catholic Indians in his diocese. In defending his demand for an industrial school,
Bishop Pascal also laid claim to approximately one hundred Catholic children in
the Duck Lake area. Much to the Bishop’s surprise, Indian Affairs reneged on its
promise stating "it is thought that the commodious buildings already erected in
various parts of the country should be sufficient for the present”.* Indian Affairs
was prepared to begin in a small way by approving a "boarding” school for the
Catholics. Father Le Chevallier (1944: 9-11) captured their indignation when he
wrote, "What? A mere boarding-school! Was the Government giving us the slip?"
If the approval of a "mere boarding-school" was not enough of an insult,
the meagre grant of $2,000 offered by Indian Affairs to finance the construction
and operation of this institution was totally unacceptable. Indian Affairs certainly

knew what is was doing when it approved a boarding school for the Catholics. In

g Incomplete reference, memo no signature page but addressed to My Lord (A. Pascal),

18 January 1892. NAC, Indian Affairs School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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1884, it had cost them $12,420 just to build the Dunbow industrial school (Titley
1992: 96). Bishop Pascal was not through being insulted by Indian Affairs. The
land chosen by the Department for his school was equally unacceptable. In his
booklet, Le Chevallier (1944: 11) stated, "As it always happens whenever a railway
is built, all the vacant lands were quickly in the hands of prospective settlers and
greedy speculators.” Although not prepared to give up on the fight for industrial
school status, Bishop Pascal asked Indian Affairs to consider another location for
his school near Prince Albert. Anticipating some resistance Bishop Pascal wrote:

Your Honour will perhaps object that 1 should be too near the

English Church School at Emmanuel] College. I can assure you.

Honourable Sir. that this need not be any object. These gentlemen

have to occupy themselves only with their own flock and we with

ours. Our Churches are near ai Prince Albert and we live in perfect

harmony. Our united efforts will not be too great to draw from

barbarism and infidelity all the savages that surround us and to aid

the Government efficaciously in the noble work of civilizing the

Indians.*®

Despite Bishop Pascal’s eloquent plea and assurances, Havter Reed the
Indian Commissioner for the North-West Territories was far from convinced that
the churches were capable of working in perfect harmony. He advised his
superiors of the problems he was experiencing in preventing interdenominational
rivalry in this area. As the Department was already incurring heavy expenses for

Indian education. he recommended that Indian Affairs enlarge the existing schools

instead of building new ones. In late 1892, Edgar Dewdney was relieved of the

bl Memo, Albert Pascal to E. Dewdney. 1 October 1892. NAC, Indian Affairs School
Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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can of worms he had opened when he was replaced as Superintendent-General of
Indian Affairs by T. Mayne Daly.

In a twenty-two page letter, Lawrence Vankoughnet who had been the
Deputy Superintendent-General since 1874, apprised his new sunerior of the
situation and recommended the Catholics receive $2,000 to build « "boarding"
school, $1,000 for the maintenance and tuition of fourteen children, and $1,000 for
furnishings. He informed the Superintendent-General. whether advisable or not:

... the fact should not be lost sight of that the Roman Catholic

authorities have been led to hope that at least a Boarding school

would be established.®!

In the typical bureaucratic fashion. Vankoughnet’s recommendation was
twice what Bishop Pascal assumed he would be receiving in the first place, but
significantly less than the $7,000 the Catholics said they needed to operate an
Indian school of this nature. In recommending this funding, Vankoughnet had
also effectively overruled Hayter Reed’s objections. Later, when Indian Affairs
started receiving a number of protests regarding the approval of a new school for
the Catholics, Hayter Reed wrote a rather peevish "private” letter to Daly stating:

In this connection I might say that from the first I was averse to

anybody having a like Institution at Duck Lake as we have not as yet

got our larger Institutions filled. but the promise having been made

by Mr. Dewdney, I suppose it has to be carried into effect.s

On the more delicate subject regarding the final location of St. Michael’s

st Memo, L. Vankoughnetto T. Mavne Daly, 16 December 1892. NAC, Indian Affairs

School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.

52 Private memo, Havter Reed to T. Mayne Daly. 6 June 1893. NAC, Indian Affairs

School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.




107

School, Father Le Chevallier wrote that Bishop Pascal and Father Lacombe met
with senior officials in Ottawa who were adamant that the Catholics could not
build their school at Prince Albert. Father Le Chevallier (1944: 12) added:

... their force was admitted by His Lordship, who agreed that the

school should be built near Duck Lake requesting however that it be

placed on the Roman Catholic property there.

While Bishop Pascal’s offer was extremely generous. it is important to
remember that Indian Affairs had been unable to find a suitable location for their
school near Duck Lake because "greedy speculators” (Le Chevallier 1944: 11) had
already grabbed up all the good land. What a coincidence that the Catholic
Church just happened to have excess land to give up in this area!

With the funding and location for St. Michaei’s School finally approved. the
Catholics had won the first part of the battie. After almost four years, they had
convinced Indian Affairs to build them an Indian school at Duck Lake. If Indian
Affairs thought the Catholics would just go away and carry out their mission of

"Christianity” and "civilization" in a mere boarding school. they were dead wrong.

6.2 A Trying But Jubilant First Year for the Oblates

In May 1894, construction started on St. Michael's School a short distance
from the Oblate mission at Duck Lake. Bishop Pascal chose Father Blais as St.
Michael’s first Principal because his "experience and knowledge of Government'’s
men and things seemed to qualify him above all for the position” (Le Chevallier
1944: 13). This statement is consistent with Grant's (1984: 162) analysis that the

churches now leaned toward "diplomatic administrators capable of working closely
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with government agents and farm instructors”. As Father Blais was unavailable,
the job went to Melasippe Paquette, the missionary from the nearby Muskeg Lake
Reserve. Father Paquette also had his own qualifications. First, he spoke Cree
and could convince Indian parents, in their own language, about the merits of
sending their chiidren to St. Michael’s School. Second, as he later acknowledged:

I could have more than two hundred young Indians in my school.

Having been a missionary in the midst of these tribes for more than

twenty years, I am known by all and all wish to entrust their children

to me.®

On 10 August 1894, Father Paquette arrived at Duck Lake with seven boys
and ten girls from the Muskeg Lake, Mistowasis, and Sandy Lake Reserves (Le
Chevallier 1944: 14). True to his word, the majority of these children came from
his former mission. His new recruits ranged in age from six to seventeen years
and over half were under ten years old. At sixteen, my great uncle was one of the
oldest. Notably, Father Paquette had already recruited three more "inmates" (Le
Chevallier 1944: 12) than were authorized by Indian Affairs. This practice soon
became the norm. These children had to live in tents because the school was still
under construction. With little regard for these Indian children’s trauma at being
uprooted from their families, Father Le Chevallier (1944: 14) wrote:

This was nothing new to them however, and made them feel at

home. When the cold weather came, the church basement gave

them shelter.

While the latter may sound kind, basements were often nothing more than

e Memo, M. Paquette to Adolphe Caron, 12 December 1894. NAC, Indian Affairs
School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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just earth cellars in the late 1800s. Even if the church basement was made out of

stone, it was likely dark, horribly damp, and probably already had its fair share of
other inhabitants. These children also had little in the way of clothing. As soon as
he could, Father Paquette made a plea to his long time benefactress to secure
clothing donations through the Catholic News. These conditions persisted for
three months. Lack of accommodation was just one of the many inconveniences
faced by these children. Indian Affairs had made no provision in their budget for
either "privies" or an adequate water supply for tae school. Within days of his
arrival, Father Paquette indignantly advised the Indian Commissioner in Regina:

I have the honour to inform you that [ am arrived at Duck Lake

since only six days and there is no water already in the Mission well.

We will be obliged to go to the town and make more than one mile

to have a pail of water.

This situation was finally rectified one month after the children arrived.
One can only imagine how the lack of water. toilets, and the dark suffocating
atmosphere of the church basement might have been contributed "to the great
prejudice of discipline, study and health” noted by Le Chevallier (1944: 15) in his
booklet. This unhealthy start may explain why these children were called the
"crazy schoolers" (Goodwill and Sluman 1984: 93) when they finally returned home
from St. Michael's School. Father Paquette. obviously. could have at least waited

until his school was closer to completion before beginning his recruitment efforts.

Indian Affairs, on the other hand. was not blameless. The Oblates should not

54 Memo, M. Paquette to the Indian Commissioner in Regina, 15 August 1894. NAC,

Indian Affairs School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-5.




110

have had to fight for basic necessities like water and outhouses for their new
school. The Assistant Indian Commissioner in Regina who bore the brunt of the
Department’s penny pinching policies in Indian education advised his superiors:

Bishop Pascal and the Rev. Father Paquette are still assailing this

office with letters making requisitions for the various things for their

Boarding school at Duck Lake, which I have resisted on the grounds

of lack of funds. I am glad, however, to see that the Department has

seen its way to authorize the building of water closets and the

digging of a well.*

This set the tone for the on-going battle between Indian Affairs and the
Oblates regarding who should absorb the costs for St. Michael’s School. By all
accounts, this school was poorly funded right from the start. As a boarding school,
St. Michael’s School received a per-capita grant of $72 per annum for each of its
fourteen authorized students. These funds covered the children’s expenses, plus
salaries for Father Paquette, two teachers, a farmer, and a housekeeper.

Obviously, Indian Affairs had paid careful attention to Davin’s (1879)
recommendations on the cost benefits of using the churches in Indian education.
Certainly, Father Paquette had all the fervour required to "Christianize" and
"civilize" Indian children, but few of the resources. Father Paquette might even be
accused of being a bit over-enthusiastic about Indian education. Within two
months, he had taken in twenty children. Using this excess enrolment as the back

door approach in defending their right for industrial school status, Bishop Pascal

told Indian Affairs they had also turned away seventy-five children. He explained:

55 Memo, A.E. Forget to H. Reed, 14 September 1894. NAC, Indian Affairs School
Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-5.




111

As you understand: here, it is not necessary to press the Indians to

give up their children, we displease them in refusing to take them

for want of accommodation.®

Even though St. Michael’s School was built to hold only fourteen children,
lack of accommodation very seldom prevented Father Paquette from exceeding
the authorized enrolment at St. Michael’s School. Addressing this shortfall in
funding and accommodation was where Bishop Pascal came in. While Father
Paquette recruited students, Bishop Pascal battled Indian Affairs for industrial
school status. Only the larger per-capita grants provided to industrial schools
would provide St. Michael’s School with the financial stability it needed. Almost
as soon as St. Michael’s School opened, Bishop Pascal advised Indian Affairs that
they needed a larger grant of $125 to operate effectively, but he was prepared to
accept the lower sum of $100. Knowing the Department would plead lack of
resources, he recommended that Indian Affaiis close some of the day schools in
the Duck Lake area. and reallocate these funds to St. Michael’s School. He did
not hesitate to remind Indian Affairs of the superiority of residential schooling:

That experience shows us, more clearly every day, that the small

Day Schools attached to the Reserves. are but a feeble and

inefficacious means of improving and forming the Indian child. It is

absolutely necessary that they should be separated from their

families, in order to bring them up as we desire.%

By coincidence. the salary which could be saved by closing down just one

day school was equal to the deficit projected by Father Paquette for St. Michael's

s6 Memo. A. Pascal to Thomas Daly, 25 September 1894. NAC, Indian Affairs School

Eiles, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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School. Bishop Pascal also reminded Indian Affairs of the excellent land they had
given up to build St. Michael’s School. This transfer was not as charitable as it
sounds. In return for ceding a 100 acres of land to build St. Michael’s School, the
Catholics received 320 acres of land worth approximately $960.%* Bishop Pascal’s
letter to Indian Affairs was also "cordially and warmly" endorsed by a Supreme
Court Judge and four Members of Parliament.® Indian Affairs could not miss
the implications that the Catholics had friends in high places.

In October 1894, Indian Affairs responded favourably by increasing the
number of grant-earners at St. Michael’s School to thirty. Contrary to Treaty 6,
Indian Affairs closed the day schools on the One Arrow, Beardy’s and Okemasis,
and the Muskeg Lake Reserves to support St. Michael’s School. Bishop Pascal
was still no further ahead. He had not succeeded in gaining industrial school
status for St. Michael’s School. In desperation, he wrote to the Postmaster-
General requesting his support when 1r. Macdowall, his member of Parliament,
raised the question of industrial school status for St. Michael’s School in the
House of Commons. In this letter, Bishop Pascal did not even try to intimate the
more lofty goals of "Christianity" and "civilization". This letter was about the pure
economics of his situation. Always the diplomat who knew how to gently apply

pressure, he did not forget to reiterate the government’s objectives by concluding:

s Memo to File, "Duck Lake Indian Residential School", 24 January 1924 regarding P.C.

No. 345 dated 22 February 1897. NAC, Indian Affairs School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume
6305, File 652-1.

' Memo, A. Pascal to Thomas Daly, 25 September 1894. NAC, Indian Affairs School
Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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... I am confident that you will do all you can to obtain this end for
the great good of the Indians and the honour of the Government.*

From the primary correspondence, it is obvious that Indian Affairs was not
amused by these pressure tactics. Indian Affairs sent a letter to the Postmaster-
General advising him that his interference was not warranted. They advised him
that the Department was already seeking authority to increase the enrolment at
St. Michael’s School to fifty. Furthermore, they had also requested $1,900 to
enlarge the school. In defending their right not to award industrial school status
to St. Michael’s School, Indian Affairs also switched tactics. Instead of pleading
lack of resources, they blamed the Indians. The Superintendent-General wrote:

The superiority of Industrial Schools is recognized. but only a

proportion of Indian children manifest ability to take such advantage

of the training given by them as would justify their cost.®!

One year after it opened, the enrclment at St. Michael's School stood at
sixty pupils (Le Chevallier 1944: 16). With this four-fold increase in grant-earners,
St. Michael’s School had managed to realize some economes of scale. With the
funding provided by Indian Affairs. the Oblates also enlarged St. Michael's School.
Despite all this, St. Michael’s School was still "a mere boarding school”. Although
a tremulou; first year for the Oblates. Le Chevallier (1944: 16) jubilantly wrote.

"All is for the best. St. Michael has certainly taken things in hand all for the

greater Glory of God". But, what about the Indian children who took their place

“ Memo, M. Paquette to Adolphe Caron, 12 December 1894. NAC, Indian Affairs

School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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at this school. The diary prepared by the Sisters of the Faithful Companions of
Jesus allows us to take a small peek behind the walls of St. Michael’s School.
63 A Peek Behind the Walls of St. Michael’s School

While St. Michael’s School got off to a rocky start, the second year was
obviously not much better. When the Sisters of the Faithful Companions of Jesus
arrived in the summer of 1895, St. Michael’s School had already been in operation
for one year. Father Paquette’s plea for clothing had been answered and the
cupboards were filled to the brim. The nuns immediately set to work altering this
cast-off clothing, so they could be worn by the Indian children.

Within two weeks of their arrival, almost all the children at St. Michael’s
School came down with chicken-pox. With the exception of two children, whose
eyes were affected by the disease, the children all rose for 6 o’clock mass and
attended classes. The nuns provided a touching account of how these Indian
children comforted each other, despite their own suffering. The nuns wrote:

When the light was unbearable they would arrange their shawls on

the benches, in the shadiest part of the room, and tuck them in and

arrange them comtortably until the bell rang for meals. Then they

would lead them to their places with the greatest of care and back

unti] bed time.

When the outbreak finally abated, the nuns decided to give the children

baths. From the nun’s description of their fear, it is obvious that the children had

not received many baths at St. Michael’s School. One little girl of four, far too

6 Sisters Faithful Companions of Jesus. (1876) "Duck Lake". Annals. Glenbow
Museum Archives, np, (n. pag). (Number M1395, File 10)
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young to be in school, had apparently worn the same underwear for months. One
of the nun: "found it was covered with vermin".* When the nuns asked one of
the older girls to throw the "vermin” into the fire, she threw the clothes in as well.
The nuns found this quite comical and explained, "Many such anecdotes could be
related on account of their not knowing English. Two or three of the boys
understood pretty well, but the others did not know a word". By the time Sir
Mackenzie Bowell and T.M. Daly visited St. Michael’s School, this communication
gap had apparently been resolved. With some pleasure, the nuns reported:

An address in English was read by one of the Indian girls in which

several requests were made, one being that their little brothers and

sisters might share in the same happiness which they enjoyed in the

school and be admitted amongst them.*

This touching plea, in English no less, had the desired impact. The Prime
Minster was so impressed that "since then he has proved a friend to the house and
granted nearly all that was asked."* This kind of show and tell in "Christianity"
and "civilization", which included rehearsed testimonials by Indian children all
dutifully dressed in European clothing, were not an uncommon occurrence at

Indian residential schools. John Tootoosis (Goodwill and Sluman 1984: 100)

provided an Indian student’s account of these public testimonials when he stated:

bl Sisters Faithful Companions of Jesus. (1876) "Duck Lake". Annals. Glenbow

Museum Archives, np, (n. pag). (Number M1395, File 10)
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At least once a year, school superintendents would come to see what

was going on. Goodness knows what the head of the school told

them, there was no way for us to know. For example, we were

taught to read one thing and when the superintendent came, this is

what we were asked to read. We did well, after all we had practised

hundreds of times! The superintendent of course was impressed,

just as though we knew everything so well.

These testimonials were more than just the means of acquiring political
support for financially strapped residential schools. They were also part of the
game which church and state played to prove their benevolence towards Indian
people. These little masquerades, where Indian children were taught to play their
part, reinforced the concepts of racial superiority. They also alienated Indian
children from their parents’ lifestyles as they were indoctrinated, not in the 3Rs,
but in the "superior" norms and values of the Europeans. More repugnant, these
performances served to "create the appearance of unanimity among the ruling
groups and the appearance of consent among subordinates” (Scott 1990: 55).

Indian children also stood to lose a lot from these pretences, particularly
when used by school authorities to deceive School Inspectors. Using humour,
Johnson told the story of two inspectors who came to his school to check out the
food situation. Johnson (1988: 141) described their miraculous effect on dinpe

They occupied the same places as at noon. Just as unexpectedly,

instead of lard, there were pats of butter on a tin plate, and the

soup was thicker than usual, with more meat and vegetables —

almost like stew. A few of the boys searched th..ir memories to

discover therein the cause of this good fortune. The women ate

heartily, frequently observing how good and wholesome the bread

was, how full of body and vigour the stew, and how smooth and

mellow the butter ... writing notes in their journals and making
entries on graphs.
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Basil Johnson also related how deceived the Indian children felt were when
the report was finally posted. Their complaints about the quality of food had
been dismissed. The Sisters of the Faithful Companions of Jesus also did not fail
to mention the food situation at St. Michael’s School. The nuns provided
sumptuous examples of the kinds of wholesome food che Indian children ate at

this school. They wrote:

Three times a day they are served plentifully with meat and potatoes

and the bread is made of the best white flour. The Sister bakes at

the rate of fifty loaves a day, and as they have all excellent appetites

a sheep does not suffice for more than three days and an ox for ten

days. ¢

The children’s diet at St. Michael’s School was either a complete departure
from the standard fare at other Indian residential schools, or the nuns had
somehow managed to mix up their menu with that of the children. In his Annual
Report to Indian Affairs for the same year, Father Paquette reported:

Here the children do justice to what is placed before them, and as a

vegetable diet is considered more healthy for Indian children,
potatoes are served three times a day.*

Perhaps Father Paquette had just neglected to mention the oxen and sheep
which had been sacrificed to supplement the children’s "vegetable diet" at St.
Michael’s School. Certainly. the nuns telt this diet heavily laced with meat. which

they so carefully described, helped to contribute to the children’s unwillingness to

7 Sisters Faithful Companions of Jesus. (1876) "Duck Lake". Annals. Glenbow
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run away from this school. The nuns wrote, "As proof not one attempt of running
way has ever taken place and the Father trusts his boys anywhere."® The proof
may not have been in the children’s lack ot desire to run away, but in the added
obstacles barring their escape from St. Michael’s Indian Residential School.

By September 1895, Father Paquette convinced Indian Affairs to pay for
fencing to enclose St. Michael’s School. According to Le Chevallier (1944: 18)
“the cntire premises were surrounded by a close fence nearly a mile long". In his
Arnual Report, the Inspector of Indian Agencies confirmed the appropriateness
of the term "close" when he reported, "The yards as well as the girls’ play-ground
are fenced with tongued and grooved flooring, built high".” This high fencing
probably helped to deter, at least the younger children, from running away. To
save on costs, the older boys at St. Michael’s School built their own prison walls.

Keeping the children from running away from St. Michael’s Schooi was just
one of the problems confronting Father Paquette. The other was ensuring he bad
access to a steady stream of new recruits. To some extent, the latter problem was
resolved by the Duck Lake Indian Agent who took a keen interest in ensuring that
Indian children attended school. More surprisingly, Father Paquette’s recruitment
concerns were also alleviated by the Indians from the One Arrow’s Reserve who

had their own reasons for wanting their children to attend St. Michael’s School.

i Sisters Faithful Companions of Jesus. (1876) "Duck Lake" Annals. Glenrbow
Museum Archives, np, (n. pag). (Number M1395, File 10)

7° Dominion of Canada. (1897) "Report of Chief Inspector Wadsworth of Indian
Schools in Manitoba and the North-West Territories". ua ort of the Depart t of India
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64 The Hidden Link Between Christignity and Indian Education

In 1896, the Sisters of the Faithful Companions of Jesus wrote that Father
Paquette was called to One Arrow’s to convert nearly a whole reserve of pagans.
The Indians claimed to have lost faith in their Protestant ministers. Father
Paquette was overjoyed because among these Indians "were some grey-haired
men, who had been for too many years obstinate in their Protestant and Pagan
belief".™ The joys of stealing another’s flock was probably surpassed only by the
prospects this held for increasing the number of grant-earners at St. Michael’s
School. Upon his return, Father Paquette advised the Indian Agent that he had
baptized twenty-two children on the One Arrow’s Reserve. He added:

All the adults requested to be baptized too, but I judged it necessary
to make them wait until they should receive some instruction.’

Father Paquette also informed the Indian Agent that when he was about to
leave this reserve, the Indians had asked him to take sixteen of their children back
to St. Michael’s School. Father Paquette refused because his school was full. Full
meant he had reached his quota. There was always room for new grant-earners at
St. Michael’s School. Consequently. Father Paquette asked the Indian Agent to
seek approval to increase the authorized enrolment at St. Michael’s School. The
Indian Agent’s letter clears up why these Indians asked to be converted. and why

they insisted that Father Paquette take their children back to St. Michael’s School.

n Sisters Faithful Companions of Jesus. (1876) "Duck Lake". Annals. Glenbow
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In carrying out Father Paquette’s request, the Duck Lake Indian Agent advised his
superiors that he had previously visited this band of Indians:

... with a view to inducing them to allow their children to be sent to

the Industrial or Boarding Schools. They refused, so I let them

know that if they would not let them go willingly that in all

probability the Departmert would take them by force and send

them to whatever school was thought best. The consequence was

that when paying Treaty there on the 22nd inst. {sic] the Indians

offered me all their children if I would place them in the Duck Lake

Boarding School.”™

The Indian Agent’s visit occurred two days prior to Father Paquette’s call
to the One Arrow’s Reserve. Given the implications of the Agent’s threat, these
Indians were obviously trying to guarantee their children a spot at St. Michael’s
School which was closer to their reserve. The only real way they could do this was
to convert to Catholicism. These Indians told Father Paquette they wanted to be
converted because their Protestant Ministers "were only bribing them for their
own ends." Father Paquette was not about to object as he clearly considered
Protestantism almost as bad as paganism. Consistent with Miller’s (1992: 155)
analysis, interdenominational rivalry "gave parents who were disgruntled with the
school of a particular denomination a means of gaining relief or punishing the
offending denomination by rending their children to a rival school.” Certainly, the

decision by the One Arrow’s Indians substantially reduced the grant-earning

capacity of the Protestant schools their children were already attending.

» Memo, R.S. McKenzie to the Indian Commissioner in Regina, 30 October 1895.
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In response to the Indian Agent’s letter, the Indian Commissioner in
Regina seemed unconcerned about whether or not St. Michael’s School could
accommodate any more students. Tzie Indian Commissioner did, however, take
exception with the methods used and handwrote the following in the margin:

The Agent is being advised that herein he exceeded his instructions

which were that in the event of force being used parents must be

allowed to choose the school for their children.”™

Significantly, the Indian Agent was reprimanded not for using force, which
is consistent with the provisions contained within the 1894 compulsory attendance
regulations, but in demanding that parents send their children to a particular
school. While the Indian Agent and Father Paquette joined forces to increase the
number of grant-earners at “>t. Michael’s School. Bishop Pascal continued to battle
Indian Affairs for industrial school status. When his volley of letters failed to pay
off, Bishop Pascal tried a petition instead. He demanded that the Catholics be
treated on the same basis as the other denominations. He advised Indian Affairs
that the Catholics had already spent $10.000 on St. Michael’s School believing it
would be awarded industrial school status. He ended his petition by stating:

If the Government is not willing to transform the school of Duck

Lake into an Industrial school. well, be it so: but then let the

Government give us. without further delay. an Industrial School.

either at Battleford or elsewhere. Protestants having two, by all

means we must have at least one., otherwise we will never cease to
complain and to cry injustice.”

I Memo, F.S. McKenzie 1o the Indian Commissioner in Regina. 30 October 1895.
NAC, Indian Affairs School Files. RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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Injustice or not, Indian Affairs did not relent. In 1898, Bishop Pascal tried
once again to force the issue through a motion in the House of Commons. Indian
Affairs held firm. Father Le Chevallier (1944: 17) wrote, "In time however, he
understood that the decision of the Government was final and that it was useless
to insist". With industrial school status laid to rest, St. Michael’s School entered a
new phase in its history. Father Paquetie was also replaced by Ovide Charlebois.
6.5 Indian People Struggle Against St. Michael’s School

When Father Charlebois replaced Melasippe Paquette as the second
Principal at St. Michael’s School in 1903, "Nothing could he see but misery and
desolation. On all sides paganism held an undisputed sway" (Le Chevallier 1944:
24). On the One Arrow’s Reserve, where the Indians had all asked to be
converted, only twenty adults could still recite their prayers eight years later.
Conditions were no better on the other reserves in the Duck Lake area. The
Oblates sadly acknowledged "the Pagans become more and more obstinate" (Le
Chevallier 1944: 24). When he returned to his former mission at Muskeg Lake to
recuperate, Father Paquette found equally dismal conditions on many of the other
reserves. On 20 September 1903, he wrote to his benefactress stating:

I have just visited an extensive part of my reserves, you have not the

faintest idea of the miserable condition of these people, spiritually

and temporally. Something must be done for all these Indians but

especially for the children leaving our school of Duck Lake. The

careful training given them till they reach their eighteenth year will

be of no avail if they are allowed to return immediately to the hovel

of their parents, and adopt their mode of living (Le Chevallier

1944:21).

With all the self-righteousness inherent in knowing exactly what is best for
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others, Father Paquette’s answer to this problem lay in driving Indian people into
a deeper state of despair, by preventing their children from returning home after
graduation. His answer was not unique. A colony of Indian residential school
graduates was already in operation at File Hills, Saskatchewan.

For Father Charlebois, the answer to this deplorable state ¢ * affairs lay in
establishing a similar colony, where he could permanently segregate his graduate
students from the negative influences of their reserves where "indolence, vice and
paganism were still rampant” (Le Chevallier 1944: 27). When Indian Affairs
responded with hearty congratulations, but no land for his proposed colony,
Father Charlebois came up with a different plan. He asked Indian Affairs for
permission to hire out his older students to work for good families in the town of
Duck Lake. These "outings" were to be the final step in the civilizing process at
St. Michael's School. Father Charlebois was not presenting Indian Affairs with a
new idea, however, as these kinds of "outings" were already the norm at other
Indian residential schools. Perhaps because Father Charlebois’s request did not
involve a demand for any more funding, Indian Affairs responded favourably.
"Consequently, a few days later. two older girls were placed as servants in two of
the best families of Duck Lake" (Le Chevallier 1944: 28). With this statement.
this issue is also closed as far as Father Le Chevalier’s little booklet is concerned.

From the primary documentation at the National Archives, it is easy to see
why Father Le Chevallier chose not to elaborate on this little piece of history in

his "public transcript” on St. Michael’s School. Not only does this documentation
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show that Indian parents strenuously objected to the placement of their children in
service, but obviously there was a serious breakdown in the marriage of church
and state at the local level. Therefore, contrary to established procedures, Father
Charlebois bypassed the Duck Lake Indian Agent, who was responsible for St.
Michael’s School, and sent a personal letter directly to D.C. Scott, the
Superintendent of Education, requesting:
... consideration of a plan whereby pupils, both boys and girls, of the Duck
Lake Boarding School may during their last year be sent out to service in
the homes of the neighbouring white [my emphasis] people. The Principal’s
object is to give them a more practical training in conditions more nearly
approaching those under which they will have to work when they leave the
school.”
From the last statement in this letter, it is also clear that Father Charlebois
did not expect his graduate students to return to their reserves to work one day.
These "outings" were meant to service the "white" community, both immediately as
quasi-training assignments and later by ensuring a steady supply of cheap
labourers. Furthermore, Father Charlebois was not prepared to forfeit the
school’s per-capita grants for these students. He asked Indian Affairs for either
half these student’s per-capita grants while they were still under his supervision, or
for permission to substitute other grant-earners in their place. Indian Affairs
agreed to the latter. Indian Affairs also made St. Michael’s School responsible for

banking these girls’ earnings, except for a small portion which Father Charlebois

could withhold for their personal expenses.

m Memorandum for File", Superintendent of Indian Education, 5 November 1909.
NAC, Indian Affairs School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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The primary documentation at the National Archives confirms that two
Indian girls Numbers 55 and 46 were placed in good homes in Duck Lake doing
cooking, washing, and sewing at the rate of $6 a month.” Father Charlebois’s
lofty goals diminish somewhat when this documentation shows that he was also
playing a somewhat underhanded game of personal patronage. These girls were
placed as servants with the school’s physician, a married man with young children.
and with his widowed sister-in-law who had three children. In his letter, Father
Charlebois stated:

I took the liberty of engaging these girls before sending you my

report as these persons have been waiting long ago [sic] for servants

and would have been annoyed had they not had them at the

beginning of this month.”

It appears the good doctor and his sister-in-law may have required servants
much more urgently than these two Indian girls needed to refine their skills in
housework. In his letter, Father Charlebois also included a handwritten post-script
stating this "experiment” would terminate in five months when these two girls were
due for discharge. Within two months. the school’s physician was so pleased with
his new servant that he asked Father Charlebois to extend the experiment for

another year. Once again. Father Charlebois wrote directly to Indian Affairs in

Ottawa requesting authorization. In doing so. he happily reported on the success

s To protect the privacy of the Indian people who atiended St. Michael's School. any

references to specific cases will be identified only by the student’s "number”. This is fitting not only
as these numbers were an indelible part of each student’s history at St. Michael’s School, but these
numbers are also an accurate reflection of their dehumanized status within these institutions.

” Memo, O. Charlebois to the Secretarv of DIA, 1 December 1909. NAC, Indian
Affairs School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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of his little "outing" experiment stating "both girls have given satisfaction so far".®

He also reminded Indian Affairs that these girls were due for discharge in a few

months. He expressed his fears that their parents would come and take them

home and ruin his "outing" experiment. Father Charlebois pleaded his altruistic

intentions and asked Indian Affairs to support his already expanding experiment in

further civilizing Indian girls. He implored Indian Affairs:

So for their greater benefit 1 ask you to maintain my full control for

one year more over these two girls and over two others [Numbers 38
and 74] who have to be discharged also in April...My only aim is to

protect our pupils against the influence of their old parents.*

In this letter, Father Charlebois asked Indian Affairs to instruct their Indian

Agent to inform these girls’ parents that he must have control over their daughters

for another year. In defending the success of his "outing" experiment so far,

Father Charlebois duly reported:

[Number 55] specially would deserve a first class maid certificate if
she was not so slow and timid. That’s the only reproach can be
given her....[Number 46] deserves about the same testimony, only
she is much slower and more timid and this keeps her of being as
agreeable to her mistress as her companion; but she is willing to
work and is obedient. She likes her position fairly well too, although
she suffers sometimes when she does not succeed to be agreeable on
the points mentioned [my emphasis].®

From this, it appears that these Indian girls may have been using a bit of

Memo, Principal, Duck Lake Boarding School to the Secretary, DIA, 22 February

1910. NAC, Indian Affairs School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.

81

Memo, Principal, Duck Lake Boarding School to the Secretary, DIA, 22 February

1910. Ibid.

Memo, Principal, Duck Lake Boarding School to the Secretary, DIA, 22 February

1910. Ibid.
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passive resistance to undermine the effectiveness of their assignments. As a result
Number 46 may have also suffered the wrath of her "mistress". The latter did not
seem of any concern Indian Affairs who readily agreed with Father Charlebois’s
request, provided these girls continued as servants and did not marry while they
were "in service". Father Cha: ebois received permission to place two other
Indian girls in service who were also ready for discharge in April. As requested,
Indian Affairs advised their Indian Agent of these new arrangements.

In April 1910, when these four Indian girls were ready for discharge, Father
Charlebois’s "outing" experiment started to crumble. At this time. it also became
clearer why he had bypassed the Duck Lake Indian Agent. More importantly,
Father Charlebois quite obviously had the makings of an Indian uprising on his
hands. Although he had successfully placed two more Indian girls in service. at a
lower rate of $5 per month, the parents of the first two now had the audacity to
question his motives, and to demand the release of their daughters. Father
Charlebois plaintively explained his situation to Indian Affairs:

The trouble now is that their parents claim them and want them

home. Because the usual time for their discharge has come ... Thev

think that my object in keeping their children at service is my own

interest I am seeking. and not theirs.®

Father Charlebois confirmed that the Indian Agent was unwilling to assist

him in convincing these, quite obviously ungrateful Indian parents. to leave their

daughters in service. Although, it would be a "draw back for these girls" he was

3

Memo. O. Charlebois to the Secretary, DIA, 12 April 1910. NAC, Indian Affairs
School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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prepared to release them from service. If the Department deemed it necessary
to continue with the experiment, Father Charlebois asked for a letter from Indian
Affairs "in which you will clearly gblige me (not only authorise) to keep them
[sic)."* In the absence of the Indian Agent’s support, Father Charlebois was not
about to face these angry Indian parents without the backing of the senior Indian
Affairs bureaucrats in Ottawa.

Once again, Indian Affairs fell in line behind the second Principal of St.
Michael's School. They confirmed that Father Charlebois could keep these girls in
service and under his control for another year. Indian Affairs also pushed the
bounds of this experiment a little farther and advised Father Charlebois "the
Department would be pleased if arrangements could be made to have these girls
married to reliable ex-pupils or other Indians on the Reserve." Caught up in
their own concepts of racial superiority, church and state had quite clearly lost
sight of the concept of education. The Duck Lake Indian Agent was once again
given his marching orders by his superiors. Indian Affairs reminded him that the
Department was only looking after "the best interests of these girls".¥ His job

was to advise the Indian parents of the Department’s good intentions.

M Memo, O. Charlebois to the Secretary, DIA, 12 April 1910. NAC, Indian Affairs
School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8632, Volume 6305, File 652-1.

& Memo, O. Charlebois to the Secretary, DIA, 12 April 1910. Ibid.

% Memo, J.D. McLean to Rev. O. Charlebois, 22 April 1910. NAC, Iudian Affairs

School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.

& Memo, J.D. McLean to J. Macarthur, 22 April 1910. NAC, Indian Affairs School
Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume €305, File 652-1.
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On 20 May 1910, the Indian people from the Beardy’s and Okemasis

Reserve took action to extricate their children from the death grip euphemistically
called Indian education at St. Michael’s School. They met with the Indian Agent
and asked him to file a complaint with his superiors. The Indian Agent wrote:

... they claim that they can take as good care of their own children

as the Principal can, and that it was neither fair nor right to keep

them against their own and their parents’ wishes. They all object to

children who are in their last year at school, being sent out to work,

saying that they are not sent there to work for others, and that if

they are through with school they should be allowed to return
home.*™

In reiterating their role as parents and the customary parameters for
education they had agreed to, the Beardy’s and Okemasis Indians used a tactic
which my Mother often called "fighting fire with fire". These Indian parents had
chosen to fight church and state on the basis of its "public transcript” called Indian
"education”. Using the irrefutable common understanding that education meant
schooling, they questioned what "working for others" had to do with their
children’s education. These parents knew as James Scott (1990: 105) did. that:

Every publicly given justification for inequality thus marks out a kind

of symbolic Achilles heel where the elite is especially

vulnerable....One reason they are particularly hard to deflect is

simply because they begin by adopting the ideological terms of
reference of the elite.

Despite the validity of their case. the doctrines of racial superiority were

too firmly entrenched. Indian Affairs refused to go back on its word to Father

b Memo, J. Macarthur to J.D. McLean, 30 May 1910. NAC, Indian Affairs School Files,

RG-10, Reel C-8682, Velume 6305, File 652-1.
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Charlebois. Two weeks later, the Indian Agent reported that he had been unable

to convince the Indians to cooperate. Although he had tried to stay neutral, he
now felt compelled to share his views on these "outings". The Indian Agent wrote:

It should not be forgotten that these girls have been at schocl for 12
years; they know how and can do household work just as gooc as
white girls of their age; ... Indeed, in all this, as far as knowledge of
work, they are ahead of the average white girl. Now, this being so,
what further object can be gained by placing them with strangers to
work for a wage against their willing consent? To my mind it is akin
to slavery. If twelve years of careful training has failed to make them
competent to take up their life’s work, a few months of compelled
service will not mend matters.®

The Indian Agent stated that despite the careful training they received,
these girls almost always went back to their old ways as soon as they returned
home. He added, "But to expect that in one generation you can turn this class of
girl into anything approaching a white girl is as absurd as to expect to make a ‘silk
purse out of a sow’s lug™.® In pressing the case for the return of the two first
girls placed in service whose parents were demanding their release, he added:

Two of the Indians have specially asked me to again write the

Department regarding their daughters. One, [Number 55's father],

says he wants his girl home, she has been away twelve years. He

had in the past other two girls at this school, both of whom, while

there, became mothers. He does not want this to happen to the

third, and claims that he is just as able to look after her as the

Principal is, and that it is altogether wrong to keep the girl away
from him.*

» Memo, J. Macarthur to the Secretary, DIA, 28 June 1910. NAC, Indian Affairs
School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.

%0 Memo, J. Macarthur to the Secretary, DIA, 28 June 1910. Ibid.

a Memo, J. Macarthur 1o the Secretary, DIA, 28 June 1910. Ibid.
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Whether it was the possibility of scandal regarding the two unexplained
pregnancies at St. Michael’s School, or the mention of the word “slavery", the
Indian Agent’s letter received a quick response. Within ten days, Indian Affairs
instructed Father Charlebois to recall these girls and to discharge those students
who had reached eighteen years of age. In their defence, Indian Affairs stated:

In view of the attitude of the Indians of your district generally

towards residential schools it is not considered politic to place their

girls in service against their wishes, nor to retain them in the school

beyond the age of 18 years....The greatest care must be taken not to

antagonize the Indians, as all efforts to recruit will prove futile.”

Always willing to give a httle something in return, Indian Affairs gave
Father Charlebois the option of deciding whether these girls deserved honourable
discharge certificates. In addition to finally authorizing the release of these girls
from their state of bondage, the Department’s letter to Father Charlebois also
pointed out the fact that Indian people were already resisting residential school
educarion. More significant. perhaps. Indian Affairs recognized it had to operate
within its educational guidelines, or risk further resistance from Indian people.

What remains unclear, however. is whether the Indian Agent had merely
played on Ottawa’s low expectations for Indians. or if he believc.: what he wrote.

The Indian Agent’s closing argument that one of these girls had an invalid mother

who needed her, and his statement that he "sympathized with the girls and their

92 Memo, 3.D. McLean to O. Charlebois, 7 July 1910. NAC, Indian Affairs School Files,
RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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parents”, seems to point to the former.” Much to the Oblate’s chagrin, the Duck
Lake Indian Agent continued to support Indian p=ople in their protests against St.
Michael’s School. Father Charlebois, however, did not have to put up with this
situation much longer. His valiant efforts to better the condition of Indian people,
with or without their consent, had not gone unnoticed by his superiors. Father
Charlebois was subsequently named Bishop of the new Vicariate of Keewatin.

While the Catholics were still in the process of creating this new Vicariate,
St. Michael’s School got wind of disquieting rumours that the Beardy’s and
Okemasis Indians wanted a day school on their reserve. The dire implications did
not escape the Oblates. The Beardy’s and Okemasis Reserve is virtually next door
to St. Michael’s School. If these particular Indians refused to send their children
to St. Michael’s School, it was bound to reflect badly on the Oblates. When the
Indian Agent once again refused to cooperate, by confirming the validity of these
rumours, the Oblates turned to Ottawa for answers. The Oblates at St. Michael’s
School were quite obviously tahen aback when Indian Affairs replied:

I beg to say that the Department is advised that these Indians wish

to establish a day-school, but no direct application has yet been

made. In this connection, I beg to state that in the treaty made with

them, the following clause appears: ‘And further, Her Majesty

agrees to maintain schools for instruction in such reserves made, as

to Her Government in Canada may seem advisable, whenever the

Indians of the reserve desire it.” From the above stipulation you will

see that obligation exists to maintain schools in reserves where
deemed advisable (Le Chevallier 1944: 34).

i Memo, J. Macarthur to the Secretary, DIA, 28 June 1910. NAC, [ndian Affairs
School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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Confirmation that Indian Affairs was actually thinking about honouring its
treaty promises, after more than thirty years, sent fear into the hearts of the
Oblate Fathers. As accurately summed up by Father Le Chevallier (1944: 35):

Should the Indians of Batoche, Lake Muskeg and the other adjacent

reserves take a fancy to imitate the example of their neighbours at

Beardy’s ... St. Michael’s School would soon have no reason to exist.

The Oblates had every reason to be concerned about the potential spill
over cffects to the other reserves. The moccasin telegraph was bound to spread
the word that the Duck Lake Indians were displeased with St. Michael’s School
and were demanding their own school. Father Charlebois had evidently sown the
seeds of discontent among these Indians when he decided to place their children
in service, without their consent. The Beardy’s and Okemasis Indians responded
by withholding some of their children from school. Later, when Father Charlebois
complained that he needed these children to keep St. Michael’s School open, the
Indian Agent wrote, "That is all very well but the young men will not send them
there and they must go to some school."™ As a result, Indian Affairs advised the
Duck Lake Indian Agent that they were prepared to consider a formal application
for a day school on the Beardy’s and Okemasis Reserve. They also asked the
Indian Agent to include a r-p.ort, with the petition. on the number of children

expected to attend this day school and the probability of this school’s success.

Given the seriousness of these new developments. Bishop Pascal once again

o Incomplete reference entitled: "Extract from letter from J. Macarthur Indian Agent

Duck Lake, 10 February 1910". NAC, Indian Affairs Black [Western] Series, RG 10, Reel C-10163,
Volume 3929, File 117056-1.
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intervened with Indian Affairs in Ottawa. He confirmed that the majority of the
students from St. Michael's School now came from the Beardy’s and Okemasis,
One Arrow’s, and the Muskeg Lake Reserves. The approval of a day school, on
even one of these reserves, was bound to impact on St. Michael’s School. In
pleading the Oblate’s cause, he reminded Indian Affairs of the large financial
investment they both had made in this school. In case this proved insufficient in
bringing the Department back to its senses, he dutifully reminded them:

The Department ought to know that the children who frequent day

schools do not learn any English to speak off [sic] and that they

keep all the habits of carelessness and filth which we try to destroy

in our Boarding Schools.*

Bishop Pascal’s passionate distaste for day schools had not changed in
sixteen vears. In 1894, he used almost the same argument to convince Indian
Affairs to close down the day schools in the Duck Lake area and to divert these
funds to St. Michael’s School. In the meantime, the Indians from the Beardy’s
and Okemasis Reserve made their move. They held a meeting with their Indian
Agent to prepare a formal petition to demand a day school on their reserve. The
issue was of such critical importance that, with the exception of a small number of
Indians who did not have children, this meeting was attended by everyone. The
petition received unanimous consent. In their petition, the Indians stated there

was no need for their children to attend a boarding school, as they no longer went

off the reserve to hunt. In pleading for compassion, they also did not hesitate to

o Memo, A. Pascal to J.D. McLean, 12 April 1910. NAC, Indian Affajrs Black
[Western] Series, RG-10, Reel C-10163, Volume 3929, File 117056-1.
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restate the Department’s "civilization" criteria to defend their right to take care of

their own children. With all the hopes of someone pleading with others to look
within to try and understand their pain of separation, the Indians wrote:

[We] obtain our living by farming and stock raising and in our mode

of living our agent tells us that we compare favourably with our

white neighbours we think we are capable of training our own

children when not at school.... The white man loves his children and

likes to have them round him in the evenings and on the days in

which school is not open. We also love our children with just as

much warm and affection as the white man and we want to keep
them around us.*

As requested. the Indian Agent also included a report confirming there
were thirty children from the Beardy's and Okemasis Reserve enroled at St.
Michael’s School. Although ten more were ot school age. these children were
being withheld by their parents. Due in part to these numbers. the Indian Agent
reported that a day school on this reserve stood a good chance at success. These
numbers also spelled disaster for St. Michael’s School "because the per capita
system tied funding to enrolment” (Miller 1992: 145). The Oblates were not only
losing control over the Indians, they had already lost access to ten per-capita
grants. If a day school was approved on the Beardy's and Okemasis Reserve. the
permanent loss of the forty grants would tinancially cripple St. Michael’s School.

According to Father Le Chevallier (1944: 34), "Bishop Pascal. noticing the
unfriendly attitude towards St. Michael's School, wrote himself to the Department

of Indian Affairs requesting them to deal with this situation.” Documentation at

% Memo. J. Macarthur to the Superintendent General, 20 May 1910. NAC, Indian

Affairs Black [Western] Series, RG-10, Reel C-10163, Volume 3929, File 117056-1
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the National Archives indicates that Bishop Pascal was hardly as conciliatory as
this statement implies. In a five page letter, Bishop Pascal outlined twenty-four
points why Indian Affairs should not approve a day school on the Beardy’s and
Okemasis Reserve. By point twelve, Bishop Pascal had already dispensed with
many of the niceties regarding the "public transcripts” cf church and state around
the issue of Indian education. From this point on, his arguments had less to do
with the benefits of education for Indian people and more to do with what the
Oblates and Indian Affairs stood to lose if St. Michael’s School closed. Bishop
Pascal’s airing of the "hidden transcripts" of Indian education, when it appears that
Indian Affairs is no longer willing to play by the same rules, are quite instructive.

Bishop Pascal starts his attack by hitting Indian Affairs in its always
vulnerable pocket book. He reminds the Department they will be stuck with a
"white elephant” if the Oblates are forced to close St. Michael’s School due to lack
of enrolment.” He then switches tactics and pleads for compassion for the
missionaries who have devoted their lives tc helping Indian people, stating:

Furthermore, after such great ouvtiay of energy as well as of their

means, it would be an injustice, a downright cruelty, to persons who

have devoted the better part of their lives to this work if aught were

done to hamper them, not to speak of ousting them as would

happen if the Duck Lake boarding school is closed.”

That the missionaries should be left with no home, when they already have

one at St. Michael’s School, filled with children they are prevented from having, is

v Memo, A. Pascal to J.D. McLean, 28 May 1910. NAC, Indian Affairs Black [Western]
Series, RG-10, Reel C-10163, Volume 3929, File 117056-1.

fod Memo, A. Pascal to J.D. McLean, 28 May 1910. Ibid.
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unthinkable! Bishop Pascal failed to mention that he was more than prepared to
inflict this same cruelty on Indian people whose homes had been robbed for years
just to fill St. Michael’s School. Obviously, knowing that compassion is not always
the strongest motivator, Bishop Pascal threatened Indian Affairs. He pointedly
reminded the Department of the dire implications of public debate:

Finally, should the Government accede to the demands of these
Indians, contrary to our expectation, some explanation of the closing
of this school would be due to the public and the blame put where it
belongs. This would necessarily oblige us to give the facts of the
case as we see them, with all the circumstances leading up thereto,
particularly to make public the hostility of the parties opposed to
our as well as the Indians’ interests. This, we foresee, would
naturally lead to acrimonious debate and religious animosities which
on our part, we would much rather avoid. In the exigency. our duty
leaves us but one course to pursue.”

In case Indian Affairs still failed to comprehend what was required of them,
Bishop Pascal pressed his "duty" one step further. In no uncertain terms, he laid
his cards on the table and bluntly told Indian Affairs:

... you will take no heed of the demands of the Indians of the Duck

J.ake Agency Reserves.... However. should this not suffice, we are

prepared to go further and appeal to the public at large, regardless

of the consequences to either the Government or to any private

party whatsoever.'®

Indian Affairs, for its part. certainly had not failed to miss the full

implications of Bishop’s Pascal’s threatening letter. As this matter required such

careful attention, they informed the Oblates that D.C. Scott the Superintendent of

» Memo, A. Pascal to J.D. McLean, 28 May 1910. NAC, Indian Affairs Black [Western

Series RG-10, Reel C-10163, Volume 3929, File 117056-1.

100 Memo, A. Pascal to J.D. McLean, 28 May 1910. Ibid.




Education would personally look into this situation.

Shortly thereafter, in September 1910, Father Gabillon became St.
Michae!’s third Principal and thus inherited this "far from encouraging" (Le
Chevallier 1944: 35) situation from Father Charlebois. Father Gabillon was no
sooner installed in his new duties when D.C. Scott called the churches together to

liscuss the new Indian education regulations. As Bishop Pascal was unable to
attend, Father Gabillon was sent to represent the Oblates’ concerns in his place.

In the meantime, the Duck Lake Indian Agent continued to stir up trouble
for the Oblates at St. Michael’s School. In December 1910, he reported that the
death rate at this school was "again returning to its high mark, two of the inmates
having died during the year and two others dying".!®® Consistent with Dr.

Bryce’s (1907) findings, he blamed the buildings which housed the children at St.
Michael’s School as the source of the problem. In his letter, the Indian Agent
also included findings of a ten-year study comparing the death rate at St.
Michael’s School with that of the other day schools in the area. He reported that
nine of the nineteen Indian children from the One Arrow’s Reserve who attended
St. Michael’s School had already died. By comparison, only six of the thirty-seven
children who attended the two day schools at Fort-a-la-Corne (James Smith) died
during the same period. Probably knowing that his superiors in Ottawa would try

and find some plausible reason for these findings, the Indian Agent added:

101 Memo, J. Macarthur to the Secretary, DIA, 27 December 1910. NAC, Indian Affairs
School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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It may be thought that the James Smith’s people are, on the whole,

more healthy than the One Arrow’s people, but I find that during

the past 10 years the average duration of life on the James Smith’s

was 25 years, while on the One Arrow’s reserve it is a fraction over

27 years notwithstanding the heavy toll taken by the Duck Lake

Boarding school.1?

The Indian Agent confirmed that these alarming death rates were one of
the reasons why the Indians were fighting for day schools on their reserves. In
early January 1911, Indian Affairs asked their Inspector of Indian Agencies to give
the Indian Agent’s letter his personal attention. However caring this may sound,
the reasons had less to do with the magnitude of the report. As a result of Father
Gabillon’s meeting with D.C. Scott, the Oblates were considering becoming "the
proprietors and land-owners of the school in Duck Lake" (Le Chevallier 1944: 35).
If this happened, the Oblates would assume full responsibility for any future
renovations required to make this school less of a health hazard to its students. A
tidy sum of money was involved. According to Father Le Chevallier (1944: 35),
"The repairs alone must amount o fourteen or fifteen thousand dollars.”

The Oblates were not wrong in assuming that St. Michael’s School required
substantial repairs. The School Inspector reported that the school needed a new
basement, better water works and sewage disposal facilities. He added that:

The outside closets, which on account of their unavoidable proximity

to the school and for other reasons are a serious menace to the
health of the pupils.'®

102 Memo, J. Macarthur to the Secretary, DIA, 27 December 1910. NAC, Indian Affairs

School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6303, File 652-1.

103 Memo, W. Chisholm to J.D. McLean, 26 January 1911. NAC, Indian Affairs School
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With respect to the condition of St. Michael’s School itself, the Inspector of

Indian Agencies stated:

The building is a plain and inexpensive one, but not on the whole an

unsanitary structure, (apart from the basement and the want of

waterworks), except for the fact that it has now for 16 or 17 years

been occupied by pupils a number of whom are known to have

suffered for months from tuberculosis.!®

The Inspector also confirmed that the Indian Agent’s findings on the death
rate at St. Michael’s School were accurately based on the school’s certified
quarterly returns. He indicated that better screening of pupils including "an
inquiry into the health record of their parents and other near relatives” may have
alleviated some of the problem caused by admitting infected children.® While
the Inspector cannot be faulted for identifying the need for substantial repairs,
"selecting healthier students" (Hall 1983: 133) would not have addressed the health
risks posed by the overall unhealthy surroundings at St. Michael’s School. That
these unhealthy conditions continued to persist four years after Dr. Bryce (1907)
released his findings is unconscionable. It is little wonder that Indian peopile felt
compelled either to withhold their children from St. Michael's School or to
demand day schools on their reserves. The latter demand was also quickly
becoming the norm in response to the conditions at St. Michael’s School.

As predicted by the Oblates, the One Arrow’s and the Muskeg Lake

Reserves followed Beardy’s lead and demanded day schools on their reserves.

104 Memo, W. Chisholm to J.D. McLean, 26 January 1911. NAC, Indian Affairs School
Eiles, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, F & 652-1.

108 Memo, W. Chisholm 10 J.D. McLean, 26 January 1911. Ibid.
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Unbeknownst to these Indians, this also gave the Oblates the leverage needed to
bring Indian Affairs back in line. Three reserves were now demanding day schools
which implied increased expenditures for the Department. On the other hand,
Indian Affairs also wanted to dump St. Michael’s Schoo!l which needed major
repairs. In the end, the Oblates agreed to buy St. Michael’s School, but they
needed some assurances that they would have a steady clientele. Father Henri
Grandin, the Oblate Provincial, advised Indian Affairs:

Before undertaking the improvements on our school at Duck Lake. |

shall wait your answer about the day schools, and your promise to

give instructions to your agents that they should tell the Indians that

the boarding-school is sufficient for their needs (Le Chevallier 1944:

36).

Contrary to Treaty 6. Indian Affairs denied the petition for a day school
from the Beardy’s and Okemasis Reserve. They decided this reserve was too
close to St. Michael’s to warrant its own school. A similar application from the
Muskeg Lake Reserve was also refused. The Oblates had only won part of the
battle. Indian Affairs held the One Arrow’s request in abeyance and a.'vised the
Oblates they were still prepared to consider other applications due to Treaty 6.

At this tenuous time in their history. "Fr. Grandin deemed it advisable to
appoint a new principal of strong and energetic mind. of determined character.
able to carry on the struggle till final success be achieved” (Le Chevallier 1944:
37). Father Gabillon was summarily relieved of this duties. Father Grandin

considered him much too weak to manage the discipline of the older students at

St. Michael’s School. More important perhaps. given the circumstances. the




142

Oblates "fear(ed] that he would not be able to resist the rising fanatism [sic] and
the hypocritical underhand dealing of the Agent and of the Indians" (Le Chevallier
1944: 37). Indiai. resistance was taking its toll on St. Michael’s School. With the
Oblates about to assume financial responsibility for this school, they could no
longer afford to lose control to the Indians. Consequently, within nine months,
"the interregnum of Father Gabillon" (Le Chevallier 1944: 34-37) was over.

Father Le Chevallier’s choice of words is important because interregnum
means "an interval of time between the close of a sovereign’s reign and the
accession of the normal or legitimate successor" (Random House 1992: 705-706).
Indeed, Father Gabilion was replaced by the formidable Henri Delmas, an
authoritarian who like Father Charlebois knew what was best for Indian people
without asking them. Contrary to established procedures, the Oblates waited over
two months before asking Indian Affairs to approve Father Delmas’s appointment
in September 1911. The Oblates were finally back in command at St. Michael’s
School. As openly acknowledged by Father Grandin, "Under Bishop Charlebois
no one would have dared to resist his authority and I am convinced that with Fr.
Delmas none will be even tempted to do so" (Le Chevallier 1944: 37). Father
Delmas was, of course, the same "kind" man whom Father Le Chevallier (1944: 7)
had credited with transforming St. Michael’s School into a Lome. Consistent with
his times, Father Delmas was indeed the lord and master of his own bouse. St.
Michael’s School just happened to be his home!

With everything falling back into place, the Oblates signed an agreement to
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take over St. Michael’s Schootl in January 1912. Significantly, the Indian Agent
whc had caused them so much trouble was no longer at Duck Lake by the time
this agreement was signed. With the changeover in administration, St. Michael’s
School received a new enrolment quota of one hundred pupils, at the new per-
capita rate of $125. The children were allowed one month for holidays, but Indian
Affairs assumed none of these transportation costs. The Oblates also agreed to
provide religious instruction to their students. The boys were to receive industrial
training consisting of gardening, farming, and the care of stock, while the girls
were to be taught cooking, laundry work, needlework, general housewifery, and
dairy work. Significantlv, the requirement for schooling in the ordinary branches
of an English education was listed last. The Oblates agreed not to enrol any child
under seven years of age and to discharge children when they reached eighteen.
To qualify for first-class school status, the Oblates installed a water and sewage
system and built an isolation area for infectious diseases, at the cost of $20,000.
This huge outlay of money did not necessarily turn St. Michael’s School into a
first-class school. As poetically described by Father Le Chevallier (1994: 38):

Unfortunately these expensive ameliorations did not convert the old

school into a new one, and St. Michael’s showed evident signs of age

and decline; a new frill does not mak. iew bonnet and good wine

thrives not in old bottles.

Given these conditions, Father Delmas was forced to begin the long
process of negotiating with Indian Affairs to replace St. Michael’s School. In

defending the need for a more modern, and certainly an all around safer schooling

establishment, Father Delmas advised Indian Affairs:
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The construction of our school dates back to 1894. According to the

customs of the times it was built of wood, with no foundation

whatever. You can easily imagine in what state it is presently.

When I tell you that it is actually falling to pieces, you must take me

verbatim. Through the cracks in the floor you can get a glimpse of

the rooms beneath. We almost expect, at any moment, to crash

down into the cellar. All visitors are astonished to find the buildings

in such an irreparable state of ruin (Le Chevallier 1944: 38).

An inspector confirmed Father Delmas’s complaints about St. Michael’s
School. He wrote "the danger of fire, in my estimation, should be sufficient for
condemning it" (Le Chevalliecr 1944: 36). There was no money for new schools.
St. Michael’s School just had to make do with what it had. In 1916, the Indian
children took matters into their own hands. In the spring, rumours circulated that
some boys were planning to burn down St. Michael’s School. By the fall, some
little boys were caught setting fires and were severely punished. While the latter
quelled the danger for awhile, it did not last long. By late August 1917, another
fire was discovered and the Oblates were forced to evacuate the school. The fire
was quickly put out. In September, Father Delmas advised the Indian Agent of
the situation and told the Agent he had not taken action earlier as he was absent
due to poor health. In explaining his predicament, Father Delmas added:

Among Indian children as among white there are characters who are

not subdued, even by severe correction. Of the boys who attempted

to set the fire in 1916, one alone did not repent, and he is the most

guilty. Today ! dread him and it is for him alone that 1 would beg

the Department to decide his case and prosecute as soon as
possible.%

106 Memo, H. Delmas to E. Pant. Schmidt, 5 September 1917. NAC, Indian Affajrs
School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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While Father Delmas’s request for disciplinary action was under review
within the bureaucracy, a hay stack mysteriously burnt down at St. Michael’s
School. Five days later, a fire was set in the small boys’ recreation room. No one
was caught. The children at St. Michael’s School had placed Father Delmas in a
perilous position. He knew his school was a fire trap. He also could not afford
just to expel the Indian boy who refused to admit his guilt. He feared others
would follow his lead just to be set free from St. Michael’s School. Father Delmas
needed to make an example out of this boy. According to James Scott (1990: 57):

Patterns of domination can, in fact, accommodate a reasonably high

level of practical resistance so long as that resistance is not publicly

or unambiguously acknowledged. Once it is, however, it requires a

public reply if the symbolic status quo is to restored.

Indian Affairs also recognized the need to restore the status quo at St.
Michael’s School. They also knew only too well as Grant (1984: 179) stated,
"Resistance to enrolment was widespread, and school burnings were more
common than mere accident would explain." Consequently, D.C. Scott advised the
Oblates to seek prosecution under the Criminal Code as "these boys must be given
a salutary lesson"'” The case was subsequently tried at St. Michael’s School
under the Juvenile Delinquent’s Act. A young Indian boy. fourteen years of age,

from the One Arrow’s Reserve pleaded guilty. In his defense. he stated that he

had tried to burn down St. Michael’s School because he "was sad (lonesome)".!®

107 Memo, D.C. Scott to H. Grandin, 22 September 1917. NAC. Indian Affairs School

Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.

108 Memo, P. Schmidt to the Secretary, DIA. 23 November 1917. NAC, Indian Affairs
School Files, RG-10, Reel C-8682, Volume 6305, File 652-1.
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In his own mind, burning down St. Michael’s School was probably the only way he
could see of escaping this place, which had become his prison. Although an
unquestionably dangerous act, it is important to remind ourselves that for these
Indian children, who were alienated from the support of their families, and who
were so completely and utterly controlled:

Each step out of line was an important one in self-definition. In a

society determined by the powers of the priests and nuns the

students’ self produced sub-culture was an even more important and

fundamental aspect of survival (Haig-Brown 1987: 95).

This sub-culture of resistance often represented the children’s only means
of emotional and spiritual survival in the alien and often harsh environment called
Indian residential schools, which tried so desperately to destroy their Indianness.
In analyzing this particular situation, there can be no doubt that trying to burn
down St. Michael’s School was a serious offense. Given the condition of the
school, any fire no matter how small, had the real potential for catastrophic
consequences for everyone. However, as far as Father Delmas was concerned this
Indian boy’s most grievous offense was that he would not repent. He would not
allow the status quo to be restored at St. Michael’s School. No matter how
severely punished, this young Indian boy would not be dominated by anyone.

This boy’s "crime" laid bare three issues about the relationship between
domination and resistance. First, Indian Affairs almost immediately questioned
the quality of discipline at St. Michael’s School and, consequently, the Oblate’s

ability to do their job as the other member of the dominant elite. Second, Father

Delmas had been specifically appointed as the Principal of St. Michael’s School
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because "his commanding appearance and his great strength will certainly overawe
the children, even the oldest” (Le Chevailier 1944: 37). This obviously had not
happened. In the eyes of his superiors, Father Delmas’s own eftectiveness was
also in question. Third, while the trial at St. Michael’s School restored law and
order, this public forum was far more effective in demonstrating the omnipotent
power of church and state. Finally, the extraction of the public admission of guilt
from this Indian boy was also important because as Scott (1990:57) stated:

The subordinate, who has publicly violated the norms of domination,

announces by way of a public apology that he disassociates himself

from the offense and reaffirms the rule in question. He publicly

accepts, in cther words, the judgement of his superior that this is an

offense and thus, implicitly, the censure or punishment that follows

from it. The point has little to do with the sincerity of the retraction

and disavowal, since what the apology repairs is the public transcript

of apparent com >liance.

Therefore, with this Indian boy thoroughly chastised and sentenced to
reform school, the Oblates were unquestionably back in command. Nine years
later, Indian Affairs finally replaced the old dilapidated and disease ridden
structure called St. Michael’s School. After the new school was completed. Father
Delmas went to France to rest. According to Father Le Chevallier (1944: 42):

During his absence. the forsaken old school was soon to disappear.

On May 3rd, 1926, it was entirely destroyed by fire. In less than an

hour it was naught but a heap of ashes.

The Indian children at St. Michael’s School had finally got their wish. After
thirty-two years the old school was no longer a visible painful reminder of their

lives within this institution. Only the graves of the Indian children remained to

mark the spot where this monument to "Christianity" and "civilization" once stood.
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Chapter 7 - Conclusions and Next Steps

It was not the fur trader or even the solider who worked

the most damage on Canada’s Indians; it was the

missionary, the school-teacher, and the bureaucrat who

thought they knew better than the indigenous peoples what

was good for them (Miller 1991b: 96).
7.0  Conclusions

Two primary objectives formed the basis for this study. The first objective
was to examine the historical and ideological context of Indian-white relations to
provide a framework for the analysis of St. Michael’s Indian Residential School.
Second, from the perspective of "an Aboriginal way of knowing" and using James
Scott’s (1990) analysis of domination and resistance, I hoped to find the place of
my people within this history and to determine their role in Indian education.
Although the historical course of Indian-white relations cannot be easily

separated from its ideological underpinnings, the latter obviously impacted on the
former. Since the 1500s, virtually everyone who landed on the shores of what is
now Canada had some idea of what to do about the Indians. Ir the end, however,
it was not just "the missionary, the school-teacher, and the bureaucrat who workad
the most damage on Canada’s Indians" (Miller 1991b: 96). The course of Indian-
white relations was altered not just by the actions of these three groups, but by the

overall effect of the emergence of "scientific racism" (Miller 1991b: 96) which

provided the legitimacy and authority for their actions. In other words, concepts
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of racial superiority were a decisive factor in the history of Indian-white relations.

Certainly, concepts of racial superiority lurk beneath the "euphemized"
descriptions of Indian-white relations called assimilation and Indian education, and
are embodied in the structure of Indian residential schools. That the early
Europeans chose assimilation over the outright extermination of Indian people is
hardly the issue. The real issue rests in the acknowledgement that, the choice
itself, is rooted in the concept of raciai superiority. Furthermore, while the
extermination of Indians may not have been a policy initiative, assimilation as
embodied in the concept of Indian residential schools translated into nothing less
than the complete extermination of Indianness. One choice was not necessarily
more humane than the other. Assimilation, at its root. was just as destructive as
extermination because it attacked the most vulnerable members of Indian society.

The concepts of "Christianizing" and "civilizing" Indians through education
are also embedded in the belief that Indians are inferior and must be raised to the
level of the Europeans. Indian residential schools merely represented the most
effective means of achieving this end. Moreover, by accepting the euphemism
called Indian "education” at face value, we neglect to consider that "residential
schooling ... was still an experiment in social engineering” (Miller 1991b: 196). In
Domination and the Arts of Resistance. James Scott (1990: 53) stated:

At every occasion on which the official euphemism is allowed to

prevail over the other, dissonant versions, the dominant monopoly

over public knowledge is publicly conceded by subordinates. They

may, of course, have little choice in the matter, but so long as the

monopoly is not publicly contested, it never has to "explain itself", it
has nothing to "answer for".




The official euphemism called "education” commonly used to describe

Indian residential schools has served to limit the accountability of church and state
for their actions. This "dominant monopoly over public knowledge" described by
Scott (1990: 53) also discredits Indian anger because it establishes a world view
that defines "education" as something quite unlike the reality experienced by
Indian people. Church and state are held accountable only for the cases of
physical, sexual, or emotional abuse which they tend to minimize in both scope
and responsibility. The concept of "Indian eduction” remains untouched. Also, by
acknowledging only the overt forms of violence, no voice is given to the "symbolic
violence" (Bourdieu 1977: 196) of stripping Indian children of their Indianness.
When church and state are finally held accountable for explaining where outings,
arranged marriages, and colonies fit into the concept of Indian "education", only
then will we begin to understand Indian anger. Only then will be understand just
how little we really know about the reality called "Indian education".

Just as the historical and ideological cannot be separated, neither can
Indian education be examined solely within the context of what transpired within
any one residential school. Although this paper only scratches the surface, the
policy framework for Indian education was initiated in the East and not with
Davin’s (1879) recommendations on industrial schools. Indian education while
always associated with "Christianizing” and “civilizing" Indians, took on a harder
edge as the Europeans increased in numbers and Indians blocked the path of

immigration and progress by tenaciously holding onto their traditional ways.
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By the 1840s, these conditions paved the way for a new policy direction
which gave the churches a formal role in Indian education and witnessed a shift
towards residential schooling. Given these changing conditions, some of the
eastern tribes started sending their children to school and some even paid for this
service out of their annuities. This did not necessarily mean that Indians and
missionaries held similar views on schooling. Indian people wanted their children
to be taught certain skills. More often than not, the missionaries saw schooling as
the opportunity for indoctrinating Indian children in the ways of the Europeans.
As a result, Indian people started withholding their children from school and the
first cries for compulsory schooling can be heard in the East.

On the Prairies, the missionaries also opened up the first schools among
the Plains Indians who wanted to prepare for the possible domise of the buffalo
by learning how to farm. This advance guard of missionary activity changed the
course of the Treaty 6 negotiations of 1876. With the support of the missionaries,
Alexander Morris negotiated Treaty 6 primarily with the leading Christian Chiefs
who among other things asked for schooling on-reserve. Not all the Plains Indians
had even agreed to sign Treaty 6 by the time Davin. at the request of the Minister
of the Interior, made his recommendations on Indian industrial schooling in 1879.
Four year» later, Indian Affairs acted on these recommendations and built the first
four Indian industrial schools in western Canada.

Industrial schools which were based on the American policy of "aggressive

civilization" (Davin 1879: 1) quickly fell out of favour with Indian people. In 1894,
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Indian Affairs moved to counteract Indian resistance to residential schooling by
amending the Indian Act to enforce compulsory attendance at both industrial and
boarding schools. The ideology of racial superiority and its concomitant policy of
compulsion had not bypassed the Prairies. Compulsory schooling was just one of
many pieces of legislation enacted to try and break down tribal customs and to
turn Indians, primarily Indian children, into brown Europeans.

In essence, therefore, the historical and ideological context of Indian-white
relations did not change significantly from east to west. While the Indians in the
East had more time to confront their changing circumstances, the Plains Indians
saw their way of life disappear within the span of a few decades. Evidence of
Indian resistance to European domination can also be found throughout this
history. Although faint at times, the voices of Indian people can also be heard.

The work completed by Morris (1880), Dempsey (1984), and Tobias (1983)
on the Treaty 6 negotiations helped me to find my people within this history, to
hear their voices, and to sce their resistance. Although angered and pained at the
ideological underpinnings of this history, when I pursued "an Aboriginal way of
knowing" I was able to bring the heart and mind closer together to find myself
within this research. Reaching out, even through the medium of primary and
secondary sources was never an easy process. I would never have survived the
painful reality of this research had it not been for Aboriginal healing and learning
circles. My journey into my own past helped me to understand Linda Bull’s (1991:

3) feelings about her research on Indian residential schools, when she wrote:
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The more research I did the more Indianized I became. I felt that

someone had to begin promoting the values that are inherent in

Indian traditional cultures, to reeducate both Native and non-Native

societies about the reality of the Indian situation. I also found that

there needs to be a great deal of healing within Indian communities.

Having the elders tell their stories from their perspective is one way

to begin that process.

Unlike Linda Bull, I did not complete any interviews for this research. 1 do
know, however, that this study will never be complete without the direct voices of
many other Indian people. Someday, I hope to do these interviews not just to
finish this research, but to complete my own journey. In the meantime, I have
tried to bridge this gap in my research process by getting the most out of the
primary and secondary sources available on Indian residential schools.

James Scott’s (1990) analysis of "public transcripts" and "hidden transcripts”
helped me not only to find, but to understand the many facets of domination and
resistance. Often the struggle by Indian children against domination, particularly
in the highly controlled environment of Indian residential schools goes beyond
what is commonly defined as "resistance”. While cases of runaways and incidents
of arson are visible signs of resistance, Johnson (1988) and Haig-Brown (1987)
reveal the passive resistance inherent within innocuous acts such as dawdling and
silence. This kind of resistance is virtually invisible within the primary and
secondary documentation on St. Michael's School. This broader understanding of
resistance also helped me to see the passive resistance hidden beneath many of

the so-called funny stories I heard as a child about Indian residential school life.

Similarly, Pierre Bourdieu's (1977) analysis of "euphemisms" allowed me to
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re-examine some of the concepts such as "assimilation" and Indian "education"
which are often mistakenly defined as just the benevolent intentions or outcome of
white-Indian relations. Bourdieu’s (1977) analysis of "symbolic violence" also
helped me to recognize the violence inherent within the litany of supposedly
innocuous procedures which actually stripped children of their Indianness at
Indian residential schools. This hidden "symbolic violence", in combination with
the reality of physical, sexual, and emotional abuse makes for an even uglier
picture of Indiar residential school life. Once recognized, however, we can no
longer question why Indian people remain so angry about Indian education.
From the limited perspective of using primary and secondary sources, 1 feel
that I have succeeded, to some extent, in unravelling a few of the broader
historical and ideological implications of Indian-white relations. This research
served as the backdrop for answering the following two questions regarding St.
Michael’s School in Duck Lake, Saskatchewan:
L to what extent did the racial doctrines of the late nineteenth
century provide the ethical justification for the application of
the concepts of "civilization" and "Christianity" in relation to
this school, and to what extent did these advance the
economic relationship between Indian Affairs and the Oblates
of Mary Immaculate at St. Michael’s School during the period
1894-1926; and
o to what extent do the historical records support the beliet
that Indian people were active participants in Indian
educational issues, and what evidence exists that Indian
people and their children struggled against the assimilation

policies imposed upon them by St. Michael’s School.

In response to the first question. the ideology of racial superiority played a
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significant role in both the establishment and on-going operation of St. Michael’s
School. Although not defined i . such crass terms, the primary docu.nentation
leaves little doubt that church and state knew exactly where they stood on the
evolutionary ladder in comparison to the Indians they purported to serve as public
servants and missionaries. Certainly, their actions speak as loud as their words.
In all fairness, there is documentary evidence of some exceptinns at the local level.
Like many other residential schools, St. Michael's School was founded on
the racist belief that Indian people needed to be "Christianized" and "civilized"
through an indoctrination process s:ill euphemistically called Indian "education”.
While certainly not a marriage made in heaven, the economic union of church and
state was founded on the belief that residential schools provided the most effective
means of changing Indian children into brown Europeans. The Oblates often used
the concepts of "Christianity”" and "civilization” to trv and force Indian Affairs into
carvying its fair share of the financial burden of operating St. Michael's School.
When the Department refused. as it often did. the children at St. Michael’s School
made up the financial short-fall through their labour often disguised as .ndustrial
training. In other words. the Indian children’s "education” in farming. gardening.
and sewing increased in proportion to the decreases in the Indian Aftairs funding.
In response to the second question, there can be little doubt that church
and state saw absolutely no role for Indian people in educational issues. Indians
were expected only to ensure that their children dutitully attended school. Other

than the part Indians played in securing the on-reserve schooling commitment in
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Treaty 6, Indian people had no role in making Indian educational policy. Indian
people had to fight tooth and nail just to have a minor say in their children’s
schooling at St. Michael’s School. Despite the strenuous efforts made by church
and state to shut them out, Indian people struggled against this oppressive form of
Indian education. The Beardy’s and Okemasis Reserve closed down the Oblate’s
"outing" experiment which turned their children into servants in "white" homes.
Two other reserves also fought for day schools and did not win. But, their efforts
1lso caused church and state a great deal of aggravation. Indian children also
fought back by trying to burn down St. Michael’s School. While undoubtedly a
dangerous act, desperate situations sometimes call for equally desperate measures.
Reflecting back on this research, three final points come to mind. First,
Indian residential schools provided far more indoctrination than education. This
education was far from free. Indian children paid for their "education” through
their annuities, their labour called industrial training, and often with their lives.
Second, while this "material exploitation” is abhorrent, we must never forget the
issues of "diz..ity" and "autonomy" (Scott 19J0: 23) which were so sadly lacking in
the concept of Indian education and Indian residential schools. Uniess Indians are
granted the same rights to dignity and autonomy as the Euro-Canacians, Indian-
white relations will never change, aespite the most heartfelt apologies. Finally, for
real change to occur the "ideology of racial superiority” must be critically examined
within its historical context. Moreover, we must be prepared to acknowledge that

this racial ideology still permeates white-Indian relations today.




7.1  Next Steps

This research on St. Michael’s School within the broader historical and
ideological context of Indian-white relations cannot be considered complete. For
one thing, a wealth of primary documentation has yet to be uncovered. Indian
and Northern Affairs Canada and the Provincial Archives in Alberta both hold
records on this school which were not used as part of this study. The Glenbow
Museum Archives, the Sisters of the Faithful Companions of Jesus, and the Sisters
of Presentation of Mary also represent potential sources for further information.

More importantly, any future research must move beyond documentary
evidence to making contact with the Indian people whose lives were altered, either
directly or indirectly, by St. Michael’s School. Given the sensitive nature of these
issues, extreme care must be exercised to maintain the highest ethical standards.
Therefore, Indian peoole on a broader scale must be consulted about the best way
of doing this kind of interactive research. Cultural approaches will also have to be
carefully considered and provisions made for appropriate western and traditional
follow-up procedures. Moieover, language will be a factor as the participants will
likely speak Cree while the remaining Oblate documents are mostly in French.

The research approach itself could vary from delving deeper into the
subject matter explored in this study. or considerauon could be given to exparding
the duration to assess any significant changes over time. The approach will
depend upon the number of Indian people who are available and willing to talk

about their experiences at St. Michael’s Indian Residential School.
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In conclusion, while I have opened the door to future research, this paper
itself cannot be laid to rest until the voices of Indian people are brought back into
the circle. It is appropriate from "an Aboriginal way of knowing" to close this
research and this circle by centering myself in what I have learned so far. In this,
I turn once again to Basil Johnson (1974: 140-141) who captured the unbreakable
spirit of Indian people in the long history of Indian-white relations, when he
wrote:

In the suffering and testing of the Indians there is ample testimony

that the Indian people possessed an abundance of courage,

perseverance and fortitude. That they continued to live on in spite

of all these sorrows is proof of their capacity of endurance.

Moreover, in this same article entitled, Bread Before Books or Books

Before Bread, Basil Johnson (1974) also helped me to find the words to describe

the part of me that has emerged through the Aboriginal healing and learning
circles which formed an integral part of this research process. I now know that
when the mind and heart are brought closer together through an "Aboriginal way
of knowing'".....

Gradually we hear the voice of the Indian, somewhat uncertain,

somewhat angry, but assuredly growing stronger and more confident
and more insistent.... (Johnson 1974: 141).
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Appendix A.1

Translation: Melasippe Paquette to D.H. Macdowall, 5 January 1895

The Department must understand that it will never civilize the Savages unless the
children are removed from their parents, and they close the small reserve schools,
these schools are of no value. If the government does not want my school to be
Industrial, let it be a Boarding school but allow me to receive at least 100
children, as there are many little Savages who run through the woods like animals,

whereas if they were raised in school they would become honest and intelligent.
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Appendix A.2

Statutes of Canada, 1894, Chapter 32, Section 11, Subsections 137-138
New sections added. 11. The Indian Act is hereby amended by adding the
P f Gov following sections thereto :-
o oo a oot 137, The Governor in Council may make regulations,
regulations for either general or affecting the Indians of any province or of
attendance at any named band, to secure the compulsory attendance of
school. children at school.

"2. Such regulations, in addition to any other provisions
deemed expedient, may provide for the arrest and
conveyance to school, and detention there, or truant
children and of children who are prevented by their parents
or guardians from attending: and such regulations may
provide for the punishment, upon summary conviction, by
fine or imprisonment, or both, of parents and guardians, or
persons having the charge of clildren, who fail, refuse or
neglect to cause such children to attend school.”

Powers as to "138. The Governor in Council may establish an

_es;abﬁs,h;“e“‘ of industrial school or a boarding school for Indians, or may

;)noa"rzt;‘; S(:LOO’S. declare any existing Indian school to be such industrial
school or boarding school for the purposes of this section.

Regulations. "2. The Governor in Council may make regulations,
which shall have the force of law, for the committal by
justices or Indian agents of children of Indian blood under
the age of sixteen years, to such industrial school or
boarding school, there to be kept. cared for and educated
for a period not extending beyond the time at which such
children shall reach the age of eighteen years.

Powers as to "3. Such regulations may prov'de. in such manner as to
3§£“‘;:"‘“ ol the Governor in Council seems best, for the application of
annuities.

the annuities and interest moneys of children committed to
such industrial school or boarding school, to the
maintenance of such schools respectively, or to the
maintenance of the children themselves."

[Note: For reference purposes only. Verbatim but not an exact duplicate]







As the situation continued to deteriorate and the exnense of providing

rations rose accordingly. Sir John A. M-cdonald’s Chris*ian charity of a few vears
earlier also began to wear thin. When questioned in the House of Commons on
the quality of the food the Plains Indians were receiving he countered:

The honourable gentleman says there is a fraud on the Indians
because the food is impciiect. It cannot be considered a fraud on
the Indians because they have no right to that food. They are
simply living on the benevolence and charity of the Canadian
Parliament, and, as the old adage says. beggars should not be
choosers....Even in Ontario, the honourable gentleman has seen and
heard of contractors sending in inferior articles. which were
afterwards condemned. Up there. theyv are sent to a distant post.
they cannot be condemned. they have to be used. [ do not think
there has been any unwholesome food given. although it has not.
perbaps come up to standard (Chamberiin 1975: 175).%

Perhaps this endless struggle just to get enough to eat explains why Indian
people may have been more willing. at least initiallv. to entrust their children to
the missionaries or to send them to residential schools. On the Poundmaker
Reserve in Saskatchewan, Father Cochin recognized only too well the link
between hunger and Indian children’s desire tfor schooling when he wrote:

I saw the gaunt children dving of hunger come to my place to be
instructed. Although it was minus 30 to 40 degrees their bodies
were scarcely covered with torn rags. These poor children came to
catechism and to school. It was a pity to see them. The hope of
having a little morsel of good dry cake was the incentive which drove
them to this cruel exposure each day more no doubt than the desire
of educating themselves. This privation made many die (Goodwill
and Sluman 1984: 33).4

e Sir John A. Macdonald. Commons Debates. 15 April 1836. (pp. 738). as cited by

Chamberlin (1975: 175).

L]
(1984: 33).

Father Louts Cochin, C.N.W.H. Society. volume 1. as cited by Goodwill and Sluman
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